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EXCHANGE COMMISSION. 
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Balai Ni Fruitas Inc. 
 
68 Data St., 
Barangay Don Manuel, Quezon City,  
Metro Manila, 1113 Philippines 
 
Telephone Number: +63 2 8712-8361 
Corporate Website: www.balainifruitas.com 
 
This Prospectus relates to the offer and sale of up to [325,000,000] primary common shares and up to [50,000,000] 
secondary common shares (the “Firm Shares”), with an Overallotment Option (as defined below) of up to [37,500,000] 
common shares (the “Option Shares” (collectively, the Firm Shares and the Option Shares are referred to as the “Offer 
Shares”), each common share with a par value of ₱0.05  per common share of Balai Ni Fruitas Inc., a corporation organized 
under Philippine law (“BALAI”, the “Company”, or the “Issuer”) as further described below.   
 
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has an authorized capital stock of ₱75,000,000.00 divided into 
1,500,000,000 common shares with a par value of ₱0.05 per share, of which 1,170,005,000 common shares are issued 
and outstanding. 
 
The Firm Shares shall be offered at a price of up to ₱[0.75]  per Share (the “Offer Price”). The determination of the Offer 
Price is described on page [39] of this Prospectus and was based on a book-building process and discussion between us, 
and First Metro Investment Corporation (“First Metro”, the “Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter”). A total of 
up to [1,495,005,000] shares will be outstanding after the Offer (as defined below). The Offer Shares (as defined below) 
will represent approximately [27.59]% of the issued and outstanding capital stock of our Company after completion of 
the Offer. 
 
The Offer Shares will be listed and traded on the Small, Medium, and Emerging Board of The Philippine Stock Exchange, 
Inc. (the “PSE”) under the trading symbol “[•].”  
 
Pursuant to the approval of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Philippine SEC”) dated [●], Fruitas Holdings, 
Inc. (the “Selling Shareholder”) has appointed First Metro Securities Brokerage Corporation (“FirstMetroSec”) to act as 
stabilizing agent (the “Stabilizing Agent”) in relation to the Offer. The Stabilizing Agent has an option exercisable in whole 
or in part for a period beginning on or after the initial listing of the Offer Shares on the PSE (the “Listing Date”) and, if 
exercised, ending on a date no later than 30 calendar days from and including the Listing Date, to purchase the Option 
Shares at the Offer Price from the Selling Shareholder, on the same terms and conditions as the Firm Shares as set forth 
in this Prospectus, solely to cover overallotments if any (the “Overallotment Option”). In connection with the Offer, the 
Stabilizing Agent or any person acting on its behalf may over-allot the Option Shares and may affect price stabilization 
transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Offer Shares at a level higher than that which might 
otherwise prevail for a limited period after the Listing Date (the “Price Stabilization”). Any stabilization activities may 
begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the final price of the Offer Shares is made and, if begun, 
may be ended at any time, but must not end no later than 30 calendar days from and including the Listing Date. Any 
stabilization activities shall be done in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations. The total number of 
Shares which the Stabilizing Agent or any person acting in its behalf may purchase to undertake stabilization activities 
shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate number of the Firm Shares. If the Stabilizing Agent commences any stabilization 
activities (which would include thereafter disposing of or selling the Shares purchased), it may discontinue them at any 
time. However, the Stabilizing Agent or any person acting on behalf of the Stabilizing Agent has the sole discretion 
whether to undertake stabilization activities, and there is no assurance that the same will be undertaken. There is also 
no assurance that the price of the Shares will not decline significantly after any such stabilizing activities end.  
 
Based on an Offer Price of ₱[0.75] per Offer Share, the total gross proceeds from the sale of the Primary Shares will be  
₱[243.8] million. The estimated net proceeds to be raised from the offer of the Primary Shares (after deducting fees and 
expenses payable by the Company) will be approximately ₱[220.4] million. The Company intends to use the net proceeds 
from the sale of the Primary Shares (i) for store network expansion, (ii) for the commissary set-up, and (iii) for potential 
acquisition opportunities. For a more detailed discussion on the use of proceeds from the Offer, see “Use of Proceeds” 
beginning on page [34] of this Prospectus. The Selling Shareholder’s total proceeds and estimated net proceeds (after 
deducting fees and expenses payable by the Selling Shareholder) to be raised from the sale of the Secondary Shares will 
be approximately ₱[37.5] Million and ₱[34.4] Million respectively. The Selling Shareholder’s total proceeds and estimated 
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net proceeds (after deducting fees and expenses payable by the Selling Shareholder) to be raised from the sale of the 
Secondary Shares and Option Shares will be approximately ₱[65.6] Million and ₱[61.3] Million respectively, assuming full 
exercise of the Over-allotment Option. The Company will not receive any proceeds from the sale of Shares by the Selling 
Shareholder.  
 
The Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter will receive an underwriting fee from the Company and the Selling 
Shareholder equivalent to 3.0% of the gross proceeds from the sale of the Offer Shares. The underwriting fee includes 
the amounts to be paid to the selling agents, if any and where applicable, and the commissions and fees to be paid to the 
trading participants of the PSE (“PSE Trading Participants”). For a more detailed discussion on the fees to be received by 
the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter, see “Plan of Distribution” beginning on page [121] of this Prospectus. 
 
The Company’s board of directors may declare dividends, but any stock dividends must be approved by shareholders 
holding at least two-thirds of our total outstanding capital stock. The Company’s current dividend policy provides for an 
annual dividend payment from 20% to 30% of net income after tax of the preceding fiscal year, payable in cash, property 
or shares, subject to the requirements of applicable laws and regulations, and circumstances which restrict the payment 
of dividends. See “Dividends and Dividend Policy” beginning on page [37] of this Prospectus. 
 
At least up to [262,500,000] Firm Shares (or 70% of the Firm Shares) are being offered and sold by the Issue Manager, 
Bookrunner, and Underwriter to qualified institutional buyers (“QIBs”) in the Philippines. Up to [75,000,000] Firm Shares 
(or 20% of the Firm Shares) are being offered to all of the trading participants of the PSE (the “PSE Trading Participants”) 
and up to [37,500,000] Firm Shares (or 10% of the Firm Shares) are being offered to local small investors (“Local Small 
Investors” or “LSIs”) in the Philippines. Offer Shares not taken up by the QIBs, PSE Trading Participants, and LSIs, during 
the Offer Period shall be distributed by the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter to their clients, retail investors 
or the general public. Offer Shares not taken up by the PSE Trading Participants, LSIs, the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, 
and Underwriter’s clients or the general public shall be purchased by the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter, 
on a firm commitment basis, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Underwriting Agreement. 
 
All of the Shares issued and to be issued or sold pursuant to the Offer have identical rights and privileges. The Shares may 
be owned by any person or entity regardless of citizenship or nationality, subject to the nationality limits under Philippine 
law. The Philippine Constitution and related statutes set forth restrictions on foreign ownership for companies engaged 
in certain activities.  
 
The information contained in this Prospectus relating to us and our operations has been supplied by us, unless otherwise 
stated herein. Our Company, which has taken reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, confirm that the 
information contained in this Prospectus relating to us and our operations is correct, and that there is no material 
misstatement or omission of fact which would make any statement in this Prospectus misleading in any material respect 
and that the we hereby accept full and sole responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Prospectus 
with respect to the same. 
 
Unless otherwise indicated, all information in this Prospectus is as of the date of this Prospectus. Neither the delivery of 
this Prospectus nor any sale of Shares made pursuant to this Prospectus shall, under any circumstances, create any 
implication that the information contained herein is correct as of any date subsequent to the date hereof or that there 
has been no change in our affairs since such date. 
 
The Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter and the Company have exercised the required due diligence to the 
effect that, and, the Company confirms that to the best of its knowledge and belief after having taken reasonable care to 
ensure that such is the case, in ascertaining that all material representations, including its amendments and supplements, 
if any, contained in this Prospectus as of the Listing Date are true and correct as of the date of this Prospectus and that 
no material information was omitted, which was necessary in order to make the statements contained herein as of the 
Listing Date not misleading. The Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter assume no liability for any information 
supplied by the Company in relation to this prospectus. 
 
Before making an investment decision, investors should carefully consider the risks associated with an investment in the 
Shares. These risks include: 

• Risks relating to the business; 
• Risks relating to the Philippines;  
• Risks relating to the Offer and the Offer Shares; and, 
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• Risk relating to certain statistical information in this Prospectus. 
 

Please refer to the section entitled “Risk Factors” beginning on page [22] of this Prospectus, which, while not intended 
to be an exhaustive enumeration of all risks, must be considered in connection with a purchase of the Offer Shares. 
 
An application to list the Offer Shares as well as the rest of our issued and outstanding Shares was approved by the PSE 
on [●]. The PSE assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any statements made or opinions expressed in this 
Prospectus. The PSE makes no representation as to its completeness and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for 
any loss arising from reliance on the entire or any part of this Prospectus. Such approval for listing is permissive only and 
does not constitute a recommendation or endorsement of the Offer Shares by the PSE or the Philippine SEC. Prior to the 
Offer, there has been no public market for the Shares. Accordingly, there has been no market price for the Shares derived 
from day-to-day trading. An application has been made with the Philippine SEC to register the Offer Shares under the 
provisions of the Securities Regulation Code of the Philippines (Republic Act No. 8799) (the “SRC”). 
 
A REGISTRATION STATEMENT RELATING TO THESE SECURITIES HAS BEEN FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION BUT HAS NOT YET BEEN DECLARED EFFECTIVE. NO OFFER TO BUY THE SECURITIES CAN BE ACCEPTED 
AND NO PART OF THE PURCHASE PRICE CAN BE RECEIVED UNTIL THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT HAS BECOME 
EFFECTIVE THEREBY, AND ANY SUCH OFFER MAY BE WITHDRAWN OR REVOKED, WITHOUT OBLIGATION OR 
COMMITMENT OF ANY KIND, AT ANY TIME PRIOR TO NOTICE OF ITS ACCEPTANCE. AN INDICATION OF INTEREST IN 
RESPONSE HERETO INVOLVES NO OBLIGATION OR COMMITMENT OF ANY KIND. THIS PROSPECTUS SHALL NOT 
CONSTITUTE AN OFFER TO SELL OR BE CONSIDERED A SOLICITATION OF AN OFFER TO BUY. 
 
The Offer Shares are offered subject to receipt and acceptance of any order by us and subject to our right to reject any 
order in whole or in part. It is expected that the Offer Shares will be delivered in book-entry form against payment thereof 
to the Philippine Depository and Trust Corporation (the “PDTC”) on or about [●].  
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No representation or warranty, express or implied, is made by us or the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter 
regarding the legality of an investment in the Offer Shares under any legal, investment or similar laws or regulations. No 
representation or warranty, express or implied, is made by the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter as to the 
accuracy or completeness of the information herein and nothing contained in this Prospectus is, or shall be relied upon 
as, a promise or representation by the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter. The contents of this Prospectus are 
not investment, legal or tax advice. Prospective investors should consult their own counsel, accountant and other advisors 
as to legal, tax, business, financial and related aspects of a purchase of the Offer Shares. In making any investment 
decision regarding the Offer Shares, prospective investors must rely on their own examination of us and the terms of the 
Offer, including the merits and risks involved. Any reproduction or distribution of this Prospectus, in whole or in part, and 
any disclosure of its contents or use of any information herein for any purpose other than considering an investment in 
the Offer Shares is prohibited. Each offeree of the Offer Shares, by accepting delivery of this Prospectus, agrees to the 
foregoing. 
 
THE OFFER SHARES ARE BEING OFFERED IN THE PHILIPPINES ON THE BASIS OF THIS PROSPECTUS ONLY. ANY 
DECISION TO PURCHASE THE OFFER SHARES IN THE PHILIPPINES MUST BE BASED ONLY ON THE INFORMATION 
CONTAINED HEREIN. 
 
No person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained in 
this Prospectus and, if given or made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as having been 
authorized by us or the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter. This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell 
or the solicitation of an offer to purchase any securities other than the Offer Shares or an offer to sell or the solicitation 
of an offer to purchase such securities by any person in any circumstances in which such offer or solicitation is unlawful. 
Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor any sale of the Offer Shares offered hereby shall, under any circumstances, 
create any implication that there has been no change in our affairs since the date hereof or that the information contained 
herein is correct as of any time subsequent to the date hereof. 
 
Market data used throughout this Prospectus has been obtained from market research, reports and studies, publicly 
available information, and industry publications. Industry publications generally state that the information that they 
contain have been obtained from sources believed to be reliable but that the accuracy and completeness of that 
information is not guaranteed. Similarly, industry forecasts, market research and the underlying economic assumptions 
relied upon therein, while believed to be reliable, have not been independently verified, and none of us nor the Issue 
Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter makes any representation as to the accuracy of that information. The 
information related to the Philippine baked goods industry and food and beverage kiosk industry in this Prospectus 
reflects estimates of market conditions based on publicly available sources and trade opinion surveys. Forecasts were 
made on the assumption that the Philippine economy is expected to maintain a steady growth and that the social, 
economic, and political environment is expected to remain stable.  
 
The operating information used throughout this Prospectus has been calculated by us on the basis of certain assumptions. 
As a result, this operating information may not be comparable to similar operating information reported by other 
companies. 
 
The distribution of this Prospectus and the offer and sale of the Offer Shares in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by 
law. The Company and the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter require persons into whose possession this 
Prospectus comes to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. This Prospectus does not constitute 
an offer of, or an invitation to purchase, any of the Offer Shares in any jurisdiction in which such offer or invitation would 
be unlawful. Each prospective purchaser of the Offer Shares must comply with all applicable laws and regulations in force 
in any jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or resells the Offer Shares or possesses and distributes this 
Prospectus and must obtain any consents, approvals or permissions required for the purchase, offer, sale or resale by it 
of the Offer Shares under the laws, rules and regulations in force in any jurisdiction to which it is subject or in which it 
makes such purchases, offers, sales or resales, and none of the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter or us shall 
have any responsibility therefor. 
 
Balai Ni Fruitas Inc., together with Fruitas Holdings, Inc., reserves the right to withdraw the offer and sale of the Offer 
Shares at any time, and the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter reserve the right to reject any commitment to 
subscribe for the Offer Shares in whole or in part and to allot to any prospective purchaser less than the full amount of 
the Offer Shares sought by such purchaser. If the Offer is withdrawn or discontinued, the Company shall subsequently 
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notify the Philippine SEC and the PSE. The Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter and certain related entities may 
acquire for their own account a portion of the Offer Shares. 
 
Each offeree of the Offer Shares, by accepting delivery of this Prospectus, agrees to the foregoing. 
 
Conventions Used in this Prospectus 
 
In this Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, all references to the “Company”, the 
“Issuer”, are to Balai Ni Fruitas Inc., as the context requires. All references to the “BSP” are references to Bangko Sentral 
ng Pilipinas, the central bank of the Philippines. All references to “Philippine Peso,” “Pesos” and “₱” are to the lawful 
currency of the Philippines, and all references to “U.S. dollars” and “US$” are to the lawful currency of the United States. 
We publish our financial statements in Pesos. 
 
Presentation of Financial Information 
 
The Company’s financial statements are reported in Philippine Pesos and are prepared based on our accounting policies, 
which are in accordance with the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (“PFRS”) issued by the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council of the Philippines. 
 
Unless otherwise stated, all financial information relating to us contained herein is stated in accordance with PFRS. 
 
Figures in this Prospectus have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown in the same item of 
information may vary, and figures which are totals may not be an arithmetic aggregate of their components. 
 
Our fiscal year begins on January 1 and ends on December 31 of each year. Reyes Tacandong & Co. (“RT&Co.”) has audited 
the financial statements as at and for the nine months ended 30 September 2021 and 2020, and as at and for the years 
ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018. 
 
Forward-Looking Statements 
 
This Prospectus contains forward-looking statements that are, by their nature, subject to significant risks and 
uncertainties. These forward-looking statements include, without limitation, statements relating to: 

• known and unknown risks; 
• uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially 

different from expected future results; and, 
• performance or achievements expressed or implied by forward-looking statements. 

 
Such forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding our present and future business 
strategies and the environment in which we will operate in the future. Important factors that could cause some or all of 
the assumptions not to occur or cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those in the 
forward-looking statements include, among other things: 

• The Company’s ability to successfully implement its strategies; 
• The Company’s ability to anticipate and respond to economic and market trends, including changes in the 

Philippines, Asian or global economies; 
• Changes in interest rates, inflation rates and foreign exchange rates of the Peso against other currencies; and, 
• Changes in the laws, rules and regulations, including tax laws and licensing requirements, in the Philippines. 

 
Additional factors that could cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from forward-
looking statements include, but are not limited to, those described under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Prospectus, 
including: 

• risks relating to the business; 
• risks relating to the Philippines;  
• risks relating to the Offer and the Offer Shares; and, 
• risks relating to Certain Statistical Information in this Prospectus 
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These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Prospectus. The Issuer and the Issue Manager, 
Bookrunner, and Underwriter expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release, publicly or otherwise, any 
updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in our expectations with 
regard thereto or any change in events, conditions, assumptions or circumstances on which any statement is based.  
 
This Prospectus includes statements regarding our expectations and projections for future operating performance and 
business prospects. The words “believe,” “plan,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “project,” “intend,” “seek,” “target,” 
“aim,” “may,” “might,” “will,” “would,” “could,” and similar words identify forward-looking statements. In addition, all 
statements other than statements of historical facts included in this Prospectus are forward-looking statements. 
Statements in this Prospectus as to our opinions, beliefs and intentions accurately reflect in all material respects the 
opinions, beliefs and intentions of its management as to such matters as of the date of this Prospectus, although we give 
no assurance that such opinions or beliefs will prove to be correct or that such intentions will not change. This Prospectus 
discloses, under the section “Risk Factors” and elsewhere, important factors that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from our expectations. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to the 
Company or persons acting on the Company’s behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the above cautionary 
statements. 
 
In light of the risks and uncertainties associated with forward-looking statements, prospective investors should be aware 
that the forward-looking events and circumstances in this Prospectus may or may not occur. The Company’s actual results 
could differ significantly from those anticipated in the Company’s forward-looking statements. 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

In this Prospectus, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below.  
 

Affiliate A corporation that, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is 
controlled by, or is under the common control of, another corporation 

Applicant A person, whether natural or juridical, who seeks to subscribe for the Offer Shares 

Application An application to subscribe for Offer Shares pursuant to the Offer 

BIR The Philippine Bureau of Internal Revenue 

BALAI or the Company  Balai Ni Fruitas Inc., formerly known as Buko Ni Fruitas Inc.  

BNF Buko Ni Fruitas  

BP  Balai Pandesal  

Board The board of directors of the Company. 

BSP Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas, the central bank of the Philippines 

CBD Central Business District 

DENR The Philippine Department of Environment and Natural Resources 

DOLE The Philippine Department of Labor and Employment 

FHI or Parent Company 
or Selling Shareholder 

Fruitas Holdings, Inc. 

FHOD Fruitas House of Desserts  

FGI Fruitasgroup Incorporated 

Firm Offer The offer and sale of up to [375,000,000] Shares of the Company 

Firm Shares Up to [325,000,000] primary Shares and up to [50,000,000] secondary Shares to be offered 
pursuant to the Firm Offer 

Government The government of the Republic of the Philippines 

Group Fruitas Holdings, Inc., its subsidiaries, and other indirect subsidiaries  

Issue Manager, 
Bookrunner, and 
Underwriter 

First Metro Investment Corporation 

Listing Date The date on which trading of the Shares on the PSE begins, expected to be on or about 
[March 30, 2022] 

LSIs Local Small Investors 

Lock-up Period A period of [365] days from the Listing Date 

Metro Manila The metropolitan area comprising the city of Manila, the cities of Caloocan, Las Piñas, 
Makati, Malabon, Mandaluyong, Marikina, Muntinlupa, Navotas, Parañaque, Pasay, Pasig, 
Quezon City, San Juan, Taguig, and Valenzuela and the municipality of Pateros 

Offer The offer and sale of the Offer Shares on, and subject to, the terms and conditions stated 
herein 

Offer Price Up to [₱0.75] per Offer Share 

Offer Shares The Firm Shares and the Option Shares 

Option Shares Up to [37,500,000] shares to be sold by the Selling Shareholder and purchased by the 
Stabilizing Agent upon exercise of the Over-allotment Option 
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PCD Philippine Central Depository 

PCD Nominee  PCD Nominee Corporation, a corporation wholly owned by the PDTC. 

PDS The Philippine Dealing System 

PDTC The Philippine Depository and Trust Corporation. 

Permit to Sell The permit issued by the Philippine SEC granting the effectiveness of the registration 
statement filed in relation to the Offer Shares 

Pesos or P The lawful currency of the Philippines 

PFRS Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 

Philippine Corporation 
Code 

Republic Act. No. 11232 otherwise known as the Revised Corporation Code of the 
Philippines 

Philippine National As defined under the Foreign Investment Act of 1991, means a citizen of the Philippines, or 
a domestic partnership or association wholly-owned by citizens of the Philippines, or a 
corporation organized under the laws of the Philippines of which at least 60% of the capital 
stock outstanding and the entitlement to vote is owned and held by citizens of the 
Philippines, or a corporation organized abroad and registered to do business in the 
Philippines under the Philippine Corporation Code, of which 100% of the capital stock 
outstanding and the entitlement to vote is wholly-owned by Filipinos or a trustee of funds 
for pension or other employee retirement or separation benefits, where the trustee is a 
Philippine national and at least 60% of the fund will accrue to the benefit of Philippine 
nationals; provided, that where a corporation and its non-Filipino stockholders own stocks 
in a SEC-registered enterprise, at least 60% of the capital stock outstanding and entitled to 
vote of each of both corporations must be owned and held by citizens of the Philippines, in 
order that the corporation shall be considered a Philippine national. 

Pursuant to SEC Memorandum Circular No. 8, Series of 2013, which generally applies to all 
corporations engaged in identified areas of activities or enterprises specifically reserved, 
wholly or partly, to Philippine nationals by the Philippine Constitution, the Foreign 
Investments Act of 1991 and other existing laws, amendments thereto, and implementing 
rules and regulations of the said laws, for purposes of determining compliance with the 
constitutional or statutory ownership requirement, the required percentage of Filipino 
ownership shall be applied to both: (i) the total number of outstanding shares of stock 
entitled to vote in the election of directors; and (ii) the total number of outstanding shares 
of stock, whether or not entitled to vote in the election of directors. 

Philippine SEC The Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission 

Philippines Republic of the Philippines 

Primary Shares Up to [325,000,000] primary Shares which form part of the Firm Shares 

PSE The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. 

PSE SME Board The Small, Medium, and Emerging Board (“SME”) of the PSE  

PSE Trading Participants Duly licensed securities brokers who are trading participants of the PSE 

QIBs Persons or entities identified as Qualified Buyers under Section 10.1 (I) of the SRC, namely, 
(i) bank; (ii) registered investment house; (iii) insurance company; (iv) pension fund or 
retirement plan maintained by the Government or any political subdivision thereof or 
manage by a bank or other persons authorized by the BSP to engage in trust functions; (v) 
investment company or; (vi) Such other person as the Philippine SEC may rule by determine 
as qualified buyers, on the basis of such factors as financial sophistication, net worth, 
knowledge, and experience in financial and business matters, or amount of assets under 
management. 

Secondary Shares Up to [50,000,000] secondary Shares which form part of the Firm Shares 
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Settlement Date [March 22, 2022] 

Shares The common shares of the Company with a par value P 0.05each. 

SKU Stock Keeping Unit 

SRC Securities Regulation Code of the Philippines (Republic Act No. 8799), as amended, and its 
implementing rules and regulations. 

Stabilizing Agent First Metro Securities Brokerage Corporation 

Underwriting Agreement Agreement between the Company and the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter 
to underwrite, on a firm commitment basis, the Institutional Offer Shares and the Trading 
Participants and Retail Offer Shares. 

VAT Value-added tax. 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

The following summary is qualified in its entirety by, and is subject to, the more detailed information presented in 
this Prospectus, including our audited financial statements and the notes thereto, included elsewhere in this 
Prospectus. Because it is a summary, it does not contain all of the information that a prospective purchaser should 
consider before investing. Prospective investors should read the entire Prospectus carefully, including the section 
entitled “Risk Factors” and the audited financial statements and the related notes to those statements included in 
this Prospectus. 
 
Overview 
Balai Ni Fruitas Inc.  (“BALAI”), formerly known as Buko Ni Fruitas Inc., is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fruitas 
Holdings, Inc. (“FHI”). The Company’s operations started on August 2005 when it opened its first Buko Ni Fruitas 
kiosk in Robinsons Manila serving fresh coconut-based beverages and desserts. Since then, the Company has 
expanded to create and acquire new brands, in turn, enabled BALAI to become a reputable player in the Philippine 
food and beverage kiosk industry. Currently, it has three (3) active brands namely Buko Ni Fruitas (“BNF”), Fruitas 
House of Desserts (“FHOD”), and Balai Pandesal (“BP”). Each brand offers specialized products such as fruit-based 
beverages and desserts and freshly-baked goods.   
 
As of September 30, 2021, the Company has a total of 69 stores across the Philippines, operating in three (3) store 
formats – community store, kiosk, and inline store. Currently, there are 37 BNF, 9 FHOD, and 23 BP stores, 91% (63 
stores) of which are company-owned stores. These are all located in high-foot traffic areas and easily accessible by 
public transport such as malls, markets, and central business districts. Our products are also available through the 
Group’s e-commerce website, www.BabotsMart.com, and through online delivery platforms such as Foodpanda 
and Grabfood.    

 

 
 

For over 16 years, the Company has been steadily growing in scale and has been aiming to maximize its value, with 
its launch of the FHOD brand in 2012 and the acquisition of the BP brand in 2021.  
 
Buko Ni Fruitas (BNF) 
 
BNF started in August 2005, when it opened its first kiosk in Robinsons Manila. It serves fresh coconut-based 
beverages and desserts. As of September 30, 2021, it has a total of 37 kiosks and inline stores located across the 
Philippines. 
 
Fruitas House of Desserts (FHOD) 
 
Following the success of the BNF Brand, the Company launched the FHOD brand to expand its product portfolio to 
healthy desserts, fresh fruit shakes and juices, boba shakes, and milk tea. For the past nine (9) years, the FHOD 
brand has grown to nine (9) kiosk and inline store as of the end of September 2021.  
 
Balai Pandesal (BP) 
 
In June 2021, BALAI further expanded its brand portfolio with the acquisition of BP which allowed the Company to 
venture into the baked goods industry. The BP acquisition also included initial inventories, technical know-how, 
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equipment and vehicle, trademark, and franchise agreements for five (5) stores. The Company was able to grow 
the BP store network to 23 community stores, which includes 17 company-owned and 6 franchised stores within 3 
months after the acquisition. 

 
The Company owns vehicles to deliver various materials, supplies, and products to its stores. The brands across its 
portfolio allows BALAI to serve a wide array of products to the local market. The several store formats enable the 
Company to be flexible and expand faster, as it believes that the business model is highly scalable. 
 
Moving forward, the Company will mainly focus on expanding the network of BP stores. The Company may continue 
to open additional BNF and FHOD stores as opportunities arise.  
 
The Company generated total revenues of ₱210.2 million, ₱233.2 million, and ₱110.1 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2018, 2019, and 2020 respectively, and net income (loss) of ₱4.5 million, ₱7.0 million, and (₱0.9 
million) for the same periods. 
 
The Company intends to raise funds from the IPO to expand its BP store network from 23 stores in September 2021 
to 200 stores by 2026 and to establish commissaries to serve more customers. These funds will also be utilized to 
explore the possibility of acquiring other baked goods firms in the Philippines in order to broaden the Company’s 
current product offerings.  
 
As a subsidiary of FHI, the Company contributes around 10% of the total revenues of FHI as of 30 September 2021. 
 
 Dec 2017 Dec 2018 Dec 2019 Dec 2020 Sept 2021 
Revenue Contribution 17% 13% 12% 12% 10% 

 
Competitive Strengths  
The Company believes that it has the following strengths: 

▪ A strong brand portfolio 
▪ Multiple store formats as a sales channel, which provides flexibility to tailor stores to suit the needs of 

different local markets 
▪ Scalable and sustainable business model 
▪ Proven track record on brand introduction  
▪ Ideally positioned to take advantage of the growing Philippine middle class 
▪ Highly experienced and nimble management team 

 
For a full discussion of our competitive strengths, please refer to page [56] of this Prospectus. 

Key Strategies, Future Plans, and Projects 
The Company’s goal is to expand its BP store network from 23 stores in September 30, 2021 to 200 BP stores by 
2026 and to establish commissaries for our brand portfolio. In order to pursue this, BALAI will implement the 
following: 
 
• Pursue aggressive network expansion to take advantage of Philippine economic expansion as well as rapid 

urbanization of regions outside Metro Manila 
• Increase same store and e-commerce sales growth 
• Innovate and introduce new products to satisfy evolving consumer tastes and preferences 
• Diversify distribution channels 

 
For a full discussion of BALAI’s key strategies, future plans, and projects, please refer to page [55] of this Prospectus. 
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Risks of Investing 
 
Before making an investment decision, prospective investors should carefully consider the risks associated with an 
investment in the Offer Shares. Certain of these risks are discussed in the section entitled “Risk Factors” and include 
risks relating to the Company’s business, risks relating to the Philippines, risks relating to the Offer and the Offer 
Shares and risks relating to certain statistical information in this Prospectus. Prospective investors should consider 
such risks in investing in the Offer. 
 
Company Information 
 
BALAI is a Philippine corporation with a registered office located at 68 Data St., Barangay Don Manuel, 1113 Quezon 
City, Metro Manila, Philippines. The Company’s telephone number is +63 2 8712-8361. The website of the Company 
is www.BalaiNiFruitas.com. The information on the website is not incorporated by reference into and does not form 
a part of, this Prospectus.  
  
Investor Relations Office 
 
The Investor Relations Office will be tasked with (a) the creation and implementation of an investor relations 
program that reaches out to all shareholders and informs them of corporate activities and (b) the formulation of a 
clear policy for accurately, effectively and sufficiently communicating and relating relevant information to our 
stakeholders as well as to the broader investor community. 
 
The investor relations office will be responsible for receiving and responding to investor and shareholder queries 
and ensuring that investors and shareholders have easy and direct access to the official and designated 
spokespersons of the Company. 
 
Juneil Dominic P. Torio will head the Investor Relations Office and serve as the designated Investor Relations Officer 
(“IRO”).  
 
The IRO will also be responsible for ensuring that the shareholders have timely and uniform access to official 
announcements, disclosures, and market-sensitive information relating to the Company. As the officially 
designated spokesperson, the IRO will be responsible for receiving and responding to investor and shareholder 
queries. The IRO will also be responsible for conveying information such as our policy on corporate governance and 
corporate social responsibility, as well as other qualitative aspects of our operations and performance. In addition, 
the IRO will oversee most aspects of our shareholder meetings, press conferences, investor briefings, management 
of the investor relations portion of our website, including but not limited to: 
 

a. Company information (organizational structure, board of directors, and management team); 
b. Company news (analyst briefing report, press releases, latest news, newsletters (if any)); 
c. Financial report (annual and quarterly reports for the past two (2) years); 
d. Disclosures (recent disclosures to PSE and SEC for the past two (2) years);  
e. Investor FAQs (commonly asked questions of stockholders); 
f. Investor Contact (email address and phone numbers for feedback/comments, shareholder assistance, and 

service); and 
g. Stock Information (key figures, dividends, and stock information). 

 
Ralph Hector P. Adricula will serve as the Compliance Officer with respect to disclosures and continuing 
requirements of the Philippine SEC and the PSE. 
 
The e-mail address of the IRO is investor.relations@balainifruitas.com and contact number is +63 2 8712-8361. The 
IRO website can be accessed through www.BalaiNiFruitas.com.  
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SUMMARY OF THE OFFER 
 
The following does not purport to be a complete listing of all the rights, obligations, and privileges attaching to or arising 
from the Offer Shares. Some rights, obligations, or privileges may be further limited or restricted by other documents and 
subject to final documentation. Prospective investors are enjoined to perform their own independent investigation and 
analysis of the Company and the Offer Shares. Each prospective investor must rely on its own appraisal of the Company 
and the Offer Shares and its own independent verification of the information contained herein and any other investigation 
it may deem appropriate for the purpose of determining whether to invest in the Offer Shares and must not rely solely on 
any statement or the significance, adequacy, or accuracy of any information contained herein. The information and data 
contained herein are not a substitute for the prospective investor’s independent evaluation and analysis.  
 
 

Issuer  Balai Ni Fruitas Inc.  

Selling Shareholder Fruitas Holdings, Inc.  

Issue Manager,  
Bookrunner, and  
Underwriter 

 

First Metro Investment Corporation 

Selling Agents  PSE Trading Participants 

Stock Transfer Agent  PNB Trust Banking Group  

Receiving Agent PNB Trust Banking Group  

Escrow Agent PNB Trust Banking Group  

Independent Auditors Reyes Tacandong & Co. 

Legal Counsel to the Issuer Picazo Buyco Tan Fider & Santos Law Offices  

Legal Counsel to the Issue 
Manager, Bookrunner, and 
Underwriter 

Martinez Vergara Gonzalez & Serrano Law 

The Offer Offer and sale of [375,000,000] Firm Shares and up to [37,500,000] Option 
Shares pursuant to the Over-allotment Option 
 

Plan of Distribution  Up to [262,500,000] Firm Shares (or 70% of the Firm Shares) are being 
allocated to qualified institutional buyers “QIBs” and the general public in 
the Philippines at the Offer Price. 
 
Up to [75,000,000] Firm Shares (or 20% of the Firm Shares) are being 
allocated to all of the PSE Trading Participants. Each PSE Trading Participant 
shall initially be allocated [600,000] Firm Shares and subject to reallocation 
as may be determined by the PSE. Based on the initial allocation for each 
trading participant, there will be no residual Firm Shares. 
  
Up to [37,500,000] Firm Shares (or 10% of the Firm Shares) are being offered 
to Local Small Investors at the Offer Price through the PSE Electronic 
Allocation System or PSE EASy. A Local Small Investor is defined as a 
subscriber to the Offer who is willing to subscribe to a minimum board lot or 
whose subscription does not exceed ₱100,000.00. In the case of this Offer, 
the minimum subscription of LSIs shall be 10,000 shares or ₱[7,500.00], 
while the maximum subscription shall be 133,000 shares or up to 
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₱[99,750.00]. There will be no discount on the Offer Price. The procedure in 
subscribing to Offer Shares via PSE EASy is indicated in the Company’s 
Implementing Guidelines for Local Small Investors to be announced through 
the PSE EDGE website. Should the total demand for the Offer Shares in the 
LSI program exceed the maximum allocation, the Underwriter shall prioritize 
the subscriptions of small investors with amounts lower than the maximum 
subscription. 

Offer Shares not taken up by the PSE Trading Participants or the LSIs shall 
be distributed by the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter to their 
respective clients or to the general public. Offer Shares not taken up by the 
QIBs, PSE Trading Participants and the LSIs, the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, 
and Underwriter’s clients, or the general public shall be purchased by the 
Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter, on a firm commitment basis, 
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Underwriting Agreement.  

Offer Price  Up to ₱ [0.75] per Offer Share. The Offer Price will be determined through 
a book-building process and discussions between the Company and the 
Issue Manager, Bookrunner and Underwriter. 

Over-allotment Option Subject to the approval of the SEC, the Selling Shareholder has granted the 
Stabilizing Agent, First Metro Securities Brokerage Corporation, an option, 
exercisable in whole or in part, to purchase the Option Shares to be sold by 
the Selling Shareholder at the Offer Price, on the same terms and conditions 
as the Firm Shares as set out in this Prospectus, to cover over-allotments, if 
any. The Over-allotment Option is exercisable for a period beginning on the 
Listing Date and ending on a date no later than 30 calendar days from and 
including the Listing Date. See “Plan of Distribution – The Over-allotment 
Option” on page [121] of this Prospectus 

Offer Period  The Offer Period shall commence at 9:00 a.m., Manila time, on [March 16, 
2022] and end at 12:00 p.m., Manila time, on [March 22, 2022]. The 
Company, the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter reserve the 
right to extend or terminate the Offer Period with the approval of the SEC 
and the PSE. 

Applications must be received by the Receiving Agent by 12:00 p.m., Manila 
time on [March 22, 2022], whether filed through a participating Selling 
Agent or through PSE EASy for LSI applications or filed directly with the Issue 
Manager, Bookrunner and Underwriter. Applications received thereafter or 
without the required documents will be rejected. Applications shall be 
considered irrevocable upon submission to a participating Selling Agent or 
PSE EASy or the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter, and shall be 
subject to the terms and conditions of the Offer as stated in this Prospectus 
and in the application. The actual purchase of the Offer Shares shall become 
effective only upon the actual listing of the Offer Shares on the PSE and 
upon the obligations of the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter 
under the Underwriting Agreement becoming unconditional and not being 
suspended, terminated or cancelled on or before the Listing Date in 
accordance with the provisions of such agreement. 

Eligible Investors  The Offer Shares may be purchased by any natural person of legal age 
residing in the Philippines, regardless of nationality, or any corporation, 
association, partnership, trust account, fund or entity residing in and 
organized under the laws of the Philippines and/or licensed to do business 
in the Philippines, regardless of nationality, subject to the Company’s right 
to reject an application or reduce the number of Offer Shares applied for 
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subscription or purchase if the same will cause the Company to be in breach 
of the Philippine ownership requirements under relevant Philippine laws. 
Foreign investors interested in subscribing or purchasing the Offer Shares 
should inform themselves of the applicable legal requirements under the 
laws and regulations of the countries of their nationality, residence or 
domicile, and as to any relevant tax or foreign exchange control laws and 
regulations affecting them personally. Foreign investors, both corporate 
and individual, warrant that their purchase of the Offer Shares will not 
violate the laws of their jurisdiction and that they are allowed to acquire, 
purchase and hold the Offer Shares. See “Description of the Shares—
Foreign Ownership Limits” on page [99] of this Prospectus. 

Use of Proceeds  The Company intends to use the net proceeds from the Offer for the store 
network expansion, commissary set-up and potential acquisition 
opportunities of the Company. See “Use of Proceeds” on page [34] of this 
Prospectus for details of how the total net proceeds are expected to be 
applied.  

Minimum Subscription  Each application must be for a minimum of 10,000 Offer Shares, and 
thereafter, in multiples of 1,000 Offer Shares. Applications for multiples of 
any other number of Shares may be rejected or adjusted to conform to the 
required multiple, at the Company’s discretion. 

Lock-up  The PSE Consolidated Listing and Disclosure Rules (the “PSE Listing Rules”) 
require an applicant company for the SME Board to cause its existing non-
public shareholders and their related parties to refrain from selling, 
assigning, encumbering or in any manner disposing of their shares for a 
period of one (1) year after the listing of such shares. All other stockholders 
shall not be subject to mandatory lock-up under this provision. See “Plan of 
Distribution — Lock-Up” on page [93] of this Prospectus. 

 
In addition, if there is any issuance or transfer of shares or securities such 
as private placements, assets for shares swap or a similar transaction or 
instruments which lead to issuance of shares or securities such as 
convertible bonds, warrants or a similar instrument done and fully paid for 
within six (6) months prior to the start of the Offer Period, and the 
transaction price is lower than the Offer Price in the initial public offering, 
all such shares subscribed or acquired shall be subject to a lock-up period 
of at least one (1) year from listing of the aforesaid shares.  

 
In accordance with the foregoing, the Shares held by the following 
shareholders will be subject to the lock-up periods specified below: 
 

Shareholder No. of Shares Held 
Subject to Lock-up 

Period 

Period of Lock-up (in 
days) 

Fruitas Holdings, Inc. 1,119,988,000* 365 
Lester C. Yu 4,000 365 
Roselyn A. Legaspi 2,000 365 
Marvin C. Yu 2,000 365 
Madelene T. Sayson 2,000 365 
Calvin F. Chua 1,000 365 
Rogelio M. Guadalquiver 1,000 365 
Lee Ceasar S. Junia  1,000 365 
David Jonathan Y. Bayot   1,000 365 
Bernardino M. Ramos  1,000 365 
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TOTAL 1,120,003,000* 365 
* Shares Held by Fruitas Holdings, Inc. Subject to Lock-Up Period and Total 
Shares Subject to Lock-Up Period reduces to 1,082,488,000 and 
1,082,503,000, respectively, if Over-allotment Option is fully exercised. 
Note: See “Plan of Distribution — Lock-Up” on page [93] of this Prospectus. 

 
To implement the foregoing lock-up requirements, the PSE requires the 
applicant company to lodge the locked-up shares with the PDTC through a 
Philippine Central Depository (“PCD”) participant for the electronic lock-up 
of the shares or enter into an escrow agreement with the trust department 
or custodian unit of an independent and reputable financial institution. 

See “Principal Shareholders” on page [92] of this Prospectus and “Plan of 
Distribution – Lock-Up” on page [93] of this Prospectus. 

 
Registration, Listing and Trading  The Company has filed an application with the Philippine SEC for the 

registration and an application with the PSE for the listing of all its issued 
and outstanding stock (including the Offer Shares). The Philippine SEC 
issued an Order of Effectivity and Permit to Sell on [March 10, 2022] and 
the PSE approved the listing application on [February 9, 2022], subject to 
compliance with certain listing conditions.   

All of the Offer Shares are expected to be listed on the SME Board of the 
PSE under the symbol “[•].” See “Description of the Shares.” All of the Offer 
Shares are expected to be listed on the PSE on [March 30, 2022]. Trading of 
the Offer Shares that are not subject to lock up is expected to commence 
on [March 30, 2022].   

Dividends  The current dividend policy provides for an annual dividend payment from 
20% to 30% of our net income after tax for the preceding fiscal year, payable 
primarily in cash, and subject to the Board’s discretion, property or shares, 
subject to the requirements of applicable laws and regulations, and 
circumstances which restrict the payment of dividends.  

See “Dividends and Dividend Policy” on page [37] of this Prospectus for 
more discussion. 

Form, Title and Registration of 
the Offer Shares  

The Offer Shares will be issued in scripless form through the electronic 
book-entry system of PNB Trust and Banking Group as Registrar for the 
Offer, and lodged with the PDTC as Depository Agent on Listing Date 
through PSE Trading Participants respectively nominated by the applicants. 
For this purpose, applicants shall indicate in the proper space provided for 
in the Application Form the name of a PSE Trading Participant under whose 
name their shares will be registered. 

After Listing Date, shareholders may request the Registrar, through their 
respective nominated PSE Trading Participants, to (a) open a scripless 
registry account and have their holdings of the Offer Shares registered 
under their name, or (b) issue stock certificates evidencing their investment 
in the Offer Shares. Any expense that will be incurred in relation to such 
registration or issuance shall be for the account of the requesting 
shareholder. 

Legal title to the Offer Shares will be shown in an electronic register of 
shareholders (“Registry of Shareholders”) which shall be maintained by the 
Registrar. The Registrar shall send a transaction confirmation advice 
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confirming every receipt or transfer of the Offer Shares effected in the 
Registry of Shareholders (at the cost of the requesting shareholder). The 
Registrar shall send (at the cost of the Company) at least once every year a 
statement of account to all shareholders named in the Registry of 
Shareholders, except certificated shareholders and depository participants, 
confirming the number of shares held by each shareholder on record in the 
Registry of Shareholders. Such statement of account shall serve as evidence 
of ownership of the relevant shareholder as of the given date thereof. Any 
costs and expenses with respect to the request by shareholders for 
certifications, reports or other documents from the Registrar, except as 
provided herein, shall be for the account of the requesting shareholder. 

Restrictions on Ownership The Offer Shares may be purchased and owned by any person or entity 
regardless of citizenship or nationality, subject to the nationality limits under 
Philippine law. The Philippine Constitution and related statutes set forth 
restrictions on foreign ownership for companies engaged in certain 
activities. In particular, if and to the extent that we acquire land in the 
Philippines, foreign ownership in our capital stock will be limited to a 
maximum of 40% of our issued and outstanding capital stock. We do not own 
land and have complied with the paid-up capital requirements of the Retail 
Trade Liberalization Act. Thus, we are currently not subject to any foreign 
ownership limits.  
 

Registration of Foreign 
Investments  

The BSP requires that investments in shares of stock funded by inward 
remittance of foreign currency be registered with the BSP only if the foreign 
exchange needed to service capital repatriation or dividend remittance will 
be sourced from the Philippine banking system. The registration with the 
BSP of all foreign investments in the Offer Shares shall be the responsibility 
of the foreign investor. See “Philippine Foreign Exchange and Foreign 
Ownership Controls” beginning on page [99] of this Prospectus. 

Selling and Transfer 
Restrictions  

Existing shareholders who are non-public stockholders and their related 
parties to refrain from selling, assigning, encumbering or in any manner 
disposing of their shares for a period of one (1) year after the listing of such 
shares. For purposes of this section, “non-public shareholders” shall mean 
the Company’s: (i) principal stockholders, (i.e., the owner of ten percent 
(10%) or more of the issued and outstanding shares); (ii) subsidiaries or 
affiliates; (iii) directors; (iv) principal officers; and (v) any other person who 
has substantial influence on how the Company is being managed. The term 
“related parties” shall mean the non-public stockholder’s (i) principal 
stockholders (i.e., the owners of ten percent (10%) or more of the issued and 
outstanding shares); (ii) subsidiaries or affiliates; (iii) directors; (iv) principal 
officers; and (v) members of the immediate families sharing the same 
household or any of its principal stockholders, directors, or principal officers. 
 
In addition, if there is any issuance or transfer of Shares (i.e., private 
placements, asset for shares swap or a similar transaction) or instruments 
which lead to issuance of Shares (i.e., convertible bonds, warrants or a 
similar instrument) done and fully paid for within six (6) months prior to the 
start of the Offer, and the transaction price is lower than that of the Offer 
Price, all such Shares issued or transferred shall be subject to a lock-up 
period of at least one (1) year from listing the aforesaid shares. 
 
Except for the issuance of the Offer Shares or shares for distribution by way 
of stock dividends and certain option grants and issuances under employee 
incentive schemes, the PSE is expected to require the Company, as a 
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condition to the listing of the Shares, not to issue new shares in capital or 
grant any rights to or issue any securities convertible into or exchangeable 
for, or otherwise carrying rights to acquire or subscribe to, any shares in its 
capital or enter into any arrangement or agreement whereby any new 
shares or any such securities may be issued for a period of 180 days after 
the Listing Date. 
 

Tax Considerations  See “Philippine Taxation” beginning on page [114] of this Prospectus for 
further information on the Philippine tax consequences of the purchase, 
ownership and disposal of the Offer Shares. 

Procedure for Application  
for the Offer  

For PSE Trading Participants 

Application forms to purchase and signature cards may be obtained from 
the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter Application forms will 
also be made available for download on the Company website. 

Applicants shall complete the application form, indicating all pertinent 
information such as the applicant’s name, address, taxpayer’s identification 
number, citizenship and all other information as may be required in the 
application form. Applicants shall undertake to sign all documents and to 
do all necessary acts to enable them to be registered as holders of Offer 
Shares. Failure to complete the application form may result in the rejection 
of the application. 

Applications must be received by the Receiving Agent not later than 12:00 
p.m. on [March 22, 2022]. Applications received thereafter or without the 
required documents will be rejected. Applications shall be considered 
irrevocable upon submission to a PSE Trading Participant, and shall be 
subject to the terms and conditions of the Offer as stated in this Prospectus 
and in the application. The actual purchase of the Offer Shares shall become 
effective only upon the actual listing of the Offer Shares on the PSE and upon 
the obligations of the Issue Manager, Bookrunner and Underwriter under 
the Underwriting Agreement becoming unconditional and not being 
suspended, terminated or cancelled on or before the Listing Date in 
accordance with the provisions of such agreement. 
 

If the applicant is a corporation, partnership or trust account, the application 
must be accompanied by the following documents: 

• a certified true copy of the Applicant’s latest articles of incorporation 
and by-laws (or articles of partnership in the case of a partnership) and 
other constitutive documents (each as amended to date) duly certified 
by its corporate secretary (or managing partner in the case of a 
partnership), 

• a certified true copy of the Applicant’s SEC certificate of registration 
or certificate of filing amended articles of incorporation or by-laws, as 
the case may be, duly certified by its corporate secretary (or managing 
partner in the case of a partnership), and, 

• a duly notarized corporate secretary’s certificate (or certificate of the 
managing partner in the case of a partnership) setting forth the 
resolution of the applicant’s board of directors or equivalent body 
authorizing the purchase of the Offer Shares indicated in the 
application, identifying the designated signatories authorized for the 
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purpose, including his or her specimen signature, and certifying the 
percentage of the applicant’s capital or capital stock held by Philippine 
Nationals.  
 
Foreign corporate and institutional applicants who qualify as Eligible 
Investors, in addition to the documents listed above, are required to 
submit in quadruplicate, a representation and warranty stating that 
their purchase of the Offer Shares to which their application relates 
will not violate the laws of their jurisdictions of incorporation or 
organization, and that they are allowed, under such laws, to acquire, 
purchase and hold the Offer Shares. 

• An application should be submitted in quadruplicate (four (4) copies, 
one (1) of which shall be returned to the applicant) and accompanied 
by the following documents (complete) 

o Duly accomplished Applications submitted in 
quadruplicate (4 copies), one (1) of which will be returned 
to the TP; 

o The required attachments as enumerated in the 
Applications;   

o two (2) specimen signature cards fully completed and 
signed by the applicant’s designated signatories, and 
certified by its corporate secretary (or equivalent officer) 

o Four (4) hard copies of the Sales Report duly certified by 
the representative authorized of the TPs; and 

o Soft copy of the accomplished Sales Report must be sent 
to [balai_ipo@pnb.com.ph] and 
[equities@firstmetro.com.ph] with subject BALAI IPO 
Sales Report 

This should be read in conjunction with the Offer Implementing Guidelines 
which will be published on the PSE EDGE website prior to the start of the 
Trading Participants and Retail Offer. 

For Local Small Investors 

• With respect to the LSIs, applications to subscribe for the Offer Shares 
must be done online through PSE EASy. The system will generate a 
reference number and payment instruction. LSI applications and 
payments must be completed and settled, respectively, by 12:00 p.m., 
Manila time, on [March 22, 2022]. 

• Further information about the Company, details about the Offer, 
instruction for subscribing through PSE EASy, payment terms and the list 
of the PSE Trading Participants where LSI applicants may open trading 
accounts for the lodgment of the LSI applicant’s shares will be made 
available in the Offer Implementing Guidelines which will be published 
on the PSE EDGE website prior to the start of the Trading Participant and 
Retail Offer.  

• LSI applications will be processed on a first-come, first-served basis; 
while final allocation of Offer Shares will be determined pursuant to 
allocation mechanics wherein fully paid allocations will be allotted in 
ascending order (i.e. from the lowest to highest) and upon the Receiving 
Agent’s validation or confirmation of complete payment of the 
purchased Retail Offer Shares. 
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• This section should be read in conjunction with the Offer Implementing 
Guidelines which will be published on the PSE EDGE website. 

Payment Terms for the PSE 
Trading Participants  

The purchase price must be paid in full in Philippine Pesos upon the 
submission of the duly completed and signed application form and 
signature card together with the requisite attachments.  

Payments for the PSE Trading Participants Offer Shares must be cleared on 
or before [March 22, 2022]. The modes of payment and instructions will be 
specified in the Offer Implementing Guidelines which will be published on 
the PSE EDGE website prior to the start of the Offer Period. 

 
Acceptance or Rejection of 
Applications for the Offer  

Application forms are subject to confirmation by the Underwriter and the 
final approval of the Company. The Company and the Underwriter reserve 
the right to accept, reject or scale down the number and amount of Offer 
Shares covered by any application. The Company and the Issue Manager, 
Bookrunner, and Underwriter have the right to reallocate available Offer 
Shares in the event that the Offer Shares are insufficient to satisfy the total 
applications received. The Offer Shares will be allotted in such a manner as 
the Company and the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter may, in 
their sole discretion, deem appropriate, subject to distribution guidelines of 
the PSE. Applications with checks dishonored upon first presentation and 
Application forms which do not comply with terms of the Offer will be 
automatically rejected. Notwithstanding the acceptance of any Application 
form, the actual subscription of the Offer Shares by the applicant will be 
effective only upon the listing of the Offer Shares at the PSE. 

Refunds for the Offer  In the event that the number of Offer Shares to be received by an applicant, 
as confirmed by the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter, is less 
than the number covered by its application, or if an application is rejected 
by the Company, then the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter 
shall refund, without interest, within five (5) banking days from the end of 
the Offer Period, all or a portion of the payment corresponding to the 
number of Offer Shares wholly or partially rejected. All refunds shall be 
made through the Receiving Agent with whom the applicant has filed the 
application, at the applicant’s risk. 

Expected Timetable  The timetable of the Offer is expected to be as follows: 
   
 Book Building Period [February 16 – March 6, 2022] 

Price setting date [March 7, 2022] 
Notice of final Offer Price to the 
Philippine SEC and PSE 

[March 8, 2022] 

Receipt of Permit to Sell from the 
Philippine SEC 

[March 10, 2022] 

Start of Offer Period for PSE Trading 
Participants and the general investing 
public 

[March 16, 2022] 

Submission of Firm Order and 
Commitments by PSE Trading 
Participants  

 
[March 18, 2022] 

End of Offer Period for PSE Trading 
Participants and the general investing 
public 

[March 22, 2022] 

Institutional Offer Settlement Date [March 22, 2022] 



  

16 
 
 

Listing Date and Commencement of 
Trading on the PSE 

[March 30, 2022] 

The dates included above are subject to the approval of the PSE and the 
Philippine SEC, market and other conditions, and may be changed at the 
discretion of the Company and the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and 
Underwriter, subject to the approval of the Philippine SEC and PSE. 

Risks of Investing  Before making an investment decision, prospective investors should 
carefully consider the risks associated with an investment in the Offer 
Shares. Certain of these risks are discussed in the section entitled “Risk 
Factors” on page [22] and include risks relating to the Company’s business, 
risks relating to the Philippines risks relating to the Offer and the Offer 
Shares, and risks relating to certain statistical information in this 
Prospectus. 
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SUMMARY HISTORICAL FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION 
 
The following tables set forth the summary financial information derived from the Company’s audited financial statements 
for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, and for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020 and 
2021 which were prepared in accordance with PFRS and were audited by RT&Co. in accordance with the PSA, and should 
be read in conjunction with the financial statements, including the notes thereto, included elsewhere in this Prospectus, 
and the section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations on page 
[46] and other financial information included herein.”  

 
The Company’s audited financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017, and for the 
nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2021 were prepared in accordance with PFRS and were audited by RT&Co. 
in accordance with the Philippine Standards on Auditing (“PSA”). The summary financial information below is not 
necessarily indicative of the results of future operations.  
 
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(All amounts in Philippine Pesos ‘000s, except per share data)   

  For the years ended December 31,  For nine months ended 
September 30, 

  Audited  Audited 
  2017 2018 2019 2020  2020 2021 

Net Sales  P=193,349 P=210,162 P=233,192 P=110,143  P=74,182 P=88,584 
Cost of Sales  (108,418) (112,076) (120,212) (56,298)  (37,407) (42,934) 
Gross Profit  84,932 98,086 112,980 53,846  36,775 45,649 
Selling and 
Distribution 
Expenses 

  
(54,820) (70,069) (78,642) (38,933)  (28,220) (28,069) 

General and 
Administrative 
Expenses 

 
 
 

(10,436) (21,241) (24,648) (15,875)  (11,926) (16,492) 
Interest Expense                                       (118) (529) (1,012) (1,334)  (962) (1,228) 
Other Income  251 591 1,365 1,323  857 3,440 
Income Before 
Income Tax   

19,809 6,838 10,043 (973)  (3,476) 3,300 
Provision for 
(Benefit From) 
Income Tax 

 
       

     Current  5,884 2,338 2,948 1,081  739 1,190 
     Deferred   18 (13) 60 (1,132)  (1,541) (168) 
  5,902 2,325 3,009 (922)  (802) 1,022 
NET INCOME  P=13,907 P=4,513 P=7,036 (P=922)  (P=2,675) P=2,278  
TOTAL 
COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME 

 
P=13,907 P=4,513 P=7,036 (P=922)  (P=2,675) P=2,278  
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(All amounts in Philippine Pesos ‘000s) 
 

 
 As of December 31,  As of September 

30, 
  Audited  Audited 
  2017 2018 2019 2020  2021 
ASSETS        
        
Current Assets        
Cash and Cash Equivalents  P=129,814 P=105,304 P=33,843 P=13,300  P=44,816 
Trade and Other Receivables    1,012 2,046 3,081  6,440 
Merchandise Inventories  1,600 1,577 1,629 1,551  1,399 
Due from Related Parties  8,031 26,246 106,530 122,294  70,175 
Other Current Assets  9,989 12,648 14,496 14,036  13,627 

Total Current Assets  149,434 146,787 158,545 154,263  136,457 
        
Noncurrent Assets        
Property and Equipment  1,104 5,171 10,105 8,908  27,835 
Intangible Assets  – – – –  3,000 
Right of Use of Assets   – 15,115 12,519  26,617 
Security Deposits   – 405 405   
Deferred Tax Assets  70 84 96 1,156  572 

Total Noncurrent Assets  1,175 5,255 25,722 22,989  58,024 
        
TOTAL ASSETS  P=150,609 P=152,042 P=184,266 P=177,252  P=194,481  
        
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY        
Current Liabilities        
Trade and Other Payables  1,800 P=3,263 P=6,999 P=3,538  P=6,297 
Current Portion of Lease 

Liabilities 
 

 – 1,550 1,781  6,126 
Current Portion of Mortgage 

Payable 
 

275 299 131 –   
Due to Related Parties  800  50    
Note Payable  9,750 8,500 – –   
Income Tax Payable  2,240  1,218 167  346 

Total Current Liabilities  14,865 12,062 9,948 5,487  12,769 
 
Noncurrent Liabilities       
Notes Payable – Net of Current 

Portion 
 

– – – –  – 
Lease Liabilities – Net of Current 

Portion  – 13,325 11,543  22,010 
Mortgage Payable – Net of Current 

Portion 452 131  –   
Retirement Benefits Liability 236 281 319 542  770 
Deferred Tax Liability  – 72 –   
Deposit for Future Stock 

Subscription 
– – – – 

 5,000 

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 
 

688 412 13,716 12,086  27,780 
Total Liabilities P=15,553 P=12,474 P=23,665 P=17,572  40,549 

(Forward)       
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(Carryforward) 
 
Equity attributable to Equity 
Holders of the Parent 
Company    

 

Capital Stock  47,500 47,500 53,500 53,500  53,500 

Additional Paid in Capital 
 

84,532 84,532 96,532 96,532   96,532 
Retained Earnings 3,041 7,555 10,588 9,666  3,919 
Other Comprehensive Loss (19) (19) (19) (19)   (19) 

Total Equity 135,055 139,568 160,602 159,679  153,932 
       
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY P=150,609 P=152,042 P=184,266 P=177,252   P=194,481  
       
 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(All amounts in Philippine Pesos ‘000s) 
     

 For the years ended December 31,  
For 9 months ended 

September 30, 
 Audited  Audited 
 2017 2018 2019 2020  2020 2021 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES   
    

Income Before Income Tax P=19,809 P=6,838 P=10,042 (P=973) 9 (P=3,477) P=3,300 
Adjustments for:        

Depreciation and 
Amortization 451 1,352 4,665 6,265 

 
4,665 5,925 

Interest Expense  118 528 1,012               1,334  962 1,228 
Gain from Rent Concessions    (1,103)  (668)  
Interest Income (27) (36) (20) (6)  (5) (3) 
Retirement Benefit Expense (59) 44 39 223  167 227 
Gain on Sale of Available for 

Sale Financial Assets (120)    
 

 (3,285) 
Operating Income before  

Working Capital Changes 
 

20,172 8,727 15,738 5,740 
 

1,644 7,391 
Decrease (Increase) in:        

Trade and Other Receivables 951r (1,012) (219) (1,036)  (560) (3,359) 
Merchandise Inventories (145) 23 (52) 78    556 152 
Other Current Assets (1,704) (1,312) (4,820) 460  (288) (3,233) 
Security Deposit   (405)    405 

Increase (Decrease) in:        
Trade and Other Payables (8,549) 1,463 3,736 (3,461)  (3,346) (2,841) 

Net Cash Generated from 
Operations  

 
10,724 7,890 13,978 1,781 

 
(1,994) (1,485) 

Income Tax Paid  (12,231) (5,926) (383) (2,132)  (1,738) (258) 
Interest Paid (118) (529) (644)   (3)  (3) - 
Interest Received 27 36 20 6  5 3 
Net Cash Flows from Operating 

Activities  
 

(P=1,597) P=1,471 P=12,971 (P=348) 
 

(P=3,730) (P=1,740) 
 
(Forward) 
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(Carryforward) 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES 
Advances to Related Parties (12,598) (149,745) (233,657) (15,764)  (16,542) (35,821) 
Acquisitions of Property and 

Equipment (1,152) (5,419) (7,867) (2,472) 
 

(2,198) (20,264) 
Collection of Advances to Related 

Parties 7,566 131,530 153,373 –  – 95,795 
Proceeds from Sale of AFS 

Financial Assets 26,120 – – –  – – 
Net Cash Flows from Investing 

Activities  19,936 (23,634)   (88,151) (18,236)   
 

(18,740) 39,710 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES   

     

Payments of:        
   Cash Dividends (52,262) – (4,000) –  – (8,025) 
   Lease Liabilities – – (1,531) (1,779)  (1,425) (3,429) 
   Mortgage Payable (138) (297) (299) (131)  (131) – 
   Due to related parties – (3,621) – (50)  – – 
   Notes payable (250) (1,250) (8,500) –  – – 
Deposit for future subscription – – – –  – 5,000 
Proceeds from issuance of shares 117,682 – 18,000 –  – – 
Issuance of promissory note 10,000 – – –  – – 
Availment of mortgage loan 865 – – –  – – 
Collection of subscription 
receivable 9,750 – – –  – – 
Advances from related parties 800 2,821 50 –  861 – 
Net Cash Flows from Financing 
Activities  86,448 (2,347) 3,720 (1,960)  (696) (6,454) 
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN 
CASH 104,787 (24,510) (71,461) (20,543)  (23,166) 31,516 

CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 25,027 129,814 105,304 33,843  33,843 13,300 

CASH AT END OF PERIOD P=129,814 P=105,304 P=33,843 P=13,300  P=10,677 (P=44,816) 
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

Key Performance Indicators 
  

The Company uses a range of financial and operational key performance indicators (“KPIs”) to help measure and 
manage its performance. These KPIs reflect the Company’s continuous focus on efficiency, cost control and profitability 
across all its operations. The management considers the following as KPIs: 

 

 
For the years ended December 31 

For the nine 
months ended 
September 30 

 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 
Revenue Growth 17.2% 8.7% 11.0% -52.8% 19.4% 
Gross Profit Margin 43.9% 46.7% 48.4% 48.9% 51.5% 
Net Income Margin 7.2% 2.1% 3.0% -0.8% 2.6% 
EBITDA (₱ thousands) 20,351 8,683 15,699 6,620  10,450 
EBITDA Margin 10.5% 4.1% 6.7% 6.0% 11.8% 
Return on Average Assets 12.9% 3.0% 4.2% -0.5% 1.6% 
Return on Average Equity 15.4% 3.3% 4.7% -0.6% 1.9% 
Current Ratio 10.05 12.17 15.94 28.12 10.69 
Debt to Equity Ratio 11.5% 8.9% 14.7% 11.0% 26.3% 

 
1  Gross Profit Margin is gross profit as a percentage of revenues 
2  Net Income Margin is net income as a percentage of revenues 
3  EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization 
4  EBITDA margin is EBITDA as a percentage of revenues 
5  Return on Average Assets is net income as a percentage of the average of the assets as at year-end and assets as 

at end of the immediately preceding year; annualized for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 
6 Return on Average Equity is net income as a percentage of the average of the equity as at year-end and equity as 

at end of the immediately preceding year; annualized for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 
7  Current Ratio is current assets divided by current liabilities 
8  Debt to Equity Ratio is total liabilities over total equity 
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RISK FACTORS 
 
An investment in the Offer Shares involves a number of risks. You should carefully consider the risk factors described below, 
in addition to other information contained in this Prospectus, including our financial statements and notes relating 
thereto, before deciding to invest in the Offer Shares. The price of securities can and does fluctuate, and any individual 
security is likely to experience upward or downward movements and may even become valueless. There is an inherent risk 
that losses may be incurred rather than profit made as a result of buying and selling securities. Our past performance is 
not a guide to our future performance. There may be a large difference between the buying price and the selling price of 
the Offer Shares and there is an additional risk of loss of investment when securities are purchased from smaller 
companies. For investors that deal in a range of investments, each investment carries a different level of risk. 
 
Investors should carefully consider all the information contained in this Prospectus, including the risk factors described 
below, before deciding to invest in the Offer Shares. The occurrence of any of the following events, or other events not 
currently anticipated, could have an adverse effect on our business prospects, financial condition, results of operation, the 
market price of the Offer Shares and our ability to make dividend distributions to our shareholders. All or part of an 
investment in the Offer Shares could be lost. 
 
The means by which we intend to address the risk factors discussed herein are principally presented under “Business” 
beginning on page [55], “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” 
beginning on page [46], and “Board of Directors and Senior Management— Corporate Governance” on page [87] of this 
Prospectus. We believe that our efforts to manage the risks relating to our business will help to alleviate the risks relating 
to the Philippines that our Company has not specifically addressed. 
 
This risk factors discussion does not purport to disclose all of the risks and other significant aspects of investing in the Offer 
Shares. Investors should undertake independent research and study the trading of securities before commencing any 
trading activity. Investors may request publicly available information about our Company from the Philippine SEC. An 
investor should seek professional advice if he or she is uncertain of, or has not understood, any aspect of this Offer or the 
nature of risks involved in purchasing, holding and trading the Shares. Each investor should consult his or her own counsel, 
accountant and other advisors as to the legal, tax, business, financial and related aspects of an investment in the Shares.  
 
The risk factors discussed in this section are of equal importance and are separated into categories for ease of reference 
only. 
 
 
Risks Relating to Our Business 
 
The Company’s business and operations are adversely affected by the COVID-19 global pandemic.  
 
In March 2020, The World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 infectious disease as a pandemic. The first COVID-
19 disease was reported to have been transmitted to humans during late 2019, and has spread globally over the course 
of 2020. In line with this, the Philippine Government has taken measures to contain the spread of the virus through 
varying degrees of community quarantine. This includes travel restrictions, social distancing measures, and suspension 
of operations of non-essential businesses. As of date of this Prospectus, Metro Manila is under General Community 
Quarantine – Alert Level 2 (“GCQ”). The level of community quarantine for every area has no assurance and may be made 
more stringent or more relaxed. This continues to challenge the Philippines as mobility and commercial activities are 
restricted.   
 
The Philippine government commenced the vaccination for high-risk individuals in February 2021. This includes senior 
citizens, individuals with comorbidities, and healthcare workers. In June 2021, the vaccination drive was expanded to the 
private sector workers, government sector workers, informal sector workers, and self-employed.  
 
During the peak of the community quarantine in March 2020, the Company was forced to temporarily cease operations 
of 93% of its stores due to various limitations brought by government health protocols.  
 
As the community quarantine eased, the Company was able to open as much as 70% of its stores in June 2020 and 86% 
of its stores in December 2020. In June 2021, the Company acquired certain assets of Balai Pandesal, which allowed the 
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Company to have a brand viable for roadside operations. The Company operates 17 BP company-owned stores and 6 BP 
franchised stores as of September 30, 2021.  
 
The Company believes this risk can be managed through the Company’s strengths and strategies to ensure 
competitiveness in the market. The Company strictly observes safety protocols and frequent disinfection of its stores. 
BALAI follows the guidelines of the Inter-Agency Task Force (IATF) to ensure the safety and health of the customers and 
employees. As of September 30, 2021, it has onboarded 40% of its Company-owned stores on online delivery platforms 
such as Grabfood and Foodpanda to cater to the demand of customers accessing online channels throughout the 
quarantine period. The Company has also made available its Balai Pandesal products on the Group’s website 
www.BabotsMart.com.   
 
For a more detailed discussion please refer to the Company’s Competitive Strengths on page [56] of the Prospectus.  
 
Financial performance may be materially and adversely affected by an increase in the costs of goods and disruption in 
the supply of key raw materials and key products. 
 
The Company relies on its relationship with key suppliers for raw materials and key products. Its top two (2) suppliers are 
FGI and Negril Trading, Inc., both affiliates of the Company. For the month of October 2021, about 70% of the Company’s 
purchases came from both the affiliate companies. These transactions are in arms’ length as the prices of goods supplied 
to BALAI are at par with goods supplied to the affiliates’ respective franchise operators. Any material interruptions, 
including failure or delays in delivering the products, such as adverse weather conditions, poor infrastructure or delays 
in third party transit can affect the timeliness of the supply operation. This can be detrimental to the distribution channel 
which may cause a shortage in products thus affecting sales and growth prospects. Furthermore, the Company may not 
be able to find alternative distributors or suppliers on time or at all which will affect the stores. Insolvency of key suppliers 
or losing a relationship with key suppliers may be detrimental to the Company’s competitive position.  
 
Further, considering that the Company provides affordably priced goods, it may opt to not pass along the price increase 
of its supplies to the consumers thus affecting its profit margins. On the other hand, any price increase passed to the 
consumers may adversely affect our sales and those of our franchise owners.  BALAI ensures that it maintains a strong 
relationship with its suppliers as this allows the Company to have consistent supply of its raw materials at competitive 
costs. The Company also leverages on the wide network of suppliers of its affiliates. 
 
Increase in operating and other expenses could lead to a material impact on our financial results. 
 
The ability to control expenses is integral to the Company’s financial results. Rent is the Company’s most significant 
operating expense.  The Company generally leases its store sites from lessors on a short-term basis which usually ranges 
from six (6) months to one (1) year. However, the Company has been able to consistently renew its leases. Despite rent 
contracts being renewed regularly, constant communication with the lessors takes place to assess the sustainability and 
profitability of the outlets at their respective locations. Not being able to rent space at a suitable price or find space that 
will satisfy operations may lead to increase in operating expenses or lead to closure of stores which can materially affect 
the financial results of the Company.  
 
The Company believes maintaining a good relationship with its lessors can help mitigate this risk. The Company has a 
dedicated team, the Operations Support Group, which handles all lessor-related activities including store-network 
expansion. The Group has already established strong relationships with its network of lessors to maintain a pipeline for 
its store network expansion.  
 
The baked goods and food and beverage kiosk industries are highly competitive, and competition could lower the 
Company’s revenues. The industry in which the Company belongs to is affected by consumer preferences and 
perceptions. Changes in these preferences and perceptions may lessen the demand for the products, which could reduce 
sales of all stores, whether owned or franchised.  
 
The baked goods and food and beverage kiosk industries in the Philippines are highly competitive with relatively low 
barriers to entry. As such, there are many well-established food services that compete directly and indirectly with the 
Company. The Company’s competitors are located domestically. The domestic competitors in the Baked Goods category 
include The French Baker, BreadTalk, Pan De Manila, Julie’s Bakeshop and Panaderia All Day Hot Pandesal, although the 
Company currently targets the same customer segments as the latter three; in the Fruit-based Desserts category, 



  

24 
 
 

Iceberg’s, Kabigting’s, Maxi Mango, and Avocadoria. These competitors may not be the only ones in the industry as there 
can be other major or minor players in each category. If the Company will not be able to compete with them, this could 
adversely affect the financial conditions and operations of the Company.  
 
The industry the Company belongs to is affected by changes in consumer tastes, economic conditions and demographic 
trends. The timing of product launches, pricing and advertising efforts of competitors may impact the sales of the 
Company. In the past, BALAI has introduced new products which were unsuccessful and there can be no guarantee that 
it will be able to introduce new products or new menu items successfully in the future. If the Company cannot successfully 
introduce new products or new menu offerings, the business, financial condition and results of operations could be 
materially and adversely affected.  
 
The Company has a dedicated Research and Development (“R&D”) team which plays a major role in mitigating the said 
risk. The R&D team assesses the competition and implements necessary strategies that can help its brands become more 
relevant in the industry. The team continues to innovate the product offerings and ensures the quality of goods is 
preserved always.  
 
The Company’s day-to-day operations may be affected by failures, interruptions, damage, unavailability and delays of 
physical operating infrastructure (logistics/distribution network) 
 
The Company’s ability to perform on a day-to-day basis is dependent on the capacity and efficiency of manpower and 
infrastructure. There may be material interruptions in manpower because of natural calamities or fortuitous events like 
employees not being able to go to work because of a typhoon or vehicles not being able to go to different areas because 
of floods which can affect the delivery schedule. Moreover, future sales growth depend on the Company’s ability to 
acquire or lease strategic space for increase of production capacity and will depend on the Company’s ability to acquire 
or maintain machines that will make production and distribution more efficient. Not being able to capably distribute 
products and not being able to acquire or lease strategic space or machines will increase costs, affecting the capacity to 
successfully operate daily. 
 
If the day-to-day operations are affected, then there is a risk of franchised stores not receiving the supplies needed for 
daily operations. This could lead to complaints and litigations against the Company that could sever relationships with 
franchise owners and could severely affect the Company’s growth prospects.  
 
The Company believes this risk can be mitigated as a part of the Company’s Use of Proceeds on page [34] of the 
Prospectus. This includes strengthening the logistics of BALAI, ongoing hiring of personnel, investing on equipment and 
vehicles, and the Company’s store expansion plans. However, there is no assurance that the Company can provide an 
effective mitigation to such risk. 
 
The business is subject to government regulations. Non-compliance may lead to fines, penalties and/or other legal 
sanctions, which may disrupt the operations of the Company. 
  
The business and operations of the Company are subject to a number of laws, rules and regulations governing the baked 
goods industry and food and beverage kiosk industry in the Philippines. These laws and regulations impose requirements 
relating to food manufacturing and storage. In particular, the Company is subject to extensive regulation by local 
government units (“LGU”). 
 
There is no assurance that changes in laws, rules or regulations or the interpretation thereof of relevant government 
agencies, may not adversely impact the business operations, financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company. Failure to comply with relevant laws and regulations may result in financial penalties or administrative or legal 
proceedings against the Company, including the revocation or suspension of the licenses or operation of its store 
operations, all of which could adversely impact the business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operation of 
the Company. 
  
While the Company applies for and obtains the licenses and permits required for its business on an ongoing basis, and 
seeks to renew such licenses upon their expiration, there can be no assurance that the relevant authorities will grant or 
renew such licenses, permits and other authorizations in a timely manner or at all.  In the event that the Company is 
unable to renew or obtain the required licenses, or meet any licensing requirements in a timely manner, the Company’s 
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operations could be adversely affected.  In the event that the Company is unable to meet any licensing requirements, the 
authorities may suspend, revoke or impose penalties on the Company’s operations. 
  
The Company is in constant consultation with relevant government agencies and other approving bodies to ensure that 
all requirements, permits and approvals are anticipated and obtained in a timely manner. Further, the Company has 
processes in place in order to manage adherence to laws and regulations. The Company has a dedicated and experienced 
compliance team which processes applications for relevant permits and approvals and monitors compliance with the 
terms thereof.  
 
There may be food safety and foodborne illness concerns. 
 
The Company cannot guarantee that internal controls and training will be fully effective in preventing all food safety 
issues at the stores, including any occurrences of foodborne illnesses such as Salmonella, E. Coli, and Hepatitis A. In 
addition, there is no guarantee that franchised stores will maintain the high levels of internal controls and training 
required at company owned stores. Furthermore, the Company and its franchisees rely on third-party vendors, making it 
difficult to monitor food safety compliance and increasing the risk that foodborne illness would affect multiple locations 
rather than a single store. Some foodborne illness incidents could be caused by third-party vendors and transporters 
outside of the Company’s control. New illnesses resistant to current precautions may develop in the future, or diseases 
with long incubation periods could arise, that could give rise to claims or allegations on a retroactive basis. One or more 
instances of foodborne illness in any of the stores or markets or related to food products sold could negatively affect  
store sales nationwide if highly publicized on national media outlets or through social media.  
 
This risk exists even if it were later determined and was wrongly attributed to the Company or one of the Company’s 
stores. The occurrence of food safety or foodborne illness incident at one or more of the stores, or negative publicity or 
public speculation about an incident, could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. The Company strictly observes internal controls on ensuring cleanliness of the stores, proper product 
handling, and securing the health permits for its store crew. The Company addresses any complaints immediately to 
prevent any incident escalations.  
 
The Company is exposed to the risk of industrial or labor disputes 
 
BALAI maintains a harmonious relationship between its management and staff. Although it has not experienced any 
organizational conflicts that may affect its operations, there can be no assurance that the Company will not experience 
future disruptions to its operations due to any concerted action by our workforce. 
 
To date, there are no material pending labor-related claims filed by any of our direct employees against our Company. 
 
The Company nevertheless continues to be exposed to the risk of industrial or labor disputes. The occurrence of such 
events could have a material adverse effect on our Company’s business, financial condition, or results of operation. 
Regardless of the outcome, these disputes may lead to legal or other proceedings and may result in substantial costs, and 
the diversion of resources and management’s attention.  
 
Franchisees could take actions that could harm our business.  
 
The Company has currently 6 franchised stores under 2 franchisees. The franchisees are contractually obligated to 
operate their stores in accordance with the operations, safety, and health standards set forth in our agreement with 
them. However, franchisees are third parties whom we do not fully control. The franchisees own, operate, and oversee 
the daily operations of their stores. As a result, the ultimate success and quality of any franchised store rests with the 
franchisee. If franchisees do not successfully operate stores in a manner consistent with required standards, franchise 
revenues will be affected and brand image and reputation could be harmed, which in turn could materially and adversely 
affect the business and operating results. Such risks are mitigated by the franchise agreement between the parties.  
 
Although BALAI believes it generally enjoys a positive working relationship with its franchisees, potential disputes with 
them could damage the Company’s brand reputation.  
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The results of the Company’s operations and growth strategy depend in part the success of its franchisees, and it is 
subject to various additional risks related with the franchise owners. 
 
The franchising of the Company’s brands will be integral to its growth strategy. With a portion of BALAI’s revenues coming 
from finished goods supplied to its franchise owners which is part of the Company’s long-term growth strategy, the 
Company is reliant on the performance of its franchisees. The franchisees’ ongoing operations and their timely basis of 
paying BALAI for the finished goods bought are integral to the Company’s financial performance. Additionally, franchisees 
are independent and are not BALAI’s employees. The Company regularly monitors the operations of franchised stores, 
but do not implement direct control over their day-to-day operations. The quality of these franchisee-owned stores may 
be diminished by any number of factors beyond the Company’s control. BALAI cannot be certain that its franchisees will 
have the business insight or financial resources necessary to operate the franchise consistent with the Company’s 
standards and requirements and may materially affect BALAI’s business operations and financial condition. 
 
Being independent business operators, franchisees from time to time may disagree with the Company’s requirements, 
and their rights and obligations under the franchise agreements. These may lead to disagreements and disputes in the 
future which may divert the attention of the management and the franchisees from operating the community stores, 
kiosks, or inline stores and can affect BALAI’s image, reputation and franchising attractiveness to those once desiring 
franchise owners. As such, these potential disputes can substantially affect BALAI’s business, operations, financial 
condition and results of operations. The Company believes this is mitigated by the franchise agreement. 
 
If BALAI fails to identify and recruit a sufficient number of qualified franchise owners, its ability to open new franchised 
stores and increase its revenues could be substantially affected. 
 
Being able to open new franchised stores in part depends on the availability of competent franchise owners who meet 
our criteria. Franchised stores represent 9% of the total stores as of September 30, 2021 and are material to the future 
growth. BALAI may not be able to identify, recruit or contract suitable prospective franchise owners for its target market 
or its target locations on a timely basis or at all. Furthermore, the franchise owners may not have the financial or 
management resources needed to open the stores within the said agreements with us. Moreover, if these franchise 
owners decide to cancel said store agreement with the Company for other reasons, then this could hamper BALAI’s ability 
to grow and increase revenue, profitability and operations. The Company believes this is mitigated by a team handling 
franchisee relations and expansion.  
 
BALAI’s success depends substantially on the value of its brands. 
 
The Company’s success is dependent in large part upon its ability to maintain and enhance the value of its brands, and 
its customers’ connection to BALAI’s brands. Brand value can be severely damaged even by isolated incidents, particularly 
if the incidents receive considerable negative publicity or result in litigation. Some of these incidents may relate to the 
way the Company manages its relationships with its franchisees,  growth strategies, development efforts, or the ordinary 
course of the franchisees’ business. Other incidents may arise from events that are or may be beyond the Company’s 
ability to control and may damage the Company’s brands, such as actions taken (or not taken) by one or more franchisees 
or their employees relating to health, safety, welfare or otherwise; litigation and claims; security breaches or other 
fraudulent activities; and illegal activity targeted at us or others. Consumer demand for the products and the brands’ 
value could diminish significantly if any such incidents or other matters erode consumer confidence in the Company or 
in the products, which would likely result in lower sales, which in turn could materially and adversely affect the business 
and operating results. The company mitigates this risk by continuously strengthening, building the brand, expanding its 
stores, and a consistent product introduction. 
 
The Company may fail to successfully implement its growth strategy, which includes opening new stores in strategic 
locations and maintaining its existing store network, thus adversely affecting its ability to increase its revenues and 
operating profits. 
 
A key element of BALAI’s growth strategy is the capability to successfully open new stores in different regions and 
locations. For the foreseeable future, BALAI sees this as its strategy as it intends to be easily accessible to its customers 
with its physical outlets. Being able to expand the Company’s store network in different locations is important for BALAI’s 
growth. The continuous operations of the stores are achieved by regularly renewing the lease contracts with various 
business operators and landowners/lessors. Therefore, BALAI is highly dependent on whether these contracts will be 
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renewed. Historically, the lease contracts with lessors have been consistently renewed. However, suspension or delay in 
renewal of these lease contracts can adversely affect the Company’s ability to increase its revenues and operating profits.  
 
Another challenge is the ability to compete within the Company’s chosen locations. Depending on the category of 
products, there are other well-known brands that the Company will have to compete with which can hamper the sales 
and profitability of its brands in the respective area. Falling short on innovation or product differentiation can also 
adversely affect store network expansion as a strategy. 
 
BALAI’s ability to open new stores will depend on the following factors, including: 

• identifying, hiring and training qualified employees for each site; 
• prompt commencement and completion of construction activities; 
• appointing qualified independent contractors; 
• managing the costs of these said constructions; 
• securing required government business and construction permits and licenses in a timely manner and responding 

effectively to any changes in laws and regulations that can affect its ability to open new stores; 
• negotiating lease contracts with acceptable terms; 
• timely delivery of leased premises from business operators; 
• fortuitous events leading to operational problems; 

 
The Operations Support Group spearheads the store network expansion. The team ensures the feasibility of the identified 
locations by assessing the customer base, market generators, foot traffic, future developments, market profile, and other 
related operational expenses such as rent and logistics. The Operations Support Group carefully examines these factors 
per location prior to pursuing expansion to the respective location. 
 
The Company depend on key members of its management team. 
 
The senior officers and key employees of the Company have been instrumental in setting the strategic direction, 
operating the business, identifying, recruiting and training key personnel, identifying expansion opportunities and 
arranging necessary financing. BALAI believes that these individuals cannot be easily replaced with executives of equal 
experience and capabilities. The success of its business continues to depend to a significant degree upon the continued 
contributions of the senior officers and key employees, both individually and as a Company. BALAI’s future performance 
will substantially depend in particular on its ability to retain and motivate its senior officers and key employees. Losing 
the services of any of these individuals could adversely affect the business until a suitable replacement is found. The 
Company believes this risk can be mitigated by effectively recruiting and retaining employees as well as training and 
developing employees. 
 
The Company may be adversely affected by complaints, negative publicity or litigation in relation to its products and 
services. 
 
The Company’s growth is dependent on its ability to maintain and enrich its brand equity. Being a foodservice business, 
BALAI’s customer’s perceptions and relationship with its brands is vital to its strategy. The Company believes that it has 
built a reputation of delivering quality products at an affordable price and that the staff and service is friendly and 
accommodating. In order to grow more in the future, the Company must protect and nurture its image and culture to be 
able to expand the business. Any incident that damages customer confidence or affinity to the brands can be detrimental 
to the growth of the business. For example, if a customer perceives that the product or service has suffered in quality or 
accommodation, or otherwise deems that the Company failed to deliver a consistent positive consumer experience, this 
could adversely affect the Company’s brand equity 
 
Furthermore, BALAI can be negatively affected by news reports or other such materials that can hurt its public image in 
the media, food quality issues, health concerns, customer objections or litigations, health inspections, reliability and 
integrity of the third-party supplier’s food or beverage processes, government or industry studies concerning the stores 
and franchised stores’ ability to be up to par with the Company’s food quality and service and customer satisfaction. 
These risks coupled with such negative publicity cannot be fully disregarded which can substantially affect some or all of 
its brands. As we are limited and unable to fully control the quality and services the franchise owners provide, there is a 
risk of customers associating one franchised store’s negative publicity to the Company’s operations. 
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The Company has established quality assurance measures to ensure that the quality of its products is constantly 
maintained. Apart from this, the Company has also identified a team which receives and monitors customer feedback. 
These feedbacks are carefully assessed and rectified accordingly.  
 
The Company’s intellectual property rights could be infringed or the Company could infringe the intellectual property 
rights of others. 
 
The intellectual property is integral to the conduct of the business and strategy. The ability to implement the business 
plans and maintain and create brand recognition using the trademarks and other proprietary intellectual property is 
essential to the business. While it is the Company’s policy to protect and defend vigorously the rights to the Company’s 
intellectual property, BALAI cannot foresee whether steps taken to protect its intellectual property will be sufficient to 
prevent misappropriation of its rights. It could be difficult for the Company to prevent other parties from copying 
elements of its concepts and any litigation against these parties may be unsuccessful.  
 
The Company may face litigations of infringement that could derail its ability to expand and market its brand equity. Any 
such litigation may be costly and could divert financial resources and employee efforts from the business. Furthermore, 
if the Company fails to defend itself against such litigations then it may be unable to use its trademarks and intellectual 
properties in the future and may be liable for damages which could adversely affect the business, financial condition, 
brand awareness and operations.  
 
The Company values its brands, thus the application of several intellectual property rights to protect BALAI’s brand 
portfolio. Any infringement on its registered brands will be acted upon accordingly by the Company.  
 
Risks Relating to the Philippines 
 
Economic conditions adversely affecting consumer discretionary spending may negatively impact the business and 
operating results. 
 
BALAI believes that its sales, customer traffic, and profitability are strongly correlated to consumer discretionary 
spending, which is influenced by general economic conditions, unemployment levels and the availability of discretionary 
income. There is no assurance that there will be no occurrence of an economic slowdown in the Philippines. An economic 
downturn could have a material adverse effect on its sales, profitability, and overall business and operating results. 
 
The Company’s operations are concentrated in the Philippines, and are therefore highly exposed to business, political, 
operational, financial, and economic risks in the Philippines. Any downturn in general economic conditions in the 
Philippines could have a material adverse impact on our business operations. 
 
All of the business operations are currently conducted in the Philippines. Since the entire revenue is sourced from the 
Philippines, the results of operations, financial condition and prospects are subject to a significant degree to the general 
state of the Philippine economy. There is no assurance that there will be no occurrence of an economic slowdown in the 
Philippines. In addition, demand for the Company’s products is tied closely to domestic consumer purchasing power and 
disposable income levels. Any decrease in consumer purchasing power and disposable income levels could have a 
material adverse effect on the business, operations, and financial condition of the Company. 
 
The Philippines is currently experiencing an economic downturn due to the COVID-19 pandemic and community-wide 
quarantines. The country’s gross domestic product suffered a -9.5% contraction for the whole of 2020. The World Bank 
expects the Philippine economy to grow by 5.5% and 6.3% in 2021 and 2022, respectively. For the year 2020, domestic 
inflation averaged 2.6%, reaching as high as 3.5% in December. However, the average inflation was still within the 
government’s 2% to 4% target. In 2020, BSP cut the rate on its overnight reverse repurchase facility several times, 
effecting a 200-basis point total reduction for the entire 2020. In addition, the Monetary Board cut the rate on the 
overnight deposit facility and the overnight lending facility to 1.50% and 2.50%, respectively. As of June 24, 2021, the 
Monetary Board maintained the interest rate on overnight reverse repurchase facility at 2.00% and the overnight lending 
and deposit facilities rates at 2.50% and 1.50%, respectively. A global recession also took place in 2020 as the economic 
effects of the COVID19 pandemic were felt in other countries, which also adversely affected the Philippine economy.  
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Any future deterioration in economic conditions in the Philippines could materially and adversely affect the Company’s 
financial position and results of operations, including the Company’s ability to grow its business, and its ability to 
implement the Company’s business strategy. Changes in the conditions of the Philippine economy could materially and 
adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations.  
 
Factors that may adversely affect the economy include but are not limited to: 
 

• decreases in business, industrial, manufacturing, or financial activity in the Philippines or in the global market; 
• scarcity of credit or other financing, resulting in lower demand for products and services; 
• the sovereign credit ratings of the country; 
• exchange rate fluctuations and foreign exchange controls; 
• a prolonged period of inflation or increase in interest rates; 
• an increase in unemployment levels or decrease in consumer confidence; 
• a decrease in remittances from overseas Filipino workers; 
• changes in the Government’s fiscal and regulatory policies; 
• Government budget deficits; 
• adverse trends in the current accounts and balance of payments of the Philippine economy; 
• natural disasters, including typhoons, earthquakes, fires, floods, and similar events; 
• public health epidemics or outbreaks of diseases, such as aa re-emergence of Middle East respiratory syndrome 

coronavirus (commonly known as MERS-CoV), Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (commonly known as SARS) 
or avian influenza (commonly known as the bird flu) or H1N1, and the recent novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), or 
the emergence of another similar disease (such as the Zika virus) in the Philippines or in the other countries in 
Southeast Asia; 

• political instability, terrorism, or military conflict in the Philippines; and, 
• other regulatory, political, or economic developments in or affecting our Company 

 
Any downturn in the Philippine economy may have a negative impact on consumer sentiment and general business 
conditions in the Philippines, which may materially reduce the revenues, profitability and cash flows of the Company. 
 
The occurrence of natural disasters or other catastrophes, severe weather conditions, or outbreaks of contagious 
diseases may materially adversely affect the Philippine economy and disrupt our operations. 
 
The Philippines has experienced a number of major natural catastrophes including typhoons, droughts, floods, volcanic 
eruptions and earthquakes.  
 
On January 12, 2020, the Taal Volcano erupted causing ash falls and earthquakes in Southern Luzon, some parts of Central 
Luzon and Pangasinan in Ilocos Region, including Metro Manila. The Philippine Institute of Volcanology and Seismology 
(“PHIVOLCS”) issued an Alert Level 4, which means a hazardous explosive eruption may happen at any given moment. 
The explosion resulted to the suspension of classes, work schedules, and flights. On January 26, 2020, PHIVOLCS 
downgraded the classification to Alert Level 3, which means a decreased tendency towards hazardous eruption. The 
danger zone was likewise reduced from a 14-kilometer radius from the volcano’s main crater, to a 7-kilometer radius. On 
February 14, 2020, PHIVOLCS further downgraded the classification to Alert Level 2, which means that there was a 
decreased unrest of the Taal Volcano given the less frequent volcanic earthquake activity, stabilizing ground deformation 
and weak steam and gas emissions at the main crater. 
 
In 2017 alone, two (2) major earthquakes struck off the Philippines with a 6.8-magnitude earthquake affecting the 
Southern region of Mindanao in April and a 6.5-magnitude earthquake affecting Eastern Visayas in July. In October 2013, 
a 7.2 magnitude earthquake also affected Cebu and the island of Bohol, and in November, 2013, Super Typhoon Haiyan 
(called Yolanda in the Philippines) caused destruction, devastation, and casualties of unprecedented levels in Tacloban 
City, certain parts of Samar, and certain parts of Cebu, all of which are located in the Visayas, the southern part of the 
Philippines. There can be no assurance that the occurrence of such catastrophes will not materially disrupt the Company’s 
operations. In the future, BALAI could experience substantial property loss as a result of any such catastrophe and might 
not be able to rebuild or restore operations in a timely fashion. Property insurance may not cover all cases of loss of 
material property. Any such accident could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results 
of operations. 
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Any political instability in the Philippines may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial 
condition. 
 
The Philippines has from time to time experienced political and military instability. In recent history, there has been 
political instability in the Philippines, including impeachment proceedings against two former presidents and the chief 
justice of the Supreme Court of the Philippines, hearings on graft and corruption issues against various government 
officials and public and military protests arising from alleged misconduct by previous and current administration. There 
can be no assurance that acts of political violence will not occur in the future and any such events could negatively impact 
the Philippine economy. An unstable political environment may negatively affect the general economic conditions and 
operating environment in the Philippines, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the business, operations, 
and financial condition of the Company. In addition, the Company may be affected by political and social developments 
in the Philippines, including changes in the political leadership. The Philippine general elections for national, provincial, 
and local officials are scheduled to take place on May 9, 2022.  
 
The Company may also be affected by changes in government policies in the Philippines. Such regulatory changes may 
include (but are not limited to) the introduction of new laws and regulations that could impact the Company’s business. 
There can be no assurance that the current or any new administration will continue to implement social and economic 
policies that promote a favorable and stable macroeconomic and business environment. Policy instabilities or 
fundamental change of policy directions, including those with respect to Philippine foreign policy, may lead to an increase 
in political or social uncertainty and the loss of investor confidence in the Philippines. Any potential instability could have 
an adverse effect on the Philippine economy, which may impact our business, prospects, financial condition and results 
of operations. 
 
Acts of terrorism and violent crimes could destabilize the country and could have a material adverse effect on our 
business and financial condition. 
 
The Philippines has been subject to a number of terrorist attacks since 2000. In recent years, the Philippine military has 
also been in conflict with the Abu Sayyaf organization, which claims to have ties to the al-Qaeda terrorist network and 
the ISIS, and has been identified as being responsible for certain kidnapping incidents and other terrorist activities, 
particularly in the southern part of the Philippines.  Moreover, isolated bombings have taken place in the Philippines in 
recent years, mainly in cities in that part of the country.  On January 25, 2011, a bomb was detonated on a bus in the 
northern city of Makati, Metro Manila, killing five persons.  Although no one has claimed responsibility for these attacks, 
it is believed that the attacks were the work of various separatist, possibly including the Abu Sayyaf organization. An 
increase in the frequency, severity or geographic reach of these terrorist acts could destabilize the Philippines, and 
adversely affect the country’s economy. 
 
The Government and the Armed Forces of the Philippines (“AFP”) have clashed with members of several separatist 
seeking greater autonomy, including the Moro Islamic Liberation Front (“MILF”), the Moro National Liberation Front 
(“MNLF”) and the New People’s Army (“NPA”). On October 19, 2011, 19 AFP troops were killed in a firefight with MILF 
members in the southern Philippines. On December 16, 2011, five AFP soldiers were killed in a clash with NPA members. 
In September 2013, MNLF members seized hostages in Zamboanga City, leading to a standoff and clashes with AFP troops. 
More than 50 people have been killed since these clashes began. On January 25, 2015, 44 members of the Special Action 
Force of the Philippine National Police were killed in an operation intended to capture or kill wanted Malaysian terrorist 
and bomb-maker Zulkifli Abdhir and other Malaysian terrorists and/or high-ranking members of the Bangsamoro Islamic 
Freedom Fighters and the MILF. These continued conflicts between the Government and separatist Companys could lead 
to further injuries or deaths by civilians and members of the military, which could destabilize parts of the country and 
adversely affect the country’s economy.  
 
On May 23, 2017, in the City of Barangay Basak Malutlut, Marawi City, there were a lot of heavy firing between the 
military and the Company known as the Maute which brought about war in Marawi. This has lead President Duterte to 
call for Martial Law in Mindanao until the rebellion has quelled. Previous to becoming a militant Company who pledged 
loyalty to Islamic State, the Maute was a wealthy political family from the southern region of Mindanao. The insurgency 
started when the Maute matriarch- Farhana Maute had a clash between another political family headed by Butig Mayor 
Dimnatang Pansar over the awarding of civil contract. This caused a common familial clash in Mindanao between families 
known as “rido”. As such, other militant Companys in southern parts of Mindanao joined the Mautes forming a joint front 
against the Philippine military. In effect, insurgencies such as this can have adverse effects on investor confidence and 
could derail growth prospects in the economy 
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There have also been a number of violent crimes in the Philippines, including the September 2, 2016-night market 
bombing in Davao City, killing at least 14 and injuring more than 60 people. Moreover, since the beginning of President 
Duterte’s term as President, more than 7,000 alleged drug users and dealers have been killed in police operations, and 
more than 2,200 people drug users and dealers have been killed by supposed vigilantes. High-profile violent crimes have, 
in the past, had a material adverse effect on investment and confidence in, and the performance of, the Philippine 
economy.  
 
Territorial disputes with China and a number of Southeast Asian countries may disrupt the Philippine economy and 
business environment 
 
Competing and overlapping territorial claims by the Philippines, the People’s Republic of China (“China”) and several 
Southeast Asian nations (such as Vietnam, Brunei and Malaysia) over certain islands and features in the West Philippine 
Sea (South China Sea) have for decades been a source of tension and conflict. 
 
The China claims historic rights to nearly all of the West Philippine Sea based on its so-called “nine-dash line” and in 
recent years dramatically expanded its military presence in the sea, which has raised tensions in the region among the 
claimant countries. In 2013, the Philippines became the first claimant country to file a case before the Permanent Court 
of Arbitration, the international arbitration tribunal based at the Hague, Netherlands to legally challenge claims of the 
PRC in the West Philippine Sea and to resolve the dispute under the principles of international law as provided for under 
the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea. In July 2016, the tribunal rendered a decision stating that the 
Philippines has exclusive sovereign rights over the West Philippine Sea (in the South China Sea) and that the “nine-dash 
line” claim of the PRC is invalid. The Government, under the current administration, has taken measures to de-escalate 
tensions concerning the territorial dispute with the PRC.  
 
There is no guarantee that the territorial dispute between the Philippines and other countries, including the PRC, would 
end or that any existing tension will not escalate further, as the PRC has taken steps to exercise control over the disputed 
territory. In such event, the Philippine economy may be disrupted and its business and financial standing may be 
adversely affected. 
 
Any deterioration in the Philippine economy as a result of these or other factors may adversely affect the Company’s 
operations. In particular, further disputes between the Philippines and other countries may lead to reciprocal trade 
restrictions or suspension of visa-free access and/or overseas Filipinos permits. Any such developments could materially 
and adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 
Any decrease in the credit ratings of the Philippines may restrict the access to capital of Philippine companies, including 
us. 
 
The Philippines is currently rated investment grade by major international credit rating agencies such as Moody’s, 
Standard & Poor’s and Fitch. In May 2020, the Philippines received its first credit rating outlook downgrade in 15 years 
after Fitch lowered the country’s credit outlook to stable from positive due to the economic fallout from the COVID-19 
pandemic. As of July 16, 2020, Moody has affirmed the Philippines Baa2 rating with stable outlook. On January 10, 2021, 
Fitch affirmed the Philippines’ long-term foreign-currency issuer default rating at BBB, noting that the outlook is stable. 
On July 12, 2021, however, Fitch revised the outlook of the Philippines to negative, although its long-term foreign-
currency issuer default rating remained at BBB. The change in outlook was attributed to the potential scarring effects, 
and possible challenges associated with unwinding the exceptional policy response to the COVID-19 health crisis and 
restoring sound public finances as the pandemic recedes.  
 
As of May 28, 2021, S&P maintained its BBB+ long-term credit rating for the Philippines with a stable outlook, and also 
affirmed its A-2 short-term credit rating for the Philippines. While Moody’s and S&P retained the sovereign rating and 
stable outlook, no assurance can be given that these agencies will not downgrade the credit ratings of the Government 
in the future and, therefore, Philippine companies, including us. Any such downgrade could have an adverse impact on 
the liquidity in the Philippine financial markets, the ability of the Government and Philippine companies, including us, to 
raise additional financing and the interest rates and other commercial terms at which such additional financing is 
available. 
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Risks Related to the Offer and the Offer Shares 
 
There can be no guarantee that the Offer Shares will be registered with the SEC and listed on the PSE, or that there will 
be no other regulatory action that could delay or affect the Offer. 
 
Purchasers of Offer Shares will be required to pay for such Offer Shares on the Settlement Date, which is expected to be 
on [March 22, 2022]. There can be no guarantee that listing will occur on the anticipated Listing Date or at all. 
Furthermore, there is no guarantee that the shares will be registered with the SEC. Delays in registration with the SEC 
and admission and the commencement of trading in shares on the PSE have occurred in the past. If the SEC does not 
approve the registration of the shares and the PSE does not admit the Offer Shares onto the PSE, the market for the Offer 
Shares would be illiquid and shareholders may not be able to trade the Offer Shares. This may materially and adversely 
affect the value of the Offer Shares. 
 
There has been no prior market for the Offer Shares, so there may be no liquidity in the market for the Offer Shares 
and the price of the Offer Shares may fall. 
 
As there has been no prior trading in the Company’s Shares, there can be no assurance that an active market for the Offer 
Shares will develop following the Offer or, if developed, that such market will be sustained. 
 
The Offer Price has been determined after taking into consideration a number of factors including, but not limited to, the 
prospects, the market prices for shares of companies engaged in related businesses similar to ours and prevailing market 
conditions. The price at which the Common Shares will trade on the PSE at any point in time after the Offer may vary 
significantly from the Offer Price. 
 
The Offer Shares may not be a suitable investment for all investors. 
 
Each prospective investor in the Offer Shares must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own 
circumstances. In particular, each prospective investor should: 
• have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of our Company and our businesses, the 

merits and risks of investing in the Offer Shares and the information contained in this Prospectus; 
• have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of our particular financial 

situation, an investment in the Offer Shares and the impact the Offer Shares will have on our overall investment 
portfolio; 

• have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Offer Shares, including 
where the currency for purchasing and receiving dividends on the Offer Shares is different from the potential 
investor’s currency; 

• understand and be familiar with the behavior of any relevant financial markets; and, 
• be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial advisor) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate 

and other factors that may affect our investment and our ability to bear the applicable risks. 
 

The market price of securities can and does fluctuate. The Offer Shares have not been publicly traded and the relative 
volatility and illiquidity of the securities market may substantially limit an investor’s ability to sell the Offer Shares at 
a suitable price or at a time they desire which may result to an investors’ investments in the Company to decline. 
 
The market price of securities can and does fluctuate, and it is impossible to predict whether the price of the Shares will 
rise or fall or even lose all of its value. The market price of Shares could be affected by several factors, including: 
• general market, political and economic conditions; 
• changes in earnings estimates and recommendations by financial analysts; 
• changes in market valuations of listed shares in general and other retail shares in particular; 
• the market value of the assets of our Company; 
• changes to Government policy, legislation or regulations; and, 
• general operational and business risks. 

 
In addition, many of the risks described elsewhere in this Prospectus could materially and adversely affect the market 
price of the Shares. 
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In part as a result of the global economic downturn, the global equity markets have experienced price and volume 
volatility that has affected the share prices of many companies. Share prices for many companies have experienced wide 
fluctuations that have often been unrelated to the operating performance of those companies. Fluctuations such as these 
may adversely affect the market price of the Shares. 
 
Shareholders may be subject to limitations on minority shareholders’ rights. 
 
The obligation under Philippine law of majority shareholders and directors with respect to minority shareholders may be 
more limited than those in certain other countries. Consequently, minority shareholders may not be able to protect their 
interests under current Philippine law to the same extent as in certain other countries. There can be no assurance that 
legal rights or remedies of minority shareholders will be the same, or as extensive, as those available in other jurisdictions 
or sufficient to protect the interests of minority shareholders. 
 
The Philippine Corporation Code, however, provides for certain protective rights to minority shareholders by requiring a 
vote by our shareholders representing at least two-thirds of our outstanding capital stock for certain corporate acts. 

 
The Company may be unable to pay dividends on the Shares. 
 
Dividends declared by the Company on its shares of stock are payable in cash or in property or additional shares of stock. 
BALAI has approved a dividend policy of maintaining an annual cash and/or share dividend pay-out from 20% to 30% of 
its net income from the preceding year, subject to the requirements of applicable laws and regulations, the terms and 
conditions of its outstanding loan facilities, and the absence of circumstances that may restrict the payment of such 
dividends, such as where BALAI undertakes major projects and developments. The Board may, at any time, modify its 
dividend policy depending upon its capital expenditure plans and/or any terms of financing facilities entered into to fund 
its current and future operations and projects. The Company can give no assurance that it will pay any dividends in the 
future. 
 
Declaration of cash dividends by the Company requires the approval of the Board, the declaration of stock dividends by 
the Company requires the approval of the Board and the approval of stockholders representing at least 2/3 of the 
outstanding capital stock. 
 
Investors may incur immediate and substantial dilution as a result of purchasing Shares in the Offer. 
 
The issue price of the Shares in the Offer may be substantially higher than the net tangible book value per share of the 
outstanding Shares. Therefore, purchasers of Shares in the Offer may experience immediate and substantial dilution and 
the existing shareholders may experience a material increase in the net tangible book value per share of the Shares they 
own. See “Dilution” beginning on page [41[] of this Prospectus. 
 
Risks Relating to Certain Statistical Information in this Prospectus 
 
Certain information contained herein is derived from unofficial publications 
 
Certain information in this Prospectus relating to the Philippines, the industries in which the Company competes, and the 
markets wherein it operates, including statistics relating to market size, are derived from various Government and private 
publications. This Prospectus also contains industry information which was prepared from publicly available third-party 
sources. Industry publications generally state that the information they contain has been obtained from sources believed 
to be reliable but that the accuracy and completeness of that information is not guaranteed. The information contained 
in the Industry section may not be consistent with other information. Similarly, industry forecasts and other market 
research data, including those contained or extracted herein have not been independently verified by us, the Issue 
Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter, or any of their respective affiliates or advisors, and may not be accurate, 
complete, up-to-date or consistent with other information compiled within or outside the Philippines. Prospective 
investors are cautioned accordingly. 
 
Non-verification of Certain Information 
 
The section of this Prospectus entitled “Industry” was not independently verified by the Company, the Issue Manager, 
Bookrunner, and Underwriter, or any of their respective affiliates or advisors. 
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USE OF PROCEEDS 
 

Based on the Offer Price of ₱[0.75] per Offer Share, the estimated gross proceeds is  ₱[243.8] million from the offer of 
the Primary Shares. After deducting the applicable underwriting fees, commissions and expenses for the offer of the 
Primary Shares payable by our Company, estimated net proceeds will be ₱[220.4] million. The Company will not receive 
any proceeds from the offer of the Secondary Shares and Option Shares. 
 
The Company intends to use the net proceeds from the Offer, as follows: 

Use of Proceeds  
Estimated 
Amounts 

(in ₱ millions) 

Percentage 
(%) 

Estimated 
Timing of 

Disbursement 
Store network expansion [180.4] [81.8]% 2022-2023 
Commissary set-up [20.0] [9.1]% 2022 
Potential acquisitions   [20.0] [9.1]% 2022-2023 
Estimated Net Proceeds [220.4] [100]%   

 
Of the estimated net proceeds of ₱[220.4] million, ₱[16.3] million will be recognized as capital stock, and the remainder 
will be recognized as additional paid-in capital. 

Note that the estimated net proceeds above are based on the maximum shares to be offered by the Company to the 
public at the maximum offer price. This amount may change depending on the final terms and conditions of the offer 
which includes the final number of shares and final price to be determined at the end of the book building period and 
announced on the pricing announcement date.  In the event that the Offer proceeds are less than the expected amount, 
the shortfall, to the extent possible, shall be funded by the Issuer from internal sources such as cash flows generated 
from operations and/or availments from credit facilities provided to the Issuer by various financial institutions.  

The Company intends to allocate the proceeds in order of priority as follows: 
1. Store network expansion 
2. Commissary set-up 
3. Potential acquisitions  

 
Store Network Expansion  
 
The Company intends to use [81.8]% of the net proceeds from the Offer for store network expansion.  
 
Out of the ₱[180.4] million of the net proceeds intended for store network expansion, ₱[170.0] million will be allotted 
for furniture, fixtures, equipment, mechanical and electrical works, permitting and licensing, and initial inventory, 
deposits, and prepaid rent for leased properties. The Company is targeting to establish more new stores within NCR, and 
selected urban areas in Luzon and Visayas and Mindanao region. These stores will largely be in roadside locations, 
although sites within existing high foot-traffic establishments like malls and terminals will continue to be evaluated.  This 
amount is intended to cover the establishment of 120 new owned stores until end of 2023; any amount required in excess 
of ₱[170.0] million will be sourced from cash flow from operations and/or credit facilities from banks. The remaining 
₱[10.4] million will be allotted for purchase of vehicles to service the expanded store network. 
 
Vast majority of the stores to be opened from 2022-2023 are anticipated to carry the Balai Pandesal brand. Moreover, 
the Company also expects to expand the footprint of its other existing brands and future acquisitions which will depend 
on, among others, market opportunities and commercial considerations. 
 
Commissary Set-up 
 
Approximately [9.1]% of the net proceeds from the Offer will be used to fund the capital expenditures for the set-up of 
the Company’s commissary operations. The Company intends to spend approximately ₱[20.0] million for the construction 
of the structure, which will be for production and warehousing, and purchase of various equipment.  Any excess amount 
will be used by the Company to set up satellite commissaries. 
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Potential Acquisitions 
 
In order to accelerate expansion, the Company intends to allocate approximately [9.1]% of the net proceeds to acquire 
other baked goods businesses in the Philippines. The Company’s potential target acquisitions will be geared towards 
broadening its baked goods product offering and/or adding sales channels. The Company is still in the early stages of 
evaluating these options and there are no definitive agreements signed. 
 
Expenses 
 
The following are the estimated expenses to be incurred by the Company in relation to the Offer: 

 (₱ millions) 
Total proceeds from the Offer  [243.8] 
Underwriting and selling fees  
    (Including fees to be paid to the Underwriters and the selling agents)  

[7.3] 

Documentary Stamps Tax [0.2] 
SEC registration, filing and research fees [0.3] 
PSE Listing Fee [0.3] 
Estimated professional fees (including legal, audit, and financial advisory fees,) [13.1] 
Others [2.2] 
Total estimated expenses [23.4] 
Estimated net proceeds from the Offer [220.4] 

 
The actual underwriting and selling fees and other Offer-related expanses may vary from the estimated amounts 
indicated. In the event that the Over-allotment Option is not exercised, it is deemed cancelled and the filing fee is 
forfeited. 

The proposed use of proceeds described above represents a best estimate of the use of the net proceeds of the Offer 
based on the Company’s current plans and expenditures. Any shortfall in the net proceeds for the intended uses described 
above shall be funded by the Issuer from internal sources such as cash flows generated from operations and/or 
availments from credit facilities provided to the Issuer by various financial institutions. 
 
The actual amount and timing of disbursement of the net proceeds from the Offer for the use stated above will depend 
on various factors. To the extent that the net proceeds from the Offer are not immediately applied to the above purpose, 
the Company will invest the net proceeds in interest-bearing short-term demand deposits and/or money market 
instruments. Aside from underwriting and selling fees, the Underwriter and the Selling Agents will not receive any of the 
net proceeds from the Offer. 
 
In the event of any material deviation or substantial adjustment in the planned use of proceeds, the Company shall inform 
its shareholders, the SEC and the PSE in writing at least 30 days before such deviation or adjustment is implemented. Any 
material or substantial adjustments to the use of proceeds, as indicated above, will be approved by our Board of Directors 
and disclosed to the SEC and the PSE. In addition, we shall submit via the PSE’s Online Disclosure System, the PSE EDGE 
Portal, the following disclosure to ensure transparency in the use of proceeds: 
 

(i) any disbursements made in connection with the planned use of proceeds from the Offer, 
(ii) Quarterly Progress Report on the application of the proceeds from the Offer on or before the first 15 days of the 

following fiscal quarter, the quarterly progress reports should be certified by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer 
or Treasurer and external auditor, 

(iii) annual summary of the application of the proceeds on or before 31 January of the following year, the annual 
summary report should be certified by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer or Treasurer and external auditor; 
and, 

(iv) approval by the Company’s Board of Directors of any reallocation on the planned use of proceeds, or of any change 
in the Work Program. The actual disbursement or implementation of such reallocation must be disclosed by our 
Company at least 30 days prior to the said actual disbursement or implementation. 
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The quarterly and annual reports required in items (ii) and (iii) above must include a detailed explanation for any material 
variances between the actual disbursements and the planned use of proceeds in the Prospectus, if any. The detailed 
explanation must state the approval of the Board as required in item (iv) above. 
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DIVIDENDS AND DIVIDEND POLICY 
 
Limitations and Requirements 
 
Under Philippine law, a corporation can only declare dividends to the extent that it has unrestricted retained earnings 
that represent the undistributed earnings of the corporation which have not been allocated for any managerial, 
contractual or legal purpose and which are free for distribution to our shareholders as dividends. The amount of retained 
earnings available for declaration as dividends may be determined pursuant to regulations issued by the Philippine SEC. 
The Company’s board of directors’ approval is generally sufficient to approve the distribution of dividends, except in the 
case of stock dividends which requires the approval of stockholders representing not less than two-thirds of the 
outstanding capital stock at a regular or special meeting duly called for the purpose. From time to time, the Company 
may reallocate capital among its subsidiaries depending on the business requirements. 
 
The Philippine Corporation Code generally requires a Philippine corporation with retained earnings in excess of 100% of 
its paid-in capital to declare and distribute as dividends the amount of such surplus. Notwithstanding this general 
requirement, a Philippine corporation may retain all or any portion of such surplus in the following cases: (i) when justified 
by definite expansion plans approved by the board of directors; (ii) when the required consent of any financing institution 
or creditor to such distribution has not been secured; (iii) when retention is necessary under special circumstances, such 
as when there is a need for special reserves for probable contingencies; or (iv) when the non-distribution of dividends is 
consistent with the policy or requirement of a Government office. 
 
We are allowed under Philippine laws to declare cash, property and stock dividends, subject to certain requirements. See 
“Description of the Shares—Rights Relating to Shares—Dividend Rights.”  
 
Pursuant to existing Philippine SEC rules, cash dividends declared by corporations whose securities are registered or 
whose shares are listed in the stock exchange must have a record date not less than 10 days nor more than 30 days from 
the date of declaration. For stock dividends, the record date should not be less than 10 days nor more than 30 days from 
the date of the Company’s shareholders’ approval, provided however, that the set record date is not to be less than 10 
trading days from receipt by the PSE of the notice of declaration of stock dividend. In the event that a stock dividend is 
declared in connection with an increase in authorized capital stock, the corresponding record date is to be fixed by the 
Philippine SEC. In case no record date is specified for the cash and stock dividend declaration, then the same shall be 
deemed fixed at 15 days from such declaration.  
 
In relation to foreign shareholders, dividends payable may not be remitted using foreign exchange sourced from the 
Philippine banking system unless the investment was first registered with the BSP. See “Philippine Foreign Ownership and 
Foreign Exchange Controls.” 
 
Pursuant to the “Amended Rules Governing Pre-emptive and other Subscription Rights and Declaration of Stock and Cash 
Dividends” of the Philippine SEC, all cash dividends and stock dividends declared by a company shall be remitted to PDTC 
for immediate distribution to participants not later than 18 trading days after the record date (the “Payment Date”); 
provided that in the case of stock dividends, the credit of the stock dividend shall be on the Payment Date which in no 
case shall be later than the stock dividends’ listing date. If the stock dividend shall come from an increase in capital stock, 
all stock shall be credited to PDTC for immediate distribution to its participants not later than 20 trading days from the 
record date set by the Philippine SEC, which in no case shall be later than the stock dividends’ listing date. 
 
Dividend History 
 
Below is a summary of the dividend declaration of the Company: 
 

Date of Declaration Dividend Payment Date Amount of Dividends Type of Dividend 
October 10, 2017 October 27, 2017 Php 41,396,055.00 Cash 

December 19, 2017 December 22, 2017 Php 10,865,896.00 Cash 
June 27, 2019 June 28, 2019 Php 4,000,000.00 Cash 

September 11, 2021 September 30, 2021 Php 8,025,000.00 Cash 
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Dividend Policy 
 
The Company has approved a dividend policy of distributing from 20% to 30% of its net income after tax from the 
preceding year payable primarily in cash. However, the Board of Directors, in its discretion, may decide to declare 
dividends to be payable in property or share. Declaration of dividends is subject to the requirements of applicable laws 
and regulations, the terms and conditions of the Company’s outstanding loan facilities, and the absence of circumstances 
that may restrict the payment of such dividends, such as when the Company undertakes major projects, expansions, and 
developments. Dividends must be approved by the Board of Directors and in the case of stock dividends, approved by 
2/3 of the Company’s total outstanding capital stock at a regular or special meeting called for the purpose, and may be 
declared only from the Company’s unrestricted retained earnings. The Company will conduct a periodic review of 
available unrestricted balance of retained earnings for purposes of earmarking surplus profit for future capital 
expenditures or for distributing the same as special cash or stock dividends. The board of directors may, at any time, 
modify the dividend policy or declare special dividends, depending upon the capital expenditure plans and/or any terms 
of financing facilities entered into to fund the current and future operations and projects. The Company cannot assure 
that BALAI will pay any dividends in the future.   
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DETERMINATION OF THE OFFER PRICE 
 
The Company’s Shares shall be listed and traded on the Small, Medium, and Emerging Board of the PSE under the symbol 
“[•]”. BALAI will apply for the Offer Shares to be listed and traded on the PSE under the same symbol. For a description 
of the PSE, see “The Philippine Stock Market” beginning on page [107]. 
 
The Offer Price has been set at up to ₱[0.75] per Offer Share. The Offer Price was determined through a book-building 
process and discussions among the Company and the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter. Since the Offer 
Shares have not been listed on any stock exchange, there has been no market price for Shares derived from day-to-day 
trading. 
 
The factors considered in determining the Offer Price were, among others, historical financial and operating performance 
of the Company, the ability to generate earnings and cash flow, the business strategy short- and long-term prospects, the 
level of demand from institutional investors, overall market conditions at the time of launch of the Offer and the market 
price of comparable listed companies. The Offer Price does not have any correlation to the actual book value of the Offer 
Shares. 
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CAPITALIZATION AND INDEBTEDNESS 
 
The following table sets out the debt, shareholders’ equity and capitalization as of September 30, 2021, and as adjusted 
to reflect the sale of Firm Shares at the Offer Price of up to ₱[0.75] per Offer. The debt is reduced by ₱5.0 million due to 
the re-classification of deposit for future subscription to equity after approval of BALAI’s increase in authorized capital 
stock.  The equity increases by the ₱5.0 million re-classified from debt and the estimated ₱220.4 million net proceeds 
from the sale of Primary Shares.  The table should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited financial statements 
and the notes thereto, included in this Prospectus beginning on page F-1. Other than as described below, there has been 
no material change in our capitalization since September 30, 2021.  
  
 

 
Actual as of  

September 30, 2021 
As Adjusted  

After Giving Effect to the Offer  

(In ₱ Millions) (Audited) (Unaudited) 

Total debt ...........................................................  40.5 35.5 
Equity:   
Capital stock ........................................................  53.5 74.8 
Additional paid-in capital 96.5 300.7 
Other components of equity ..............................    
Retained earnings ...............................................  3.9 3.9 

Total equity .....................................................  153.9 379.3 

Total capitalization ..........................................  194.5 414.9 
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DILUTION 
 
 
As part of the Firm Offer, the Company will offer [325,000,000] unissued common Shares to be issued from the authorized 
and unissued common stock and the Selling Shareholder will offer [50,000,000] existing common Shares.  In addition, up 
to [37,500,000] existing common Shares will be offered by the Selling Shareholder as part of the Over-Allotment Option. 
 
Prior to the Offer, the Company has a total of 1,170,005,000 issued and outstanding Shares. Upon listing, BALAI will have  
[1,495,005,000] issued and outstanding Shares. 
 
The book value, or total equity, attributable to the Company’s Common Shareholders, based on the audited financial 
statements as of September 30, 2021, was ₱153.9 million. The net tangible book value attributable to the Common 
Shareholders, based on the audited consolidated financial statements as of September 30, 2021, was ₱155.9 million, 
after deducting intangible assets of ₱3.0 million from book value attributable to the Company’s Common Shareholders 
and taking into account the re-classification of deposit for future subscription of ₱5.0 million to equity after approval of 
BALAI’s increase in authorized capital stock. The net tangible book value per share is computed by dividing the net 
tangible book value attributable to the Company’s shareholders by the equivalent number of Common Shares 
outstanding. Without taking into account any other changes in such book value after September 30, 2021 other than the 
sale of [325,000,000] Primary Shares at the Offer Price of ₱[0.75] per Offer Share, and after deduction of the underwriting 
discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses of the Offer payable by the Company, the net tangible book 
value as of listing would increase to ₱[376.3] million, or ₱[0.252] per Common Share. This represents an immediate 
increase in net tangible book value of ₱[0.119] per Common Share to existing shareholders, and an immediate dilution 
of ₱[0.498] per Common Share to purchasers of Offer Shares at the Offer Price of ₱[0.75] per Offer Share.  
 
The following table illustrates dilution on a per share basis based on the Offer Price of ₱[0.75] per Offer Share: 
 

Offer Price per Offer Share  ₱[0.75] 
Net tangible book value per share as of September 30, 2021 ₱[0.133] 
Difference in Offer Price per Offer Share and net tangible book value per Offer Share as of 
September 30, 2021 

₱[0.617] 

Pro forma net tangible book value per Common Share immediately following completion of 
the Offer  

₱[0.252] 

Dilution in Pro forma net tangible book value per Common Share to investors of the Offer 
Shares  

₱[0.498] 

 
[The following table sets forth the shareholdings and percentage of Common Shares outstanding of our existing and new 
shareholders immediately after completion of the Offer (assuming the Over-allotment Option is not exercised):] 
 

 Common Shares 
 Number of Shares % 
Existing Shareholders 1,120,005,000 74.92% 
New Investors   375,000,000 25.08% 
TOTAL 1,495,005,000 100% 

 
[The following table sets forth the shareholdings and percentage of Common Shares outstanding of our existing and new 
shareholders immediately after completion of the Offer (assuming the Over-allotment Option is fully exercised):] 
 

 Common Shares 
 Number of Shares % 
Existing Shareholders 1,082,505,000 72.41% 
New Investors  412,500,000 27.59% 
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SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION 
 
The following tables set forth summary financial information for the Company and should be read in conjunction with the 
auditors’ reports, the Company’s financial statements including the notes thereto included elsewhere in this Prospectus, 
and the section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”. The 
selected financial information set forth in the following table has been derived from the Company's financial statements 
for the fiscal years ended 31 December 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 
2021 including the related notes, as examined and audited by Reyes Tacandong & Co. (“RT&Co.”) in accordance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (“PFRS”).  All of this information should be read in conjunction with the financial 
statements and notes thereto contained in this Prospectus.  The summary of financial information set out below does not 
purport to project the results of operations or financial condition of the Company for any future period or date. 
 
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(All amounts in thousands Philippine Pesos, except per share data) 

  For the years ended December 31,  For nine months ended 
September 30, 

  Audited  Audited 
  2017 2018 2019 2020  2020 2021 
Net Sales  P=193,349 P=210,162 P=233,192 P=110,144  P=74,182 P=88,584 
Cost of Sales  (108,418) (112,076) (120,212) (56,298)  (37,407) (42,934) 
Gross Profit  84,932 98,085 112,980 53,846  36,775 45,649 
Selling and 
Distribution Expenses  

 
(54,820) (70,069) (78,643) (38,933)  (28,220) (28,069) 

General and 
Administrative 
Expenses 

 
 
 

(10,436) (21,241) (24,648) (15,875)  (11,926) (16,492) 
Interest Expense                                       (118)                (529) (1,012) (1,334)  (962) (1,228) 
Other Income  251 591 1,365 1,323  857 3,440 
Income Before 
Income Tax   

19,809 6,838 10,042 (973)  (3,476) 3,300 
Provision for (Benefit 
From) IncomeTax         
     Current  5,884 2,338 2,948 1,081  739 1,190 
     Deferred   18 (13) 60 (1,132)  (1,541) (168) 
  5,902 2,325 3,009 (922)  (802) 1,022 
NET INCOME  P=13,907 P=4,513 P=7,033 (P=922)  (P=2,675) P=2,278 
TOTAL 
COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME 

 
P=13,907 P=4,513 P=7,033 (P=922)  (P=2,675) P=2,278 
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(All amounts in thousands Philippine Pesos) 
 
  As of December 31,  As of Sept. 30, 
  Audited  Audited 
  2017 2018 2019 2020  2021 
ASSETS        
        
Current Assets        
Cash and Cash Equivalents  P=129,814 P=105,304 P=33,843 P=13,300  P=44,816 
Trade and Other Receivables    1,012 2,046 3,081  6,440 
Merchandise Inventories  1,600 1,577 1,629 1,551  1,399 
Due from Related Parties  8,031 26,246 106,530 122,294  70,175 
Other Current Assets  9,989 12,648 14,496 14,036  13,627 
Total Current Assets  149,434 146,787 158,545 154,263  136,457 
        
Noncurrent Assets        
Property and Equipment  1,104 5,171 10,105 8,908  27,835 
Intangible Assets  – – – –  3,000 
Right of Use of Assets   – 15,115 12,519  26,617 
Security Deposits   – 405 405   
Deferred Tax Assets  70 84 96 1,156  572 
Total Noncurrent Assets  1,175 5,255 25,722 22,989  58,024 
        
TOTAL ASSETS  P=150,609 P=152,042 P=184,266 P=177,252  P=194,481  
        
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY        
Current Liabilities        
Trade and Other Payables  1,800 P=3,263 P=6,999 P=3,538  P=6,297  
Current Portion of Lease 
Liabilities 

 
 – 1,550 1,781  6,126  

Current Portion of Mortgage 
Payable 

 
275 299 131 –   

Due to Related Parties  800  50    
Note Payable  9,750 8,500 – –   
Income Tax Payable  2,240  1,218 167  346 
Total Current Liabilities  14,865 12,062 9,948 5,487  12,769 
 
Noncurrent Liabilities       
Notes Payable – Net of Current 
Portion 

 
– – – –  – 

Lease Liabilities – Net of Current 
Portion  – 13,325 11,543  22,010 
Mortgage Payable – Net of Current 
Portion 452 131  –   
Retirement Benefits Liability 236 281 319 542  770 
Deferred Tax Liability  – 72 –   
Deposit for Future Stock 
Subscription 

– – – – 
 5,000 

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 
 

688 412 13,716 12,086  27,780 
Total Liabilities P=15,553 P=12,474 P=23,665 P=17,572  40,549  
 
(Forward)       
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(Carryforward) 
 
Equity attributable to Equity 
Holders of the Parent Company    
Capital Stock  47,500 47,500 53,500 53,500  53,500 

Additional Paid in Capital 
 

84,532 84,532 96,532 96,532  96,532 
Retained Earnings 3,041 7,555 10,588 9,666  3,919 
Other Comprehensive Loss (19) (19) (19) (19)  (19) 
Total Equity 135,055 139,568 160,602 159,679  153,933 
       
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY P=150,609 P=152,042 P=184,266 P=177,252   P=194,481  
 
 

 
  

   

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(All amounts in thousands Philippine Pesos) 
 

 For the years ended December 31,  For 9 months ended Sept. 30, 
 Audited  Audited 
 2017 2018 2019 2020  2020 2021 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES   

    

Income Before Income Tax P=19,809 P=6,838 P=10,042 (P=973)  (P=3,477) P=3,300 
Adjustments for:        
Depreciation and Amortization 451 1,352 4,665 6,265  4,665 5,925 
Interest Expense  118 529 1,012 1,334  962 1,228 
Gain from Rent Concessions    (1,103)  (668)  
Interest Income (27) (36) (20) (6)  (5) (3) 
Retirement Benefit Expense (59) 44 39 223  167 227 
Gain on Sale of Available for Sale 
Financial Assets (120)    

 
 (3,285) 

Operating Income before  
Working Capital Changes 

 
20,172 8,727 15,738 5,740 

 
1,644 7,391 

Decrease (Increase) in:        
Trade and Other Receivables 951 (1,012) (219) (1,036)  (560) (3,359) 
Merchandise Inventories (145) 23 (52) 78    556 152 
Other Current Assets (1,704) (1,312) (4,820) 460  (288) (3,233) 
Security Deposit   (405)    405 
Increase (Decrease) in:        
Trade and Other Payables (8,549) 1,463 3,736 (3,461)  (3,346) (2,841) 
Net Cash Generated from 
Operations  

 
10,724 7,890 13,978 1,781 

 
(1,994) (1,485) 

Income Tax Paid  (12,231) (5,926) (383) (2,132)  (1,738) (258) 
Interest Paid (118) (529) (644)   (3)  (3) - 
Interest Received 27 36 20 6  5 3 
Net Cash Flows from Operating 
Activities  

 
(P=1,597) P=1,471 P=12,971 (P=348) 

 
(P=3,730) (P=1,740) 

 
(Forward)  
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(Carryforward) 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES   

     

Advances to Related Parties (12,598) (149,745) (233,657) (15,764)  (16,542) (35,821) 
Acquisitions of Property and 
Equipment (1,152) (5,419) (7,867) (2,472) 

 
(2,198) (20,264) 

Collection of Advances to Related 
Parties 7,566 131,530 153,373  

 
 95,795 

Proceeds from Sale of AFS 
Financial Assets 26,120    

 
  

Net Cash Flows from Investing 
Activities  19,936 (23,634)   (88,151) (18,236)   

 
(18,740) 39,710 

 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES   

     

Payments of:        
   Cash Dividends (52,262) – (4,000) –  – (8,025) 
   Lease Liabilities – – (1,531) (1,779)  (1,425) (3,429) 
   Mortgage Payable (138) (297) (299) (131)  (131) – 
   Due to related parties – (3,621) – (50)  – – 
   Notes payable (250) (1,250) (8,500) –  – – 
Deposit for future subscription – – - –  – 5,000 
Proceeds from issuance of shares 117,682 – 18,000 –  – – 
Issuance of promissory note 10,000 – – –  – – 
Availment of mortgage loan 865 – – –  – – 
Collection of subscription 
receivable 9,750 – – –  – – 
Advances from related parties 800 2,821 50 –  860 – 
Net Cash Flows from Financing 
Activities  86,448 (2,347) 3,720 (1,960)  (696) (6,454) 
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN 
CASH 104,787 (24,510) (71,461) (20,543)  (23,166) 31,516 

CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 25,027 129,814 105,304 33,843  33,843 13,300 

CASH AT END OF PERIOD P=129,814 P=105,304 P=33,843 P=13,300  P=10,677 (P=44,816) 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF  
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 
Prospective investors should read the following discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results 
of operations together with audited financial statements of the Company and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this 
prospectus and the section entitled “Selected Financial and Operating Information”. Unless otherwise indicated, this 
discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations for the six-month periods ended 
September 30, 2021 and 2020 and as at and for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, 2018, and 2017 are based on 
the Company’s audited financial statements. 
 
Factors Affecting the Company’s Results of Operations and Financial Condition 
 
The Company’s results of operations are affected by a variety of factors. Set out below is a discussion of the most 
significant factors that have affected the Company’s results in the past and which the Company expects to affect its 
financial results in the future. Factors other than those set out below could also have a significant impact on the 
Company’s results of operations and financial condition in the future. See “Risk Factors”. 
 
Expansion of the Company’s Store Network 
 
The volume of products that the Company is able to sell is mainly affected by the number of stores and store locations 
the Company is able to open and operate in. The Company continuously strives to expand its market coverage by opening 
new stores in various growth areas in the country. 
 
Operating in varied locations governed by different local regulators and authorities also entails dealing with diverse local 
laws and regulations which require customized approaches and processes that may impede the set up and opening of 
new stores as scheduled. Laws and regulations at the local level change more frequently and the changes can impose 
additional costs and other compliance requirements that the Company may not be able to immediately address. 
Succeeding years’ sales are adversely affected when scheduled new store openings are delayed. Delay in the rollout of 
new stores will adversely affect the business, results of operation and financial condition of the Company. 
 
From 2018 to September 30, 2021, the Company operated the following no. of stores: 

Stores Dec 2017 Dec 2018 Dec 2019 Dec 2020 Sept 2021 
Company-owned 77 77 83 74 63 
Franchised 0 0 0 0 6 
Stores (period-end) 77 77 83 74 69 
 
In addition, while new store openings increase revenues of the Company, costs also increase especially during 
construction and when the newly opened stores have not reached their full revenue potential.  
 
The Company has rationalized its store network since March 2020. Due to adverse effects of the pandemic, the Company 
ceased operations of certain unprofitable kiosks and inline stores. It also streamlined its operations by transferring certain 
kiosks and inline stores to FGI. As of September 30, 2021, combined number of BNF and FHOD stores stood at 46. Since 
June 2021, the Company has focused on expanding the BP store network, adding 17 new company-owned BP stores and 
6 franchised BP outlets as of September 30, 2021. 
 
Economic, Social, and Political Conditions in the Philippines 
 
The Company’s operations have been substantially affected and will continue to be affected by the economic, social and 
political conditions in the Philippines. 
 
The continuing demand for our products is directly related to the strength of the Philippine economy, including overall 
growth rate and volume of business activities in the country. 
 
Before the COVID-19 pandemic, the Philippine economy has been in a continuous growth curve. However, beginning the 
first quarter of 2020, the country’s growth has been hampered with multiple stringent lockdowns and rising Covid-19 
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infections. This has caused a sharp drop in the economic activity, thus affecting the company’s sales. Despite this, the 
Company believes that the Filipinos willingness and acceptance to take the vaccine will slowly bring back consumer 
spending and recovery in sales. In general, any weakening of the Philippine economy may adversely affect consumer 
sentiment and lead to a decrease in demand for the Company’s products. 
 
Cost of Sales 
 
Cost of sales primarily comprises inventory costs, but also includes direct labor.   
 
For 2018, 2019, 2020 and the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2021, our cost of sales amounted to P112.1 
million, P120.2 million, P56.3 million P37.4 million and P42.9 million, respectively, representing 53.3%, 51.5%, 51.1%, 
50.4% and 48.5% of our revenue for each such period. Raw material prices have a significant effect on the results of 
operations.  
 
Competition 
 
Sales at Company-owned and franchised stores are affected by competition from other competitors. The Company 
competes on the basis of taste, menu offerings, quality and price of food and beverages offered, customer service, and 
location. BALAI believes that the concepts, attractive value proposition, and quality of food, beverages and service 
enables the Company to differentiate itself from its competitors. 
 
Seasonality 
 
The Company experiences seasonal fluctuations in its net sales. Historically, the strongest sales levels occur in the months 
of April, May and December, and the lowest sales levels occur in January and the third quarter.  
 
BALAI takes advantage of stronger seasonal sales by implementing campaigns geared towards increasing average spend 
per customer and launching marketing strategies to increase transaction count during seasons with lower sales levels. 
However, with the addition of BP stores, the Company expects less fluctuation in its net sales.  
 
Critical Accounting Policies 
 
Critical accounting policies are those that are both (i) relevant to the presentation of the Company’s financial condition 
and results of operations and (ii) require management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result 
of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. As the number of variables and 
assumptions affecting the possible future resolution of the uncertainties increase, those judgments become even more 
subjective and complex. 
 
The significant accounting and financial reporting policies that have been used in the preparation of the audited financial 
statements are summarized below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless 
otherwise stated. For more information on the Company’s significant accounting and financial reporting policies, see 
Note [●], starting on page [●] of the notes to financial statements in the 3Q2021 audited financial statements of the 
Company included elsewhere in this Prospectus. 
 
FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to December 31, 2020 
 
The Company’s total assets stood at P=194.5 million as of September 30, 2021, an increase of 9.7% from the total assets 
of P=177.2 million as of December 31, 2020.  
 
Cash and cash equivalents stood at P=44.8 million as of September 30, 2021 an increase of 237.0% from the amount of 
P=13.2 million as of December 31, 2020.  The increase in cash level is attributed to net collection of advances to related 
parties of P=60.0 million, offset by increased acquisition of property and equipment of P=20.3 million.  In September 2021, 
the Company also distributed cash dividends of P=8.0 million, and received deposit for future subscription of P=5.0 million. 
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Trade and other receivables stood at P=6.4 million as of September 30, 2021, higher by 109% than the trade and other 
receivables of P=3.1 million as of December 31, 2020.  The increase in trade receivables is attributable to receivables from 
franchisees of P=2.1 million as of September 30, 2021. The Company did not have any outstanding receivable from 
franchisees as of December 31, 2020, as it did not have any franchisees at that time. 
 
Merchandise inventory stood at P=1.4 million as of September 30, 2021, lower by 9.8% than the total merchandise 
inventory of P=1.6 million as of December 31, 2020. The reduction in inventory is due to the decrease in number of stores 
from December 31, 2020 to September 30, 2021. 
 
Property and equipment stood at P=27.8 million as of September 30, 2021, higher by 212.5% than the property and 
equipment as of December 31, 2020, of P8.9 million. The increase in property and equipment is due to the rollout of BP 
Company-owned stores, mainly undertaken in the third quarter of 2021.  
 
Trade and other payables stood at P6.3 million as of September 30, 2021, higher by 78.0% than the trade and other 
payables as of December 31, 2020, of P3.5 million. The increase is attributable to outstanding payables for purchase of 
assets made in June 2021 and higher trade payables due to the purchase of inventory. 
 
Capital stock stood at P=53.5 million as of September 30, 2021, unchanged from the total capital stock of P53.5 million as 
of December 31, 2020.    
 
Total equity stood at P=153.9 million as of September 30, 2021, which was a decrease of 3.8% from December 31, 2020, 
where total equity was at P=159.7 million.   The decline in total equity is due to the distribution of dividends of P=8.0 million, 
offset by net income of P=2.3 million for the first nine months of 2021. 
 
As of and for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 
 
The Company’s total assets stood at P177.3 million as of December 31, 2020, lower by 3.8% than the total assets of 
P184.3 million as of December 31, 2019.  
 
Cash and cash equivalents stood at P13.3 million as of December 31, 2020, lower by 60.7% than the amount of P33.8 
million as of December 31, 2019.  From positive net cash generated from operations in prior years, the Company used 
P0.3 million in operating activities due to the impact of the pandemic.  The Company also used P18.2 million in investment 
activities.  
 
Trade and other receivables stood at P3.1 million as of December 31, 2020, higher by 50.7% than the trade and other 
receivables of P2.0 million as of December 31, 2019.  This is attributable to increase in advances to officers and 
employees, which will be collected through salary deductions.  
 
Merchandise inventory stood at P1.6 million as of December 31, 2020, lower by 4.8% than the total merchandise 
inventory of P1.6 million as of December 31, 2019.    
 
Property and equipment stood at P8.9 million in 2020, lower by 11.8% than the property and equipment in 2019, of P10.1 
million.  The decline is attributable to the Company recording depreciation higher than the minimal addition to property 
and equipment in 2020. 
 
Trade and other payables stood at P3.5 million in 2020, lower by 49.4% than the trade and other payables in 2019 of P7.0 
million. This decline was driven by reduced scale of operations during the pandemic, which led to lower accrued expenses. 
 
Capital stock stood at P53.5 million as of December 31, 2020, unchanged from P53.5 million in 2019.  
 
Total equity stood at P159.7 million in 2020, which was a decrease of 0.6% from 2019, where total equity was at P160.6 
million. The decline was driven by the net loss of P0.9 million incurred in 2020. 
 
As of and for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 
 
The Company’s total assets stood at P184.3 million as of December 31, 2019, which was higher by 21.2% than the total 
assets of P152.0 million as of December 31, 2018.  
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Cash and cash equivalents stood at P33.8 million as of December 31, 2019, which was lower by 67.9% than the cash level 
of P105.3 million as of December 31, 2018. From positive net cash generated from operations in prior years, the Company 
used P14.3 million in financing activities to pay off its notes payable and distribute cash dividends. The Company also 
used P88.2 million in investment activities.  
 
Trade and other receivables stood at P2.0 million as of December 31, 2019, which was higher by 102.2% than the trade 
receivables of P1.0 million as of December 31, 2018.  This is attributable to increase in advances to officers and 
employees, which will be collected through salary deductions.  
 
Merchandise inventory stood at P1.6 million as of December 31, 2019, which was higher by 3.3% than the total 
merchandise inventory of P1.6 million as of end-2018.  
 
Property and equipment stood at P10.1 million as of December 31, 2019, which was 95.4% higher than the property and 
equipment as of December 31, 2018, of P5.2 million. The increase in property and equipment was due to new stores 
added in 2019. 
 
Trade and other payables stood at P7.0 million as of December 31, 2019. This was 114.5% higher than the trade and other 
payables as of December 31, 2018, of P3.3 million. The increase in trade and other payables was due to the increased in 
level of purchases for the period. 
 
Capital stock stood at P53.5 million as of December 31, 2019, which was a 12.6% increase from P47.5 million in 2018. 
Capital stock increased because in 2019 new shares worth P6.0 million were issued at a premium.  
 
Total equity stood at P160.6 million as of December 31, 2019, which was an increase of 15.1% from total equity in 
December 31, 2018 of P139.6 million. Total equity increased primarily due to issuance of new shares at a premium. 
 
As of and for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 
 
The Company’s total assets stood P152.0 million as of December 31, 2018, which was higher by 1.0% than the total assets 
of P150.6 million as of December 31, 2017.  
 
Cash and cash equivalents stood at P105.3 million as of December 31, 2018, which was lower by 18.9% than the cash 
level of P129.8 million as of December 31, 2017.  The decrease was due to net cash outflows from investing activities of 
P 23.6 million outpacing combined net cash outflows from operating activities and financing activities of P0.9 million in 
2018.    
 
Trade and other receivables stood at P1.0 million as of December 31, 2018, there were no trade receivables as of 
December 31, 2017.  
 
Merchandise inventory stood at P1.6 million as of December 31, 2018, which was lower by 1.4% than the total 
merchandise inventory of P1.6 million as of end-2017.  
 
Property and equipment stood at P5.2 million as of December 31, 2018, which was 368.4% higher than the property and 
equipment as of December 31, 2017, of P1.1 million. The increase from 2017 to 2018 was due to the store improvement 
program implemented during the year. 
 
Trade and other payables stood at P3.3 million as of December 31, 2018. This was 81.3% higher than the trade and other 
payables as of December 31, 2017, of P1.8 million. The increase in trade and other payables from 2017 to 2018 was due 
to the increased level of purchases for the period. 
 
Capital stock stood at P47.5 million as of December 31, 2018, unchanged from P47.5 million in 2017.  
 
Total equity stood at P139.6 million as of December 31, 2018, which was an increase of 3.3% from total equity in 
December 31, 2017 of P135.1 million. Total equity increased from 2017 to 2018 due to addition of net income of P4.5 
million for the period. 
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Results of Operations 
 
Nine-month period ended September 30, 2021, compared with nine-month period ended September 30, 2020 
 
Revenues 
The Company generated revenues of ₱88.6 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2021, a 19.4% or a 
₱14.4 million upswing from the same period in 2020, which closed at ₱74.2 million. The increase was driven by re-opening 
of the economy as quarantine restrictions from the COVID-19 pandemic were eased.  
 
Cost of Sales 
Cost of sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 closed at ₱42.9 million, 14.8% or a ₱5.5 million increase 
over the same period in 2020 which closed at ₱37.4 million.  The rise is attributable mainly to the increase in revenues. 
The Company was able to improve its gross profit margin which was at 51.5% for the first nine months of 2021 versus the 
49.6% of the same period in 2020.  
 
Operating Expenses 
The Company’s operating expenses settled at ₱44.6 million at the close of the first nine months of 2021, a 11.0% or a 
₱4.4 million increase from the same period in 2020. The uptick was attributed to the increased business volume in the 
first nine months of 2021, which drove up manpower expenses. 
  
Income Tax Expense 
Income tax expense jumped by 227.4% to ₱1.0 million in the first nine months of 2021 from (₱0.8) million for the first 
nine months of 2020.  The Company incurred income tax expense in the first nine months of 2021 as the Company 
reverted to positive pre-tax income in the first nine months of 2021. 
 
Net income 
Net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 closed at ₱2.3 million, a 185.2% or ₱5 million upsurge from 
the same period of the prior year of (₱2.7) million as the Company grew its revenue, improved its gross margin and 
managed the increase of its operating expenses. The Company also benefited from recognition of gain on sale of property 
and equipment in the first nine months ended September 30, 2021.  
 
Year ended December 31, 2020 compared with year ended December 31, 2019 
 
Revenues 
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded revenues of ₱110.1 million, a 52.8% or a ₱123.0 million 
decrease from the ₱233.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2019. The decrease in revenues was mainly due to the 
restrictions implied due to the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
Cost of Sales 
The Company’s cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 2020 totaled ₱56.3 million, a 53.2% or ₱63.9 million 
decrease over the prior year’s level of ₱120.2 million. The decline is attributable mainly the reduction in revenues, 
although the Company was able to improve its gross profit margin which registered at 48.9% end-2020 versus the 48.4% 
end-2019.  
 
Operating Expenses 
At the close of 2020, the Company’s operating expenses reached ₱54.8 million, ₱48.5 million or 46.9% lower than the 
expenses incurred of ₱103.3 million in 2019. The decline was attributed to the reduced business volume in 2020 and cost 
containment measures undertaken by the Company.  
 
Income Tax Expense 
Provision for income tax benefit for the year 2020 amounted to ₱0.1 million compared to income tax expense of ₱3.0 
million for 2019. Benefits from income tax for the year 2020 was primarily due to higher deferred tax due to taxable 
losses caused by the COVID‐ 19 pandemic.  
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Net income/(loss) 
Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2020 reached (₱0.9 million), an ₱8.0 million or approximately 113.1% decrease 
from the prior year’s ₱7.0 million. 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 compared with year ended December 31, 2018 
 
Revenues 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded revenues of ₱233.2 million, a 11.0% or a ₱23.0 million 
increase from the ₱210.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2018. The Company added 6 stores in 2019, or a 7.8% 
growth in store network from 77 as of end-2018 to 83 as of end-2019. 
 
Cost of Sales 
The Company’s cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 2019 totaled ₱120.2 million, a 7.3% or ₱8.1 million increase 
over the prior year’s level of ₱112.1 million. The increase in cost of sales was attributable to store expansions and 
increased in raw materials used. 
 
Operating Expenses 
At the close of 2019, the Company’s operating expenses reached ₱103.3 million, ₱12.0 million or 13.1% higher than the 
expenses incurred of ₱91.3 million in 2018. The company’s major operating expenses include manpower, rent, utilites 
and depreciation and amortization. Apart from the increase attributable to the increased volume of sales, the significant 
changes in operating expenses was driven by increase in manpower at the store level and strong marketing campaign to 
promote the brands. 
 
Income Tax Expense 
Provision for income tax for the year 2019 amounted to ₱3.0 million compared to ₱2.3 million for 2018. The ₱0.7 million 
increase is attributable mainly to the increase in income before tax from ₱6.8 million to ₱ 10.04 million. 
 
Net income 
Net income for the year ended December 31, 2019 reached ₱7.0 million, a ₱2.5 million or approximately 55.8% increase 
from the prior year’s ₱4.5 million.  
 
Year ended December 2018 compared with year ended December 31, 2017 
 
Revenues 
For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded revenues of ₱210.2 million, a 8.7% or a ₱16.8 million 
increase from the ₱193.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2017.  
 
Cost of Sales 
The Company’s cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 2018 totaled ₱112.1 million, a 3.4% or ₱3.7 million increase 
over the prior year’s level of ₱108.4 million. The rise is attributable mainly to the increase in revenues. The company was 
able to improve its gross profit margin from 43.9% in 2017 to 46.7% in 2018. 
 
Operating Expenses 
At the close of 2018, the Company’s operating expenses reached ₱91.3 million, ₱26.1 million or 39.9% higher than the 
expenses incurred of ₱65.3 million in 2017. The major operating expenses include manpower, rent, utilities, and 
depreciation and amortization. Rent increased from ₱24.7 million in 2017 to ₱30.8 million in 2018. Depreciation and 
amortization which formed part of operating expenses increased from ₱0.4 million in 2017 to ₱1.35 million in 2018, which 
was driven by the increased store improvement for the period.  
 
Income Tax Expense 
Provision for income tax for the year 2018 amounted to ₱2.3 million compared to ₱5.9 million for 2017. The ₱3.6 million 
decline is attributable mainly to the decrease in income before tax. 
 
Net income/(loss) 
Net income for the year ended December 31, 2018 reached ₱4.5 million, a ₱9.4 million or 67.5% decrease from the prior 
year’s ₱13.9 million.  
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
The Company’s principal liquidity requirements are for both operating and capital expenditures which are comprised of 
inventory purchases, store improvements, logistical infrastructure and store network expansion among others. 
 
The Company’s principal source of liquidity is internally generated cash from operations. For the nine-month period 
ended 2021, the Company had total current assets of ₱136.5 million, of which cash and cash equivalents accounted for 
32.8% or ₱44.8 million. This was against BALAI’s total current liabilities of ₱12.8 million, of which 49.3% were trade and 
other payables. 
 
The Company expects a growth in its working capital due to increased sales and store network expansion. Moving 
forward, we expect to fund these requirements from BALAI’s operating cash flows and proceeds from this initial public 
offering.  See “Use of Proceeds” beginning on page [•] of this Prospectus. 
 
The Company may also, from time to time, seek other sources of funding, which may include debt financing, depending 
on the Company’s financing needs and market conditions. In the course of conducting its business, we may incur short-
term debt from several banking institutions. 
 
Cash flows from operating activities 
 
The net cash generated from the Company’s operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 was (₱1.7) million 
which included income before income tax of ₱3.3 million. Working capital changes meanwhile amounted to an outflow 
of ₱8.9 million. 
 
The net cash generated from the Company’s operations for the year ended December 31, 2020 was (₱0.3) million which 
included loss before income tax of ₱1.0 million. Working capital changes meanwhile amounted to an outflow of ₱4.0 
million. 
 
The net cash generated from the Company’s operations for the year ended December 31, 2019 was ₱13.0 million which 
included income before income tax of ₱10.0 million. Working capital changes meanwhile amounted to an outflow of ₱1.8 
million. 
 
The net cash generated from the Company’s operations for the year ended December 31, 2018 was ₱1.5 million which 
included income before income tax of ₱6.8 million. Working capital changes meanwhile amounted to an outflow of ₱0.8 
million. 
 
Cash flows from investing activities 
 
Net cash used in investing activities amounted to ₱39.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 
(₱18.7) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company’s 
net cash used in investing activities, which included acquisition of store equipment and furniture and fixtures, amounted 
to (₱18.2) million. For the year 2019, cash used in investing activities totaled (₱88.2) million while in 2018, a total of 
(₱23.6) million cash was used.  
 
Cash flows from financing activities 
 
The net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, nine months ended 
September 30, 2020 and year ended December 30, 2020 totaled (₱6.5) million, (₱0.7) million and (₱2.0) million, 
respectively. For 2019, net cash flows from financing activities amounted to ₱3.7 million. In 2018, net cash provided by 
financing activities reached (₱2.3) million 
 
Debt Obligations and Facilities 
 
The Company’s total amount of current liabilities as of September 30, 2021 was ₱13 million. The total amount of 
noncurrent liabilities as of September 30, 2021 was ₱27.7 million.  
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 
Below are the major performance measures that the Company uses. The Company employs analyses using comparisons 
and measurements based on the financial data for current periods against the same period of the previous year. 
 

1  Gross Profit Margin is gross profit as a percentage of revenues 
2  Net Income Margin is net income as a percentage of revenues 
3  EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization 
4  EBITDA margin is EBITDA as a percentage of revenues 
5  Return on Average Assets is net income as a percentage of the average of the assets as at year-end and assets as 

at end of the immediately preceding year; annualized for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 
6 Return on Average Equity is net income as a percentage of the average of the equity as at year-end and equity as 

at end of the immediately preceding year; annualized for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 
7  Current Ratio is current assets divided by current liabilities 
8  Debt to Equity Ratio is total liabilities over total equity 

 
FINANCIAL RISK DISCLOSURE 
 
The Company is not aware of any known trends, demands, commitments, events, or uncertainties that will have a 
material impact on the Company’s liquidity. 
 
The Company is not aware of any event that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the 
Company, including default or acceleration of any obligation. 
 
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent 
obligations), and other relationships with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting period. 
 
The Company is not aware of any trends, events, or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably expected to have 
a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales/revenues/income from continuing operations. 
 
The Company does not have any significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from its continuing operations. 
 
The Company does not have any seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial conditions or results of 
operations. 
 
QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURE OF MARKET RISK 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, 
leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities and from its deposits with 
banks and financial institutions. 
 
  

 
For the years ended December 31 For the nine months 

ended September 30 
 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Revenue Growth 17.2% 8.7% 11.0% -52.8% 19.4% 

Gross Profit Margin 43.9% 46.7% 48.4% 48.9% 51.5% 
Net Income Margin 7.2% 2.1% 3.0% -0.8% 2.6% 
EBITDA (₱ thousands) 20,351 8,683 15,699 6,620  10,450 
EBITDA Margin 10.5% 4.1% 6.7% 6.0% 11.8% 
Return on Average Assets 12.9% 3.0% 4.2% -0.5% 1.6% 
Return on Average Equity 15.4% 3.3% 4.7% -0.6% 1.9% 
Current Ratio 10.05 12.17 15.94 28.12 10.69 
Debt to Equity Ratio 11.5% 8.9% 14.7% 11.0% 26.3% 
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Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Company may encounter difficulties in raising funds to meet 
commitments from financial instruments.  It may result from either the inability to sell assets quickly at fair values or 
failure to collect from counterparty. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.  The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily 
to its notes payable and mortgage payable.  The Company obtains additional financing through bank borrowings.  The 
Company’s policy is to obtain the most favorable interest rates available. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk 
 
The Company undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, primarily in U.S. Dollars giving rise to 
exposures to exchange rate fluctuations.  Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and 
recognized assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the Company’s functional currency.  Significant 
fluctuation in the exchange rates could significantly affect the Company’s financial position. 
 
The Company manages its foreign exchange exposure risk by matching, as far as possible, receipts and payments in each 
individual currency. Foreign currency is converted into the relevant domestic currency as and when the management 
deems necessary. The unhedged exposure is reviewed and monitored closely on an ongoing basis and management will 
consider hedging any material exposure where appropriate. 
 
The Company’s U.S. Dollar denominated financial asset as at September 30, 2021 is considered immaterial in relation to 
the consolidated financial statements.  Thus, management believes that the Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk 
is insignificant. 
 
Commodity Risk 
 
The Company mitigates commodity risk through sales and purchase agreements with various vendors and distributors to 
ensure availability of materials and maintain competitive prices.  
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BUSINESS 
Overview and Corporate History 
 
Balai Ni Fruitas Inc.  (“BALAI”), formerly known as Buko Ni Fruitas, Inc., is a wholly owned subsidiary of Fruitas Holdings, 
Inc. (“FHI”). Its operations started in August 2005 when it opened its first Buko Ni Fruitas kiosk in Robinsons Manila, 
serving fresh coconut-based beverages and desserts. Since then, the Buko Ni Fruitas brand grew to become one of the 
most well-recognized brands in the fruit-based desserts category.  
 
Currently, BALAI has three (3) active brands namely Buko Ni Fruitas (“BNF”), Fruitas House of Desserts (“FHOD”) and Balai 
Pandesal (“BP”). Each brand offers specialized products such as fruit-based beverages and desserts and freshly-baked 
goods. 
 

Buko ni Fruitas (BNF) – BNF started in August 2005, when it opened its first kiosk in Robinsons Manila. It serves 
fresh coconut-based beverages and desserts. As of September 30, 2021, it has a total of 37 kiosks and inline 
stores located across the Philippines.  
 
Fruitas House of Desserts (FHOD) – Following the success of the BNF Brand, the Company launched the FHOD 
brand to expand its product portfolio to healthy desserts, fresh fruit shakes and juices, boba shakes, and milk 
tea. For the past nine (9) years, the FHOD brand has grown to nine (9) kiosks and inline stores as of the end of 
September 2021.  
 
Balai Pandesal (BP) -Balai Pandesal was a brand acquired by the Company in June 2021, allowing the entry of 
BALAI into the baked goods industry. The BP acquisition also included initial inventories, technical know-how, 
equipment and vehicle, trademark, and franchise agreements for five (5) stores. The Company was able to grow 
the BP store network to 23 community stores, which includes 17 company-owned and 6 franchised stores within 
3 months after the acquisition.  

 
As of September 30, 2021, BALAI has a total of 69 stores across the country, of which 91% are company-owned stores, 
operating in three (3) store formats such as a community store, kiosks and inline stores. All of these stores are all located 
in high-foot traffic areas and easily accessible by public transport such as malls, markets and central business districts. In 
addition, BALAI products are also available through the FHI’s own e-commerce website, Babotsmart.com and through 
other online delivery and social media platforms such as Foodpanda, and Grabfood. 
 
The brands across its portfolio allows BALAI to serve a wide array of products to the local market while the variety of 
store formats enable the Company to be flexible and expand faster. The Company believes its business model is highly 
scalable, as evidenced by its store network expansion in the past years.   
  
Certain key dates and milestones for the Company’s business are set forth below.  
 
Year   Milestone 
2005 ▪ Incorporation of Buko Ni Fruitas, Inc.   

▪ In the same year, the first “Buko Ni Fruitas” store was opened in Robinsons Manila.  
2012 ▪ “Fruitas House of Desserts” was launched. 

▪ In August of the same year, the first “Fruitas House of Desserts” store was opened in Robinsons 
Magnolia.  

▪ In December of the same year, “Balai Pandesal” opened its first store at Mindanao Ave.  
       2017 The Company becomes a 100% subsidiary of Fruitas Holdings Inc.  

2021 ▪ In the month of June, the Company acquired the assets of “Balai Pandesal”. 
▪ In the same month, the first “Balai Pandesal” Company-owned store opened at Kamuning, Quezon City.  
▪ Renaming of Buko Ni Fruitas Inc. to Balai Ni Fruitas Inc.  

 
The Company renamed from Buko ni Fruitas Inc., to Balai Ni Fruitas Inc. to reflect its intention to mainly focus its 
growth in expanding the network of BP stores.  
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Competitive Strengths 

 
The Company believes that it benefits from the following competitive strengths which will support the continued growth 
and profitability. 
 
A strong brand portfolio 
 
The Company opened its first Buko Ni Fruitas store in 2005. Since then, it has also built-up and acquired distinct brands 
such as Fruitas House of Desserts and Balai Pandesal. These brands have gained a significant following among Filipinos, 
and continue to enjoy strong sales.  
 
Through its 16 years of experience, the Company has developed an excellent understanding of its market. As of 
September 30, 2021, the Company has 69 active kiosks/stores, offering fresh baked goods, and fruit-based desserts, 
among others. The strong brand portfolio allows the Company to expand quickly, makes it a preferred choice among 
lessors, and allows it to effectively compete as appropriate concepts are placed in the right locations. The Company’s 
brands have been built on the basis of value for money, affordability, and consistency of quality, and which cater to 
customers across the Philippines. The Company believes that it has developed a customer base that regularly consumes 
its products and they value (i) the wide and varied menu of food and beverage offerings; (ii) the fresh and tasty 
ingredients; (iii) the affordable and attractive price points; and (iv) the accessible locations.  
 
The Company has a strong ability to bring its products to the market using innovative marketing strategies. The marketing 
programs are developed by a highly experienced in-house marketing team. To promote the brands, the team utilizes 
extensive and innovative marketing campaigns, brand communication campaigns, and advertising campaigns via media 
platforms such as digital, traditional newspaper, magazine, billboards, television and radio. 
 
The Company’s long operating history, together with the parent company, has helped BALAI develop a loyal customer 
base. The Company’s current footprint is concentrated in Metro Manila, but BALAI also intends to also expand in 
provincial areas going forward. 
 
Multiple store formats as a sales channel, which provides flexibility to tailor stores to suit needs of different local 
markets.  
 
BALAI has multiple store formats, ranging from kiosks, inline store, to community stores. These various store formats are 
tailored to suit the needs of the consumers in the markets. Since the Company is present nationwide, it has a deep 
knowledge and understanding of the areas it operates in. BALAI customizes and fits its brands to the preference of the 
consumers in the area. Based on customer feedback, input from the operations team, and results of the audit on 
franchised stores, BALAI continually updates and improves its stores, in terms of overall look and design and to allow the 
store staff to serve the customers better. 
 
Scalable and sustainable business model 
 
The Company believes that it has a well-developed, scalable, and sustainable business model. In the case of BP, selected 
BP stores supply baked goods to the other BP stores. Other products and raw materials are delivered by the supplier 
directly to the store. 
 
BALAI has identified multiple key suppliers that it maintains healthy relationships with, which contract terms ranges 
from a period of up to 3 years and is renewable on a case-to-case basis. The key suppliers of the Company help manage 
its costs and maintain the quality and consistency of its menu offerings.  
 
The Company has been investing heavily on its human capital. Additional personnel were hired to further support the 
operations. The Company decided to take this strategy in anticipation of faster network expansion and to maintain quality 
of our products and services. 
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Proven track record on brand introduction  
 
The Company has a history of brand introductions. When introducing new brands, it considers the following: (1) it should 
synergize with the existing supply chain of the Company; (2) it should be replicable and scalable, allowing the Company 
to open multiple branches; (3) it should add value to the Company through strong sales.  
 
In June 2021, the Company successfully acquired Balai Pandesal’s assets, initial inventories, equipment (not utilized by 
previous owner), trademark, technical know-how, and franchise agreement for 5 stores. The Company oversaw a 
successful integration of Balai Pandesal into its operations. The Company believes that its acquisition of Balai Pandesal 
enhanced its operational efficiency and improved product quality. The Company also improved the layout of the Balai 
Pandesal through rebranding. Since the introduction of Balai Pandesal in June 2021, the stores have grown from 5 to 23 
stores as of September 30, 2021. The Company’s revenues grew from ₱74.2 million for the first nine (9) months of 2020 
to ₱88.6 million in the first nine (9) months of 2021.  
 
Ideally positioned to take advantage of growing Philippine middle class  
 
The Philippines is one of the most attractive foodservice markets, driven by economic growth and increasing urbanization. 
The Philippine economy is primarily driven by consumer expenditure sustained by remittances from overseas Filipinos, 
strong investment and higher public spending. The rising personal disposable income and expanding working age 
population and middle-income class will further stimulate growth in consumer expenditure. However, the COVID-19 
pandemic and community quarantine measures imposed in the country have impacted economic growth and poverty 
reduction, thus contracting growth significantly in 2020. Economic contraction was driven heavily by declines in 
consumption and investment growth, and aggravated by the sharp slowdown in exports, tourism, and remittances. The 
Philippine economy has started to recover in the first half of 2021, buoyed by public investment and a recovery in the 
external environment. According to the Philippines Dietary Shift Analysis of Fitch Solutions released in May 2021, the 
average Filipino household will spend 34.5% of their total household budget on food in 2025. This is an increase of 4.8% 
and from 29.8% total share recorded in 2006.  
 
Furthermore, the Company believes that its stores are located in strategic locations nationwide. As of September 30, 
2021, the stores, both owned and franchised, numbered 50 in the NCR, 17 in Luzon (outside of the NCR), and 2 in the 
Visayas. These store locations were selected using a rigorous and stringent selection checklist to ensure an addressable 
market and a steady flow of customers.  
 
The Company’s strength is not only dependent on its physical stores but also on its personnel on the ground. Since BALAI 
owns 91% of its stores, the Company also has manpower who directly serve and monitor the area and market per 
location. This enables it to formulate its strategies fit for the locations. BALAI gains its knowledge and insights on the 
locations it operates in through its own manpower stationed in its stores.  
 
Highly experienced and nimble management team 
 
BALAI is led by a highly experienced and dedicated management team with a proven track record of success. The senior 
management team has a combined industry experience of over 50 years. The President and Chief Executive Officer, Lester 
C. Yu, opened the first Buko Ni Fruitas store in 2005 and has since been a key driver of its strategy and growth. He was 
named Emerging Entrepreneur of the Year in the Philippines by Ernst & Young in 2017. The senior management team 
remains attuned to operating performance and customer feedback. Also, the team significantly contributes to the 
research and development process by providing relevant inputs and direction for upgrading existing products and 
conceptualizing new product offerings to the market. The marketing function is also closely monitored by senior 
management to ensure effective communication of our brands.  
 
The executive management team has been able to build and fine-tune the Company’s business model through the years, 
and is responsible for growing the revenue from ₱210.2 million in 2018 to ₱233.2 million in 2019, equivalent to a growth 
of 11%. 
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Aside from experienced employees within the industry, BALAI has also employed highly competent individuals who are 
highly experienced in their previous fields. These individuals add knowledge and expertise and BALAI benefits from their 
insights in operating the Company.  
 
The list of the Company’s management team is located at page [101] of this Prospectus. 
  
Key Strategies, Future Plans, And Projects  

 
In order to drive sustainable growth, the Company continues to pursue the following strategies: 
 
Pursue aggressive network expansion to take advantage of Philippine economic expansion as well as rapid 
urbanization of regions outside Metro Manila 
 
As of the end of September 30, 2021, BALAI has an aggregate of 69 stores throughout the Philippines, comprising 23 BP 
stores and a combined 46 BNF and FHOD stores. The Company believes that there are significant development 
opportunities remaining in the Philippines, especially in underserved key cities outside the National Capital Region. BALAI 
will solidify its presence in existing markets and expand its foothold in fast-growing cities by expanding and developing 
its store network. BALAI intends to expand in key locations and fast-growing emerging urban centers over the coming 
years, particularly in the rest of Luzon (outside NCR), Visayas and Mindanao. The Company will mainly focus on expanding 
the network of BP stores, creating products for different market segments and consumer lifestyles, but will also expand 
the footprint of its other existing brands and future acquisitions depending on, among others, market opportunities and 
commercial considerations.  The Company targets to expand its BP store network to 100 stores by end of 2022, 150 stores 
by end of 2023, and 200 stores by end of 2026.  Vast majority of the new BP stores will be Company-owned, but the 
Company will strategically grant franchises to accelerate its expansion.   
 
Increase same store and e-commerce sales growth 
 
The Company targets to increase same-store sales growth by increasing transaction count and average check through 
attracting new customers, converting first-time customers into repeat and loyal customers, and improving the overall 
customer experience. In March 2020, as the World Health Organization (“WHO”) declared the COVID-19 virus a 
pandemic, BALAI’s online sales grew. As of September 30, 2021, online sales contributed up to 8% of the gross sales. With 
the infrastructure that the Company has, online sales will be a contributor to the growth of the Company.   
 
BALAI will continue to invest in its brands through advertising and marketing initiatives to further grow customer 
awareness and build on brand loyalty among existing consumer base. 
 
Innovate and introduce new products to satisfy evolving consumer tastes and preferences 
 
The operations department provides the Company with constant feedback and allows it to monitor evolving tastes and 
preferences of the customers. BALAI initially obtains its deep knowledge on consumer preference through the personnel 
who are always present on the ground. Aside from physical observations, the Company also makes use of social-media 
platforms as avenues to monitor consumer preferences. These platforms help BALAI engage with the customers easily 
and gather feedback on existing and new products being offered. In addition, the Company’s own research and 
development (R&D) team continuously work on developing new products created with fresh and high-quality ingredients 
and new flavors and variants of our existing products, which appeal to the existing customers and attract new consumers. 
For the segregated R&D costs, for the year ended December 31, 2019, BALAI spent ₱0.68 million solely and exclusively 
on R&D activities, and for the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company spent ₱0.37 million. 
 
Diversify distribution channels 
 
The acquisition of the Balai Pandesal business enabled the Company to expand to the baked goods industry. The Company 
continuously creates and offers products for different market segments and consumer lifestyles. The Company aims to 
offer its products on a larger scale in existing markets and explore new markets. The Company continuously analyzes 
existing and future channels of distribution and adopts measures to increase reach and sales in the markets of interest. 
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A strong online and e-commerce presence is key to growth in the new normal. The Company obtains a significant 
customer base via online delivery channels such as Foodpanda, Grabfood and www.BabotsMart.com, the Group’s 
website. 
 
Brands and menu offerings 
 

No. Brands Year 
Established Products 

1 Balai Pandesal 2012 Baked goods, frozen items, chilled items, and dry goods.  

2 Buko Ni Fruitas  2005 
Desserts (buko and fruit salads served in coconut shell), fresh 
coconut juice and buko smoothies (combination of buko 
meat shaken with other fruits) 

3 Fruitas House of Desserts  2012 Dessert, fresh fruit shakes and juices, boba shakes and 
milktea 

 
BP stores cross-sell the products it obtains from its suppliers. This marketing method allows the stores to get a customer 
to spend more by purchasing related products. For example, the crew suggests that the customer purchasing baked goods 
also buy chilled drinks. 
 
Stores 
  

BRAND NAME NUMBER OF STORES 
As of December 31 As of Sept. 30 

2018 2019 2020 2021 

Balai Pandesal 
Company-owned - - - 17 
Franchised - - - 6 
Total - - - 23 

Buko Ni Fruitas  
Company-owned 63 56 51 37 
Franchised - - - - 
Total 63 56 51 37 

Fruitas House of Desserts  
Company-owned 14 27 23 9 
Franchised - - - - 
Total 14 27 23 9 

 GRAND TOTAL 77 83 74 69 
 
Store Breakdown Per Region 
 

Brand Name Number of Stores by Region 
As of December 31 As of Sept. 30 

2018 2019 2020 2021 

Balai Pandesal 

NCR - - - 21 
Luzon (ex. NCR) - - - 2 
Visayas - - - - 
Mindanao - - - - 
Total - - - 23 

Buko ni Fruitas 

NCR 38 35 33 23 
Luzon (ex. NCR) 15 15 14 12 
Visayas 10 6 4 2 
Mindanao - - - - 
Total 63 56 51 37 

Fruitas House of Desserts  

NCR 6 14 11 6 
Luzon (ex. NCR) 4 8 6 3 
Visayas 4 5 6 - 
Mindanao - - - - 
Total 14 27 23 9 

 GRAND TOTAL 77 83 74 69 
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Number of Stores by Region 
As of December 31 As of September 30 

2018 2019 2020 2021 
Company-owned 
NCR 44 49 44 44 
Luzon (ex. NCR) 19 23 20 17 
Visayas 14 11 10 2 
Mindanao - - - - 
Total 77 83 74 63 
Franchised 
NCR - - - 6 
Luzon (ex. NCR) - - - - 
Visayas - - - - 
Mindanao - - - - 
Total - - - 6 
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The following map indicates the provinces where the Company is present throughout the Philippines, as of September 
30, 2021. 
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Store Formats  
 
BALAI employs three (3) store formats to cater to a wide target market. These include community store, kiosk, and inline 
store. These are summarized as follows: 
 
The details for our store formats are summarized as follows: 

Store Type Description Typical 
Size Typical Location 

Community 
Store 

 

30 - 40 
sq. m.  

Roadside stores present 
in central business 
districts and 
neighborhoods 

Kiosk 

 

        
 

4 – 8 sq. 
m.  

Malls, food courts, 
corporate buildings, 
schools, hospitals 

Inline Store 

 

           
 

20 - 35 
sq. m.  

Malls, commercial 
establishments, food 
courts 

 
Store management and operations   
 
Community Store, Kiosk, and Inline Store 
 
Each store typically has one (1) to two (2) crew members. To lead the store personnel, the Company has Area Supervisors 
who are typically responsible for seven (7) to ten (10) stores. The Area Supervisor is responsible for the efficient day to 
day operations of the stores by managing and coordinating stock inventories and deliveries with logistics, managing 
personnel conduct and schedules, accounting all cash sales against inventories, ensuring that all records are updated and 
transparent. The Company also has Area Managers, typically responsible for 30 to 50 stores, handling a team of area 
supervisors and service crew. The Area Managers assess and monitor store operations to ensure that all company 
standards in the field of food safety and handling, personnel management, customer service and store operations are 
met. The Area Managers also examine and analyze all relevant data in the field of operations and provide 
recommendations to the Central Operations Head in the areas of new business opportunities and process improvement. 
 
All staff members of each store are required to undergo refresher courses or training annually in order to ensure 
consistent quality in our products and services. We also conduct periodic spot or surprise audits to ensure that the quality 
of stores, service level of the crew, stocks and products are up to par with our Company’s standards. The Company also 
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rely on social media, among others, for feedback, which we believe is the strongest form of review. In any case of 
deviation, the Company initiates remedial action. As part of the management and supervision over the system-wide 
operations, the Company is committed to undertake upgrades and renovations at each store.  
 
Franchise operations  
 
As of September 30, 2021, the Company has two (2) franchisees operating a total of six (6) franchised stores across NCR. 
It has a thorough qualification criteria and a training program for its franchisees and requires them to adhere to strict 
operating standards. Franchised stores must be operated in compliance with its standards and specifications regarding 
menu items, ingredients, materials, supplies, services, fixtures, furnishing, decor and signs.  
 
The Company provides advice to franchisees regarding the store location, conducts an ocular of the space, provides 
assistance in terms of relocation should the franchisee generate low sales, negotiates with the lessor regarding advance 
rental, security deposit, and rental rate, and assistance in terms of management, manpower, maintenance, and logistics. 
 
Prior to the opening of a franchised store, BALAI conducts training and seminars for its crew and management. It also 
conducts spot audits on a periodic basis to ensure that the quality of community stores/kiosks/inline store and training 
of crew is still in accordance with the policies and procedures of our Company. The periodic audits also ensure that the 
supplies and raw materials used by the franchisee are managed properly. Apart from the periodic audits, the Company 
also relies on various media such as social media, corporate website, and designated hotline numbers for feedback and 
monitoring of the stores.   
 
Franchisee Selection Conditions and Criteria 
 
Key Terms 
 
The Company’s current franchise agreement provides for a monthly franchise fee to operate in a single location covering 
an initial two-year term, subject to annual renewal thereafter. Future franchise agreements may also provide for a one-
time franchise fee paid upfront. 
 
The franchise agreement obligates franchisees to achieve and maintain a high-performance level of the franchised outlet. 
It also requires franchisees to operate the branch during the entire term of his or her contract with due diligence and 
efficiency so as to produce the maximum gross sales possible by such manner of operation. Franchisees are allowed to 
sell only our products in the stores. Franchisees are obligated to protect and enhance the reputation and goodwill of the 
Company and the products.  
 
The franchise agreement also requires that franchisees maintain at the place of business operation his books of accounts 
and accounting reports. Furthermore, franchisees are obligated to keep true and accurate records of transactions on the 
store at all times. 
 
Under the franchise agreement, the franchisee is responsible for the recruitment and hiring of his or her store’s 
personnel. However, if requested, the Company can assist in the recruitment, hiring, and training of staff at a reasonable 
fee to be charged to the franchisee. The franchisee and all service crew are required to undergo training and orientation 
from the Company to ensure quality of service and store operations are up to par with that of the Company. 
 
Franchisees cover all expenses involved in operating the branch, including but not limited to, the salaries of the 
employees, advertising expenses, etc.  
 
If a franchisee fails to comply with the terms of its franchise agreement, the Company has multiple remedies depending 
on the particular circumstances, including providing additional assistance to help the franchisee resolve its operating 
issues, issuing a formal default notice and providing the franchisee a specific cure period within which to correct its 
operating deficiencies, or commencing a formal legal proceeding to enforce the franchisee’s compliance with its 
contractual obligations. If necessary, because all other appropriate remedies to enforce the franchisee’s compliance with 
its standards and requirements have proven to be unsuccessful, the Company may also terminate the franchise rights of 
any non-compliant franchisee or take over the franchised store. 
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Application Process 
 
Interested franchisees are required to submit a letter of intent; after which BALAI provides the franchise applicant a 
formal franchise application form. The Company typically evaluates the application for one (1) to two (2) weeks, after 
which it invites the franchise applicant to the head office for a franchise presentation. BALAI encourages all franchise 
applicants to appear personally in order to further understand the business and appreciate its facilities. 
 
Once the franchise applicants determine the location where they prefer to open their store, the Company then conducts 
an ocular of the space and negotiate with the lessor in terms of rental and security deposits among others. 
 
Prior to the opening of the store, the franchise applicant and all crew members are required to attend an orientation and 
training for proper management of the store. 
 
New Store / Site Development  
 
The Company believes there is significant growth opportunity in both existing and new markets. As of September 30, 
2021, the total number of stores stood at 69. BALAI continues to identify other target areas for expansion in the following 
year.  
 
The initial capital investment required for a new store ranges from ₱300,000 to ₱1 million. To begin operations, it takes 
approximately one (1) month on average for the kiosk, and approximately three (3) months on average for the inline 
store and community stores for the completion of store requirements and fabrication or construction of the outlet. BALAI 
believes that its stores have strong cash flow generation and are self-sustaining. The stores typically earn back the initial 
capital investment within eighteen (18) to twenty-four (24) months from commencing operations. 
 
The Company considers the location of a store to be a critical variable in its long-term success and as such, the 
management regularly evaluates existing stores to identify expansion and relocation opportunities. BALAI uses various 
criteria, including demographic characteristics, daytime population thresholds and traffic patterns, along with the 
potential visibility and accessibility of the store in evaluating a site. The Company also pays attention to the location and 
performance of other stores and competitors in that particular geographic location and seek large catchment areas in 
key cities and regions. In addition, BALAI conducts studies to minimize the risk of cannibalization among stores. 
 
The process for selecting locations incorporates the management’s experience and expertise and includes market 
research and analysis. Additionally, BALAI uses information and intelligence gathered from managers and other store 
personnel that live in or near the central business districts considered.  
 
BALAI believes that there are still significant network expansion opportunities within NCR, but it continues to look at key 
urban regions in provincial areas outside of NCR to execute its growth strategy. The Company targets locations with high 
potential foot traffic, which are near transport hubs, hospitals, schools, office buildings, and residential communities. 
BALAI continues to diversify its distribution channels and have started to offer its products through delivery using digital 
and traditional channels. Expansion into new markets is triggered through the ongoing evaluation of existing market 
penetration and identifying development opportunities. The criteria for evaluating market expansion opportunities 
includes depth of target customers, geographic positioning relative to the current store base, estimated potential, 
availability of good site locations and competition penetration, among other things. 
 
Menu and product development  
 
BALAI believes that effective menu management and product development is important in its line of business. While 
creating distinct products is very important, it believes that the timely introduction of new products can attract new 
customers and increase frequency of visits for existing customers. The Company has a very active research and 
development (“R&D”) team which continuously focuses on developing new products, and conducts food experiments for 
its retail business. This enables the Company to adapt to evolving food and beverage trends and the strategy enables the 
Company to execute regular product launches and maintain competitiveness in the industry.  
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Aside from newly developed products, the R&D team also experimented on product synergies. Having several brands 
enable the Company to create multiple product pairings which further broaden the menu and continuously create new 
offerings to the market. 
 
Logistics and Distribution Services 
 
The Company’s operations are supported through a combination of its in-house logistics and distribution services and 
direct delivery of supplies to its outlets by some of its suppliers. Its in-house logistics services currently use three (3) 
vehicles for deliveries of various raw materials, packaging materials and finished goods to the stores. Baked products are 
produced in specific stores and are delivered to other outlets on a daily basis.            
 
Customers 
 
The Company’s customers include individuals who consume its products, franchisees who source finished products from 
BALAI, and FGI, which currently sources baked goods from the Company. None of BALAI’s customers individually make a 
significant contribution to our revenues. The Company does not currently export any of its products.  
 
Suppliers  
 
The Company maintains mutually beneficial relationships with strategic supply partners to deliver purchasing 
arrangements. BALAI conducts meetings with suppliers to share the Company’s strategy, solicit feedback and suggestions 
from key suppliers. 
 
Almost all of the purchased raw materials are delivered directly to specific stores. The Area Supervisor acts as Quality 
Control Personnel, who immediately conducts standard inspections and testing procedures. When any of the raw 
materials fail quality standards, the Company engages the concerned supplier in discussion and formally inform them 
through a written complaint that details the curing period and request.  
 
The Company’s supply partner selection procedures include, among others, on-site visit, assessment of legal status, track 
record and quality control system check. The Company’s selection criteria also take into account prices, service delivery, 
and ability to meet the delivery schedule. BALAI maintains a geographically diverse supplier base to ensure supply all year 
round.  
 
BALAI has not experienced any significant difficulties in identifying alternate suppliers for raw materials and have not had 
any material dispute with its suppliers, nor any disruption, shortage or delay in the supply of raw materials that may 
affect its operations and financial condition. 
 
The Company’s key suppliers include FGI for buko juice, buko shells and meat, packaging, and other raw materials. Negril 
Trading Inc. for Jamaican Patties, Soykingdom Inc. for soy products, and Morning Star and AGRI Pacific for flour.  
 
Marketing  
 
The Company’s focal marketing objective is to further strengthen the leadership of its brands in their respective 
categories and increase awareness and usage and seek to eventually develop them to become category leaders. BALAI 
continues to be aggressive in marketing to further nurture and improve its brand equity and grow its customer base and 
increase sales.  
 
For Buko Ni Fruitas and Fruitas House of Desserts, visibility in major malls has been helpful to brand awareness and recall. 
BNF maintains a strong working relationship with major malls in the Philippines, such as SM, Ayala, and Robinsons and 
this has been a key driver to the growth of both brands. Mall advertising and promotions have been evident to reach 
customers.  
 
As a part of the Company’s marketing efforts, the Company conducts promos across its brands, ensures customer 
centricity, and quality products. The Company’s brands have been active online through its social media accounts where 
it can communicate with its customers.  
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Competition  
 
The food and beverage business for kiosks and community stores in the Philippines is highly competitive. The level of 
competition varies from region to region with most industry players aggressively expanding store network and/or product 
offerings.  The Company continuously improves its products and improve its stores to remain competitive. BALAI 
constantly looks for new ways on how to market its products, ensure quality is maintained, and keep its stores appealing 
and clean to encourage customer loyalty. 
 
The Company has several competitors in each of the segments it is present in. As of the date of the Prospectus, the major 
competitors per key segment are as follows: 
 
Key Segment BNF Brand Competitor 
Baked Goods Balai Pandesal  The French Baker, BreadTalk, Pan De Manila, Julie’s 

Bakeshop and Panaderia All Day Hot Pandesal  
Fruit-based Desserts  Buko Ni Fruitas, Fruitas House of Desserts  Icebergs, Kabigting’s Halo-halo, Avocadoria, Maxi 

Mango 
 
For the relative size of each of our competitors, please refer to page [71] – Industry. 
 
The Company constantly introduces new product offerings and enhance existing product offerings to adapt to evolving 
consumer preferences.  
 
Properties  
 
As of September 30, 2021, the Company does not own any material real property. It leases its head office at 68 Data St., 
Don Manuel, Quezon City. The Company’s key properties also comprise of it stores leases, see Annex B. 
 

Location Lease Term Area Size 
Offices   
68 Data St., Brgy. Don Manuel, Quezon City December 1, 2021 – August 31, 2022  20 sq. m.  
Store Leases   
SM Supermarket Megamall  April 1, 2021 – March 31, 2022 6.43 sq. m.  
Robinsons Place Manila  January 1, 2020 – December 31, 2021 3.60 sq. m.  
Festival Mall Alabang  November 1, 2021 – October 31, 2022 12.00 sq. m.  
SM City Sta. Rosa  February 1, 2021 – January 31, 2022 2.50 sq. m.  
SM City Valenzuela  May 1, 2021 – April 30, 2022 5.00 sq. m.  
SM City Pampanga  May 1, 2021 – April 30, 2022 6.00 sq. m.   
SM Supermarket Cubao  April 1, 2021 – July 31, 2022 6.77 sq. m.  
SM City North Edsa  August 1, 2021 – July 31, 2022 9.47 sq. m.  
SM Megamall  May 1, 2021 – April 30, 2022 6.175 sq. m.  
SM City Fairview November 1, 2020 – October 31, 2021 9.00 sq. m.  
SM City Sta. Mesa August 1, 2021 – September 30, 2022 6.25 sq. m.  
Greenhills Shopping Center May 26, 2021 – October 31, 2021 6.25 sq. m.  
SM City Taytay November 1, 2020 – October 31, 2021 5.36 sq. m.  
SM City Iloilo August 1, 2021 – January 31, 2022 6.00 sq. m.  
Cash & Carry Mall June 1, 2021 – November 30, 2021 9.81 sq. m.  
SM City Masinag May 15, 2021 – April 30, 2022 5.88 sq. m.  
Puregold San Mateo February 1, 2020 – January 31, 2022 5.75 sq. m.  
SM City Calamba February 1, 2021 – January 31, 2022 6.00 sq. m.  
SM Supermarket Calamba April 1, 2021 – July 31, 222 7.65 sq. m.  
SM City Marikina February 1, 2021 – January 31, 2022 5.00 sq. m.  
SM City Rosales April 1, 2021 – May 31, 2022 5.90 sq. m.  
SM City Manila May 1, 2021 – April 30, 2022 7.40 sq. m.  
Trinoma Mall Food Choices May 1, 2019 – April 30, 2022 6.09 sq. m.  
SM By the Bay August 1, 2021 – July 31, 2022 4.00 sq. m.  
SM City Naga May 1, 2021 – April 30, 2022 6.10 sq. m.  
SM City Tarlac November 1, 2020- October 31, 2021 4.19 sq. m.  
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Puregold Kalentong August 1, 2021 – July 31, 2022 5.00 sq. m.  
SM City Cabanatuan November 1, 2020 – October 31, 2021 4.00 sq. m.  
SM City Bacolod November 1, 2020 – April 30, 2022 8.71 sq. m.  
Robinsons Galleria November 1, 2020 – October 31, 2022 8.50 sq. m.  
Ayala Malls Cloverleaf Food Choices January 1, 2021 – December 31, 2021 8.66 sq. m.  
Puregold Makati February 1, 2021 – January 31, 2022 4.25 sq. m.  
Ayala Malls Feliz January 1, 2021 – December 31, 2021 6.00 sq. m.  
Puregold Tayuman November 1, 2021 – October 31, 2022 4.00 sq. m.  
Puregold Valenzuela February 1, 2021 – January 31, 2022 4.45 sq. m.  
SM City Telabastagan November 1, 2021- April 30, 2022 3.50 sq. m.  
Landmark Trinoma/Supermarket January 2021 – January 2022 10.60 sq. m.  
Victory Central Mall Caloocan June 1, 2021 – May 31, 2022 3.00 sq. m.  
SM City Legazpi August 1, 2021 – January 31, 2022 6.68 sq. m.  
SM Supermarket Novaliches August 1, 2021 – July 31, 2022 7.50 sq. m.  
Glorietta 3 January 1, 2021 – December 31, 2022 24.90 sq. m.  
SM City Dasmariñas December 1, 2021 – October 31, 2021 5.00 sq. m.  
SM City Olongapo Central May 1, 2021 – April 30, 2022 4.11 sq. m.  
Market! Market! Food Choices January 1, 2021 – December 1, 2021 4.00 sq. m.  
SM Supermarket Podium December 1, 2020 – November 30, 2021 4.09 sq. m.  
22 Tandang Sora Ave, Quezon City July 15, 2021 – July 15, 2022 28.12 sq. m.  
2439 F Burke House Pedro Gil St. Sta. Ana Manila June 15, 2021 – December 31, 2022 62.00 sq. m.  
8137 Plaza, Escriva Drive San Antonio, Ortigas Center Pasig June 10, 2021 – June 10, 2023 34.58 sq. m.  
8155 Dr. A. Santos Ave., San Dionisio, Parañaque City March 15, 2021 – March 15, 2022 50.00 sq. m.  
742 Banawe Ave, Brgy. Siena, Quezon City June 1, 2021 – June 1, 2023 37.00 sq. m.  
Howard Tower, N. Carpio St. Caloocan City April 12, 2021 – April 12, 2023 38.05 sq. m.  
61 Anonas, Quirino 2A, Project 2, Quezon City August 16, 2021 – August 15, 2023 50.00 sq. m.  
147 N. Domingo St. Quezon City August 1, 2021 – July 31, 2022 37.00 sq. m.  
1407 Quezon Ave, Quezon City July 1, 2021 – July 1, 2023 43.00 sq. m.  
Vecsum Building, Reina Regente St. Binondo, Manila May 1, 2021 – April 30, 2024 33.00 sq. m.  
Felix Reyes St. Brgy. Balibago, Sta. Rosa Laguna May 15, 2021 – May 14, 2022 38.85 sq. m.  
3961 Ramon Magsaysay Blvd. Sta. Mesa, Manila July 1, 2021 – July 20, 2022 6.25 sq. m.  
Holy Spirit Drive Cor. Guillermo St. Quezon City July 15, 2021 -July 15, 2022 35.00 sq. m.  
353 G. Araneta Ave., Quezon City September 9, 2021 – September 8, 2022 43.80 sq. m.  
177 Sumulong Highway, Brgy. Mayamot, Antipolo City July 6, 2021 – July 6, 2023 23.50 sq. m.  
Goldstar Bldg. K3rd cor. L. Shangio St. Kamuning, Quezon City August 15, 2021 – February 28, 2023 22.50 sq. m.  
126 B. Gonzales St. Xavierville 2, Loyola Height, Quezon City December 1, 2020 – November 30, 2021 150.00 sq. m.  
SM City Fairview February 1, 2021 – January 31, 2022 7.70 sq. m.  
 
Material Permits and Licenses  
 
Our Compliance department is responsible for ensuring continued compliance with applicable laws and regulations that 
may adversely affect our operations. As of the date of this Prospectus, we have secured, applied for, or are in the process 
of renewing all material permits and licenses required to conduct our business, as confirmed by [Law Office to be 
Identified] in its legal opinion dated [Date]. 
 
We hold various permits for our business operations, which include but are not limited to the following:  

Head Office SEC Certificate of Incorporation 
 BIR Certificate of Registration 
 Business Permit 
 SSS Registration 
 HDMF Registration 
 Philhealth Registration 
Commercial/Store BIR Certificate of Registration 
 Business Permit 

 
Attached as Annex “A” hereof is a list of the material permits and licenses held, applied for, or being renewed, by the 
Company and its Philippine operating subsidiaries. 
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Material Agreements  
 
Lease Agreements  
The Company entered into several lease agreements with third parties for its store spaces for varying periods of up to 
one (1) year and renewable annually. The lease contracts for the stores provide for a monthly rental based on a certain 
percentage of gross sales and a monthly fixed rental or an agreed minimum rental, whichever is higher. Lease agreements 
are generally renewable through a notice of lease renewal and upon mutual agreement with the lessor.  
 
Franchise Agreements 
The Company has granted its franchisees the right to operate outlets under the BP brand for acquired periods and subject 
to the terms and conditions specified in the franchise agreements. 
 
The agreements are renewable at the option of the Company. The agreements provide for an initial franchise fee payable 
upon execution of the agreements, the non-refundable initial franchise fee payment covers the renovation of franchisee’s 
unit, signage, promotional materials, and equipment.  
 
As of September 30, 2021, the Company has 6 franchised stores under 2 franchisees.  
 
Supplier Agreement  
 
The Company enters into standard supplier agreements with multiple key suppliers for the steady supply of its key raw 
materials and packaging. The term of the supplier agreement is for a period of up to 3 years and is renewable on a case-
to-case basis.  
 
Administrative Consulting Agreement  
The Company enters into an Administrative Consulting Agreement with FHI. Under the agreement, FHI and its 
management provides the direction and guidance of the overall strategy of BALAI, and contribute inputs on the 
Company’s day-to-day operations. The term of the agreement is for a period of 12 months and is renewable on an annual 
basis.   
 
Balai Pandesal Asset Acquisition  
On May 2021, the Company entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with the previous owners of Balai Pandesal 
for the acquisition of certain assets of the brand. On the same day, the Company paid an earnest money to the previous 
owners and targeted to complete the acquisition no later than the end of June 2021, subject to execution of definitive 
terms and financial closing.  
 
On June 2021, the Company entered into a Deed of Absolute Sale and Deed of Assignment of registered trademark with 
the previous owners of Balai Pandesal. On the same date, the Company made a payment equivalent to 50% of the 
purchase price, net of the earnest money. The remaining 50% shall be paid in equal monthly installments over the next 
12 months. The asset acquisition involved, among others, trademark, recipes and other technical know-hows, certain 
equipment, and inventory.  
 
Intellectual Property  
 
The business depends on the use or ownership of patents, trademarks, and other intellectual property rights. As of the 
date of this Prospectus, the Company has the following registered trademarks in the Philippines. 
 

No. Trademarks Registration No. Date of Registration Date of Filing Date of 
Expiry 

1 Buko Ni Fruitas Fresh From Babot’s 
Farm  4201000489 2010-12-31 2010-05-11 2020-12-31 

2 Fruitas House of Desserts 42013006808 2015-10-22 2013-06-13 2025-10-22 
3 Balai Pandesal  42021514303 2021-10-29 2021-06-18 2031-10-29 

4 Balai Pandesal Home of Hot 
Pandesalitas  42021516331 2021-09-17 2021-07-12 2031-09-17 
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The Company believes that its trademarks, service marks and other intellectual property rights have significant value and 
are important to the marketing of our brands. It is the Company’s policy to protect and defend its rights to such 
intellectual property. However, it cannot predict whether steps taken to protect such rights will be adequate. See ‘‘Risk 
Factors—Risks Related to our Business— The Company’s intellectual property rights could be infringed or it could infringe 
the intellectual property rights of others”. 
 
The Company licenses the use of its registered trademarks through franchise agreements. These agreements restrict 
franchisees with respect to the use of its trademarks and impose quality control standards in connection with goods and 
services offered in connection with the trademarks. 
 
An important part of the intellectual property strategy is the monitoring and enforcement of its rights in markets in which 
our stores currently exist or markets which it intends to enter in the future.  The Company also ensures that it conducts 
the required due diligence to ensure that its conduct does not infringe on the intellectual property rights of third parties.  
 
Information Technology and Management Systems  
 
The Company’s information technology and management system enables it to make timely and accurate decisions. 
 
The Company uses internal systems to monitor sales, purchases, inventories, and financial results. These systems help 
monitor the movement of products through the various process steps. It will also alert of any drop in inventory of critical 
ingredients, with consumption rate, sales projection and suppliers' delivery lead time being the basis of computation 
whether inventory level is sufficient or not.   
 
Insurance 
  
The Company maintains insurance coverage on its stores in such amounts and covering such risks which are usually 
carried by companies engaged in similar businesses. BALAI maintains insurance policies that shoulder any undesired and 
unforeseen events or risks (including, among others, claims of food and drink poisoning) such as: fire and lighting, 
earthquake shock and earthquake fire, typhoon, rainwater, flood, tornado, hurricane, tsunami, tidal wave, landslide, 
subsidence and collapse, sinkhole collapse, falling aircraft, vehicle impact, explosion, smoke damage, riot, strike, 
malicious damage, civil commotion, broad water damage with accidental bursting and / or overflowing of water tanks, 
apparatus or pipes, sprinkler leakage, vandalism, spontaneous combustion, signage / plate glass, looting, and third-party 
liability for bodily injury and property damage insurance.  
  
The Company considers that the insurance coverage is consistent with industry practice and is adequate for the business 
operations. From time to time, BALAI reviews and assesses risks and adjust to insurance coverage as appropriate. As of 
September 30, 2020, the Company had not made nor had been subject to any material insurance claims and / or product 
liability claims.  
 
Human Resources  
 
As of September 30, 2021, the Company has 108 employees:  The following table sets out the number of our employees 
by rank: 

 
 BNF 
Senior Management/Managers 10 
Assistant Managers, Supervisors, Other Officers 9 
Staff 89 
Total 108 

 
BALAI has a good working relationship with its employees. Since commencing commercial operations, the Company has 
never experienced any strikes nor work stoppages. In the next 12 months, BALAI intends to hire up to 80 additional 
employees to augment and support the store network expansion.  
 
All of the Company’s regular employees receive government mandated benefits.  
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Legal Proceedings  
 
As of the date of this Prospectus, neither the Company nor any of its properties is engaged in or a subject of any material 
litigation, claims or arbitration either as plaintiff or defendant, which could be expected to have a material effect on the 
Company’s financial position and the Company is not aware of any facts likely to give rise to any proceedings which would 
materially and adversely affect the business or its operations. 
 
Investor Relations Office 
 
The Investor Relations Office will be tasked with (a) the creation and implementation of an investor relations program 
that reaches out to all shareholders and informs them of corporate activities and (b) the formulation of a clear policy for 
accurately, effectively and sufficiently communicating and relating relevant information to our stakeholders as well as to 
the broader investor community. 
 
The IRO will also be responsible for ensuring that the shareholders have timely and uniform access to official 
announcements, disclosures and market-sensitive information relating to us. As the officially designated spokesperson, 
the IRO will be responsible for receiving and responding to investor and shareholder queries. In addition, the IRO will 
oversee most aspects of shareholder meetings, press conferences, investor briefings, management of the investor 
relations portion of our website and the preparation of annual reports. The IRO will also be responsible for conveying 
information such as the policy on corporate governance and corporate social responsibility, as well as other qualitative 
aspects of the Company’s operations and performance. The Investor Relations Office will be located at 68 Data St., Don 
Manuel, Quezon City. The Company’s Investor Relations Officer will be Juneil Dominic P. Torio. The Investor Relations 
Office can be contacted at +63 2 8712-8361. 
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INDUSTRY 
 

New trends have emerged as the food service market remains relevant with the ongoing pandemic through (1) local food 
retailers leveraging on the availability of online sales channels; and (2) the emergence of resellers through small and 
medium enterprises. With the current work from home and online schooling set ups, there has been an increased demand 
for pantry items which include baked goods and ready-to-eat meals. 

The strong economic performance and the increase in number of food service establishments in the recent years has led 
to the strong performance of the country’s food service market sales. 
 
According to the Philippine Statistics Authority, food and non-alcoholic beverages consumption has grown at an average 
rate of 8.7% from 2016-2020 and grew at 7.5% in 2020 compared to 2019, despite the general contraction of the 
Philippine economy in 2020.  For the first three quarters of 2021, food and non-alcoholic beverages consumption grew 
at an average rate of 8.3%.  
 
Local businesses have begun increasing their presence in social media. This made prepared food more accessible and 
more affordable to consumers. Community resellers and home-based entrepreneurs were also given more opportunity 
to venture into businesses and would most likely continue even after the pandemic.  
 
The industry is characterized by fierce competition, which is fueled by high earning potential and the constant hunt for 
new products by customers. The many players compete on a variety of levels, including product offerings, pricing, and 
accessibility. Aside from competition, other risk considerations include the product's nature, the labor-intensive nature 
of the firm, raw material price volatility, and more. 
 
Local businesses have had to adopt to fast turnover of goods, health value proposition, improved logistics, effective raw 
material procurement, and first mover advantage in order to remain competitive. Players which can build a strong 
position in product niches will have a strategic edge. Aside from quality and availability, product distinctiveness will be 
critical to capitalize on the rising purchasing power of the growing population. 
 

Category Estimated Market Size, 
2020  

(in millions) 

Number of 
Stores 

Key Players 

1. Bakery 1,107.9 Over 678 Balai Pandesal, Pan de Manila, Julie’s Bakeshop, 
BreadTalk, French Baker, Panaderia All Day Hot 
Pandesal 

2. Fruit-based 
desserts 

213.5 210 Buko ni Fruitas, Fruitas House of Desserts, 
Icebergs, Kabigting’s Halo-halo, Avocadoria, Maxi 
Mango 

Source: Publicly available data, Securities and Exchange Commission 
 
Both the Bakery and the Fruit-based dessert categories of the food service industry have built an extensive network of 
stores through the years, with nationwide presence. Highlighted below are the top industry players for each category. 
 

Category Brand Market Size  
(Revenues, PHP Mn) 

% Share of Market Segment 

Bakery 

Pan de Manila 584.7 52.8% 
Julie’s Bakeshop 439.1 39.6% 
BreadTalk 80.8 7.3% 
Panaderia All Day Hot Pandesal 3.3 0.3% 
Balai Pandesal  N/A N/A 

Fruit-based 
Desserts 

Buko ni Fruitas/  
Fruitas House of Desserts 

110.1 51.6%  

Icebergs 66.0 30.9% 
Kabigting’s Halo-halo 16.9 7.9% 
Avocadoria 20.5 9.6% 



  

72 
 
 

Source: Publicly available data, Securities and Exchange Commission 
Notes: (1) 2020 revenues unless not publicly available; 2018 revenues for Icebergs and 2019 revenues for Kabigting’s. (2) Balai Pandesal 
brand was acquired by Balai Ni Fruitas Inc.  in June 2021; from 5 stores at time of acquisition, it has grown to 34 stores as of end-
November 2021, becoming one of the top 5 bakeries in terms of store network. 
 
Among the regions, NCR recorded the biggest per capita consumption of pan de sal at 254 pieces annually. Most 
households (97.9 to 98.8 percent), consume bread, with Pan de sal being the most popular with 54.3 percent of 
households reporting its consumption. Pan de sal is highly preferred in urban barangays and reaches an average per 
capita consumption of 314 pieces yearly. Moreover, the consumers’ preference for bread as a substitute to rice may 
contribute to the growth of consumption in this category. The Bakery business presents a good opportunity moving 
forward.  
 
According to the business data platform Statista, revenue in the Bread segment in the Philippines amounted to US$6,270 
million in 2021. 
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REGULATORY AND ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 
 

The information in this section has been derived from various Government and private publications or obtained from 
communications with various Government agencies unless otherwise indicated and have not been prepared or 
independently verified by us, the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter, or any of our respective subsidiaries, 
affiliates or advisors in connection with the Offer and sale of the Offer Shares.  
 
The Consumer Act 
 
The Consumer Act (R.A. No. 7394) is principally enforced by the DTI, and seek to (1) protect consumers against hazards 
to health and safety, (2) protect consumers against deceptive, unfair and unconscionable sales acts and practices; (3) 
provide information and education to facilitate sound choice and the proper exercise of rights by the consumer; (4) 
provide adequate rights and means of redress; and (5) involve consumer representatives in the formulation of social and 
economic policies. 
 
Furthermore, it regulates the following: (1) consumer product quality and safety; (2) the production, sale, distribution 
and advertisement of food, drugs, cosmetics and devices as well as substances hazardous to the consumer’s health and 
safety; (3) fair, honest consumer transactions and consumer protection against deceptive, unfair and unconscionable 
sales acts or practices; (4) practices relative to the use of weights and measures; (5) consumer product and safety 
warranties; (6) compulsory labeling and fair packaging; (7) liabilities for defective products and services; (8) consumer 
protection against misleading advertisements and fraudulent promotion practices; and (9) consumer credit transactions. 
Under the Consumer Act, it is prohibited to manufacture, import, export, sell, offer to sell, distribute and transfer food 
products that do not conform to applicable consumer product quality or safety standards. 

 
The Consumer Act establishes quality and safety standards with respect to the composition, contents, packaging, labeling 
and advertisement of products and prohibits the manufacture for sale, offer for sale, distribution, or importation of 
products which are not in conformity with applicable consumer product quality or safety standards promulgated under 
the law. 
 
Manufacturers, distributors, importers or re-packers of consumer products are required to indicate in their labels or 
packaging a parallel translation in the English or Filipino language of the nature, quality, quantity and other relevant 
prescribed information or instructions of such consumer products in a manner that cannot be easily removed, detached 
or erased. In addition to the information required to be displayed in the principal and secondary panels, DTI 
Administrative Order No. 01-08 mandates that all consumer products sold in the Philippines, whether manufactured 
locally or imported shall indicate and specify the (a) country of manufacture; (b) required information of consumption 
duration safety; (c) warranty of the manufacturer; (d) weight content prior to packaging; (e) consumer complaint desk 
address; and (f) all other information necessary for giving effect to a consumer’s right to information. 

 
The DTI is tasked with implementing the Consumer Act with respect to labels and packaging of consumer products other 
than food products, and regulates product labeling, proper and correct description of goods, product labels with foreign 
characters/languages, data/information on product contents and origins and other similar matters. With respect to the 
packaging and repackaging of food products, such activities are regulated by the Department of Health (“DOH”) and the 
Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”). Establishments engaged in these activities are required to comply with, among 
others, the current guidelines promulgated by the DOH on good manufacturing practice in manufacturing, packing, 
repacking, or holding food. 
 
The law also prohibits the dissemination of any false, deceptive or misleading advertisement by Philippine mail or in 
commerce by print, radio, television, outdoor advertisement or other medium for the purpose of inducing or which is 
likely to induce directly or indirectly the purchase of consumer products or services. An advertisement shall be false, 
deceptive or misleading if it is not in conformity with the provisions of the Consumer Act or if it is misleading in any 
material respect. In determining whether any advertisement is false, deceptive or misleading, there shall be taken into 
account, among other things, not only representations made or any combination thereof, but also the extent to which 
the advertisement fails to reveal material facts in the light of such representations, or materials with respect to 
consequences which may result from the use or application of consumer products or services to which the advertisement 
relates under the conditions prescribed in said advertisement, or under such conditions as are customary or usual. 
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No person shall conduct any sales campaigns, including beauty contests, national in character, sponsored and promoted 
by manufacturing enterprises without first securing a permit from the DTI prior to the commencement thereof. A sales 
promotion which is intended for broad consumer participation and utilizes mass media shall indicate the duration, 
commencement and termination of the promotion, the deadline for submission of entries and the governing criteria or 
procedure to be followed therein. The winners in any sales promotion shall be determined at a definite time and place 
and shall be verified by a representative of the DTI and the sponsor. 
 
Violation of the Consumer Act shall warrant administrative penalties and/or imprisonment of not less than one year but 
not more than five years, or a fine of not less than P5,000.00 but not more than P10,000.00 or both, at the discretion of 
the court. Should the offense be committed by a juridical person, the chairman of the board of directors, the president, 
general manager, or the partners and/or the persons directly responsible therefor shall be penalized. 
 
The Price Act 
 
To the extent that our Company’s retail businesses touch on basic necessities and prime commodities, Republic Act No. 
7581, or the Price Act, may apply. This law provides for price controls for basic necessities and prime commodities in 
certain situations, pursuant to the policy of the government to ensure the availability of basic necessities and prime 
commodities at reasonable prices at all times without denying legitimate business a fair return on investment. Basic 
necessities include rice, corn, bread, fish, dried and canned fish and other marine products, fresh vegetables, pork, beef, 
poultry, milk, coffee and cooking oil, salt, laundry soap, detergents, firewood, charcoal, candles and drugs classified as 
essential by the DOH. Prime commodities include fresh fruits, flour, dried, processed and canned pork, beef and poultry 
meat, dairy products not falling under basic necessities, noodles, onions, garlic, vinegar, patis, soy sauce, toilet soap, 
fertilizer, pesticides, herbicides, poultry, swine and cattle feeds, paper, school supplies, electrical supplies, batteries, 
among others. 
 
Under the Price Act, the prices of basic commodities are automatically frozen at their prevailing prices or placed under 
automatic price control whenever: 

1. That area is proclaimed or declared a disaster area or under a state of calamity; 
2. That area is declared under an emergency; 
3. The privilege of the writ of habeas corpus is suspended in that area; 
4. That area is placed under martial law; or, 
5. That area is in a state of rebellion or war. 

 
If the prevailing price of any basic necessity is excessive or unreasonable, the implementing agency may recommend to 
the President the imposition of a price ceiling for the sale of the basic necessity at a price other than its prevailing price. 
 
Unless sooner lifted by the President, price control of basic necessities under this section shall remain effective for the 
duration of the condition that brought it about, but not for more than 60 days. 
 
The Price Act considers it unlawful for any person habitually engaged in the production, manufacture, importation, 
storage, transport, distribution, sale or other methods of disposition of goods to engage in price manipulation of any 
basic necessity or prime commodity through: 

1. Hoarding, defined as the undue accumulation by a person or combination of persons of any basic commodity 
beyond his or their normal inventory levels or the unreasonable limitation or refusal to dispose of, sell or distribute 
the stocks of any basic necessity of prime commodity to the general public or the unjustified taking out of any 
basic necessity or prime commodity from the channels of reproduction, trade, commerce and industry; 

2. Profiteering, defined as the sale or offering for sale of any basic necessity or prime commodity at a price grossly in 
excess of its true worth; and, 

3. Cartels, defined as any combination of or agreement between two or more persons engaged in the production, 
manufacture, processing, storage, supply, distribution, marketing, sale or disposition of any basic necessity or 
prime commodity designed to artificially and unreasonably increase or manipulate its price. 

 
The Department of Agriculture (“DA”), DTI, Department of Environment and Natural Resources (“DENR”) and DOH are 
the implementing agencies responsible for the enforcement of the provisions of the Price Act. The implementing 
government agencies of the Price Act are granted the authority thereunder to issue suggested retail prices, whenever 
necessary, for certain basic necessities and/or prime commodities for the information and guidance of the concerned 
trade, industry and consumer sectors. 
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The Food Safety Act 
 
The Food Safety Act (R.A. No. 10611) seeks to strengthen the food safety regulatory system in the country by principally 
delineating the mandates and responsibilities of the government agencies. The National Dairy Authority, National Meat 
Inspection Service, and Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources under the Department of Agriculture (“DA”) are the 
government agencies responsible for the development and enforcement of food safety standards and regulations in the 
primary production and post-harvest stages for milk, meats, and fish, respectively, while the FDA under the DOH is 
responsible for the safety of processed and pre-packaged foods. The Food Safety Act created the Food Safety Regulation 
Coordinating Board to monitor and coordinate the performance and implementation of the mandates of the government 
agencies under the law. 
  
Under the Food Safety Act, food business operators or those who undertake to carry out any of the stages of the food 
supply chain are held principally responsible in ensuring that their products satisfy the requirements of the law and that 
control systems are in place to prevent, eliminate, or reduce risks to consumers. Appropriate authorizations shall be 
developed and issued in the form of a permit, license and ccertificate of registration or compliance that would cover 
establishments, facilities engaged in production, post- harvest handling, processing, packing, holding or producing food 
for consumption in accordance with the mandated issuances of regulatory agencies issuing such authorizations. Special 
derogations shall be provided due to geographical location and after an assessment of risks, especially for micro, small 
and medium-sized food business operators and health products. Regular inspection of food business operators shall also 
be performed. 
 
For the enforcement of the Food Safety Act, the food safety regulatory agencies are authorized to perform regular 
inspection of food business operators taking into consideration the compliance with mandatory safety standards; 
implementation of the Hazard Analysis at Critical Control Points or the science-based system that identifies, evaluates, 
and controls hazards for food safety at critical points; good manufacturing practices; and other requirements of 
regulations. It is prohibited to refuse access to pertinent records or entry of inspection officers of the food safety 
regulatory agencies. It is likewise prohibited, among others, to produce, handle, or manufacture for sale, offer for sale, 
distribute in commerce, or import any food or food product, which is banned or is not in conformity with applicable 
quality or safety standard is also prohibited. The commission of any of the prohibited acts under the Food Safety Act can 
result in imprisonment and/or a fine. 
 
FDA Rules and Regulations 
 
Consistent with the mandate to adopt and establish mechanisms and initiatives that are aimed to protect and promote 
the right to health of every Filipino, the FDA issued the Rules and Regulations on the Licensing of Food Establishments 
and Registration of Processed Food (“Rules”), which require all food establishments to obtain a License to Operate (“LTO”) 
from the FDA before they can validly engage in the manufacture, importation, exportation, sale, offer for sale, 
distribution, and transfer of food products in the Philippine market. The Rules cover processed food and food products 
and exclude fresh or raw food derived from plant, animal, fisheries and aquaculture products or foods in the primary 
production and post-harvest stages of the supply chain. A food establishment must prove their capability and capacity to 
assure food safety and quality through compliance with Good Manufacturing Practice, Good Distribution Practice, Good 
Storage Practice, Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points, and/or other best industry practices recognized by the Food 
and Agriculture Organization and the World Health Organization, as appropriate. An LTO must first be secured before 
filing for a Certificate of Product Registration (“CPR”) initial application. An initial LTO is valid for a period of two years, 
while a renewed license is valid for five years. 
 
In addition to an LTO, the FDA also requires a CPR for processed food products, including food additives, food 
supplements and bottled water, before said products are distributed, supplied, sold or offered for sale or use in the 
market. A CPR covering a particular health product constitutes prima facie evidence of the registrant’s marketing 
authority for said health product in connection with the activities permitted pursuant to the registrant’s LTO. In case of 
initial registration, a CPR shall be valid for a minimum period of two years to a maximum period of five years. Any renewal 
thereafter shall be valid for five years. In addition to the requirements stated above, the FDA may conduct inspection of 
the manufacturing or processing plant or verification of documents submitted or may require additional documents or 
evidence to ascertain the safety and/or quality of the product. 
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The FDA follows a classification list. based from the Codex Alimentarius General Standard of Food Additives (GFSA) and 
the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) Risk Categories, wherein processed food products are 
classified according to microbiological risk: 

• Low Risk (LR) Food – Food that are unlikely to contain pathogenic microorganisms and will not normally support 
their growth because of food characteristics and foods that are unlikely to contain harmful chemicals. 

• Medium Risk (MR) Food – Food that may contain pathogenic microorganisms but will not normally support 
their growth because of food characteristics; or food that is unlikely to contain pathogenic microorganisms 
because of food type or processing but may support the formation of toxins or the growth of pathogenic 
microorganisms. 

• High Risk (HR) Food – Food that may contain pathogenic microorganisms and will support the formation of 
toxins or the growth of pathogenic microorganisms and foods that may contain harmful chemicals. 
 

The operation of a food business without the proper authorization from the FDA is prohibited and punishable with a fine. 
The closure of the establishment may also be imposed as a penalty upon a finding of a commission of a prohibited act. 
 
The Retail Trade Liberalization Act 
 
Republic Act No. 8762, or the Retail Trade Liberalization Act (Republic Act. No. 8762) defines retail trade as any act, 
occupation or calling of habitually selling directly to the general public any merchandise, commodity or good for 
consumption. The Retail Trade Liberalization Act liberalized the retail industry to encourage Filipino and foreign investors 
to forge an efficient and competitive retail trade sector in the interest of empowering the Filipino consumer through 
lower prices, high quality goods, better services, and wider choices. Prior to the passage of the Retail Trade Liberalization 
Act, retail trade was limited to Filipino citizens or corporations that are 100% Filipino-owned. 
 
Under the Retail Trade Liberalization Act, foreign-owned partnerships, associations or corporations formed and organized 
under the laws of the Philippines may, upon registration with the Philippine SEC and the DTI (“DTI”), or in the case of 
foreign owned single proprietorships, with the DTI, engage or invest in the retail trade business, under the following 
categories: 

• Category A Enterprises with paid-up capital that is less than the equivalent of US$2,500,000 in Pesos shall be 
reserved exclusively for Filipino citizens and corporations wholly-owned by Filipino citizens.  

• Category B Enterprises with a minimum paid-up capital that is equivalent to US$2,500,000 in Pesos, but is less 
than US$7,500,000, may be wholly-owned by foreigners except for the first two years after the effectively of the 
Retail Trade Liberalization Act (wherein foreign participation was limited to not more than 60% of total equity).  

• Category C Enterprises with a paid-up capital that is equivalent to or more than US$7,500,000 in Pesos may be 
wholly owned by foreigners, provided that in no case shall the investments for establishing a store in Categories 
B and C be less than the equivalent of US$830,000 in Pesos. Effective March 25, 2002, Category C ceased to be 
a permitted category. 

• Category D Enterprises specializing in high-end or luxury products with a paid-up capital that is equivalent to 
US$250,000 in Pesos per store may be wholly owned by foreigners. 

 
Any foreign investor may be allowed to invest in existing retail stores. However, the investment must comply with the 
paid-up capitalization requirements enumerated above. 
 
Furthermore, foreign investors who are also retailers and invest in existing retail stores are required to be pre-qualified 
with the Board of Investments before they can buy shares. No foreign retailer is allowed to engage in retail trade in the 
Philippines unless all the following qualifications are met: 

(1) A minimum of US$200 million net worth in its parent corporation for Categories B and C, and US$50 million 
net worth in its parent corporation for Category D; 

(2) Five retail branches or franchises in operation anywhere around the world unless such retailers has at least 
one store capitalized at a minimum of US$25 million; 

(3) Five-year track record in retailing; and 
(4) Only nationals from, or judicial entities formed or incorporated in, countries which allow the entry of Filipino 

retailers shall be allowed to engage in retail trade in the Philippines. 
 

The implementing rules of Republic Act No. 8762 define a foreign retailer as an individual who is not a Filipino citizen, or 
a corporation, partnership, association, or entity that is not wholly-owned by Filipinos, engaged in retail trade. The DTI is 
authorized to pre-qualify all foreign retailers before they are allowed to conduct business in the Philippines. 
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Foreign Ownership Controls 
 
The Philippine Constitution limits ownership of land in the Philippines to Filipino citizens or to corporations the 
outstanding capital stock of which is at least 60% owned by Philippine Nationals. While the Philippine Constitution 
prescribes nationality restrictions on land ownership, there is generally no prohibition against foreigners owning buildings 
and other permanent structures. However, with respect to condominium developments, the foreign ownership of units 
in such developments is limited to 40%.  A corporation with more than 40% foreign equity may be allowed to lease land 
for a period of 25 years, renewable for another 25 years. 
 
Republic Act No. 7042, as amended, otherwise known as the Foreign Investments Act of 1991, and the Tenth Regular 
Foreign Investment Negative List, provide that certain activities are nationalized or partly- nationalized, such that the 
operation and/or ownership thereof are wholly or partially reserved for Filipinos. Under these regulations, and in 
accordance with the Philippine Constitution, ownership of private lands is partly-nationalized and thus, companies 
owning land may only have a maximum of 40% foreign equity. 
 
The Philippine Constitution limits ownership of land in the Philippines to Filipino citizens or to corporations the 
outstanding capital stock of which is at least 60% owned by Philippine Nationals. 
 
The term “Philippine National” as defined under Republic Act No. 7042, or the Foreign Investments Act of 1991 (“FIA”), 
as amended, mean:  

(1) A citizen of the Philippines; 
(2) A domestic partnership or association wholly-owned by citizens of the Philippines; 
(3) A corporation organized under the laws of the Philippines of which at least 60% of the capital stock outstanding 

and entitled to vote is owned and held by citizens of the Philippines;  
(4) A corporation organized abroad and registered as doing business in the Philippines under the Corporation Code, 

of which 100% of the capital stock outstanding and entitled to vote is wholly owned by Filipinos; or 
(5) A trustee of funds for pension or other employee retirement or separation benefits, where the trustee is a 

Philippine National and at least 60% of the fund will accrue to the benefit of Philippine Nationals. 
 
The Company currently does not own land and is not subject to the foregoing restriction. 
 
Environmental Laws 
 
Philippine Environmental Impact Statement System 
 
The Philippine Environmental Impact Statement System has been established in furtherance of the State policy to attain 
and maintain a rational and orderly balance between socio-economic growth and environmental protection. 
Development projects that are classified by law as environmentally critical or projects within statutorily defined 
environmentally critical areas are required to obtain an Environmental Compliance Certificate (“ECC”) prior to their 
commencement. As a prerequisite for the issuance of an ECC, an environmentally critical project is required to submit an 
Environmental Impact Statement (“EIS”) to the EMB while a project in an environmentally critical area is generally 
required to submit an Initial Environmental Examination (“IEE”) to the proper DENR regional office, without prejudice to 
the power of the DENR to require a more detailed EIS. The EIS refers to both the document and the environmental impact 
assessment of a project, including a discussion of direct and indirect consequences to human welfare and ecology as well 
as environmental integrity. The IEE refers to the document and the study describing the environmental impact, including 
mitigation and enhancement measures, for projects in environmentally critical areas. 
 
While the terms and conditions of an EIS or an IEE may vary from project to project, at a minimum, they contain all 
relevant information regarding the environmental effects of a project. The entire process of organization, administration 
and assessment of the effects of any project on the quality of the physical, biological and socio-economic environment 
as well as the design of appropriate preventive, mitigating and enhancement measures is known as the EIS system. The 
EIS system successfully culminates in the issuance of an ECC. The ECC is a government certification that (i) the proposed 
project or undertaking will not cause a significant negative environmental impact; (ii) that the proponent has complied 
with all the requirements of the EIS system and; (iii) that the proponent is committed to implement its approved 
environmental management plan in the EIS or, if an IEE was required, that it will comply with the mitigation measures 
suggested therein. The ECC contains specific measures and conditions that the project proponent must undertake before 
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and during the operation of a project, and in some cases, during the abandonment phase of the project to mitigate 
identified environmental impact. 
 
Project proponents that prepare an EIS are required to establish an Environmental Guarantee Fund (“EGF”) when the 
ECC is issued to projects determined by the DENR to pose significant public risks to life, health, property and the 
environment. The EGF is intended to answer for damages caused by such projects as well as any rehabilitation and 
restoration measures. Project proponents that prepare an EIS are mandated to include a commitment to establish an 
Environmental Monitoring Fund (“EMF”) when an ECC is eventually issued. The EMF shall be used to support activities of 
a multi-partite monitoring team that will be organized to monitor compliance with the ECC and applicable laws, rules and 
regulations. 
 
In certain instances, the EMB may determine and issue a certification that a certain project is not covered by the EIS 
System and an ECC is not required. Consequently, a Certificate of Non-Coverage (“CNC”) may be issued in lieu of an ECC. 
 
The Ecological Solid Waste Management Act of 2000  
 
The Ecological Solid Waste Management Act of 2000 (Republic Act No. 9003) provides for the proper management of 
solid waste which includes discarded commercial waste and non-hazardous institutional and industrial waste. The said 
law prohibits, among others, the transporting and dumping of collected solid wastes in areas other than prescribed 
centers and facilities. The National Solid Waste Management Commission, together with other government agencies and 
the different local government units, are responsible for the implementation and enforcement of the said law.  
 
Any violation of this law may be punishable by fine or imprisonment, or both, depending on the prohibited act committed. 
If the offense is committed by a corporation, the chief executive officer, president, general manager, managing partner 
or such other officer-in-charge shall be liable for the commission of the offense. 
 
The Code on Sanitation of the Philippines 
 
The Sanitation Code (Presidential Decree No. 856) provides for sanitary and structural requirements in connection with 
the operation of certain establishments such as food establishments which include such places where food or drinks are 
manufactured, processed, stored, sold or served. Under P.D. 856, which is implemented by the DOH, food establishments 
are required to secure sanitary permits prior to operation which shall be renewable on a yearly basis. 
 
Further, the Code on Sanitation provides that no person shall be employed in any food establishment without a health 
certificate issued by the local health authority. This certificate will be issued only after the required physical and medical 
examinations are performed and immunizations are administered at prescribed intervals. The health certificate must be 
renewed every year or as often as required by local ordinance.  
 
Non-compliance with the provisions of the Code on Sanitation may result in the revocation of the sanitary permit, which 
is a requisite for the operation of a food establishment. Moreover, a food establishment that employs a person without 
the appropriate health certificate may be punished by fine or imprisonment, or both. 
 
DENR Rules on Disposition of Hazardous Waste 
 
A waste generator or a person who generates or produces hazardous wastes through any institutional, commercial, 
industrial or trade activities must register online and pay the registration fee to the EMB Regional Office having 
jurisdiction over the location of the waste generator. Upon registration, the EMB shall issue a DENR identification number, 
which is generally a one-time permit unless there is a change in the hazardous wastes produced.  
 
Under DENR Administrative Order No. 2013-22, a duly registered waste generator must, among others: (a) designate a 
full-time Pollution Control Officer; (b) disclose to the DENR the type and quantity of waste generated; (c) implement 
proper waste management from the time the wastes are generated until they are rendered non-hazardous; (d) continue 
to own and be responsible for the wastes generated in the premises until the wastes have been certified by an accredited 
waste treater as adequately treated, recycled, reprocessed, or disposed of; (e) adhere to the hazardous waste transport 
manifest system when transporting hazardous wastes for offsite treatment, storage, and/or disposal; (f) prepare and 
submit to the DENR comprehensive emergency preparedness and response program to mitigate spills and accidents 
involving chemicals and hazardous wastes; (g) communicate to its employees the hazards posed by the improper 
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handling, storage, transport, use and disposal of hazardous wastes and their containers; and (h) develop capability to 
implement the emergency preparedness and response programs and continually train core personnel on the effective 
implementation of such programs.  
 
Failure to comply with DENR Administrative Order No. 2013-22 shall make the violator liable for a fine of P50,000.00. In 
addition to such penalty, a violation of any of its Governing Rules or rules covering the Contingency Program shall result 
in the immediate suspension of the permit.  
 
DENR Rules against Air Pollution 
 
DENR Administrative Order No. 2000-81, as amended by DENR Administrative Order No. 2004-26, requires a Permit to 
Operate for each source emitting regulated air pollutants, which shall be issued by the EMB. The permittee shall display 
the permit upon the installation itself in such manner as to be clearly visible and accessible at all times. In the event that 
the permit cannot be so placed, it shall be mounted in an accessible and visible place near the installation covered by the 
permit.  
 
The Permit to Operate is valid for five years from the date of issuance, unless sooner suspended or revoked. It may be 
renewed by filing an application for renewal at least 30 days before its expiration date and upon payment of the required 
fees and compliance with requirements.  
 
Moreover, under DENR Administrative Order No. 2014-02, the managing heads of establishments required to have 
pollution control officers must apply for accreditation of their appointed/designated Pollution Control Officer at the 
concerned EMB Regional Office within 15 days from the date of appointment/designation. 
 
Laguna Lake Development Authority Clearance 
 
R.A. No. 4850, as amended, created the Laguna Lake Development Authority (“LLDA”) in order to promote and accelerate 
the balanced growth of the Laguna de Bay Region, with due regard for environmental management and control, 
preservation and preservation of the quality of human life and ecological systems, and the prevention of undue ecological 
disturbances, deterioration and pollution.  
 
As an attached agency of the DENR, the LLDA is mandated to manage and protect the environmentally critical Laguna de 
Bay Region. It is empowered to pass upon and approve or disapprove all plans, programs, and projects proposed by local 
government offices or agencies within the region, public corporations, and private persons or enterprises where such 
plans, programs, and projects are related to the development of the region.  
 
At present, the jurisdiction and scope of authority of the LLDA comprises the towns of Rizal and Laguna Provinces, towns 
of Silang, General Mariano Alvarez, Carmona, Tagaytay City in Cavite, Lucban, Quezon, City of Tanauan, towns of Sto. 
Tomas and Malvar in Batangas, Cities of Marikina, Pasig, Taguig, Muntinlupa, Pasay, Caloocan, Quezon and town of 
Pateros in Metro Manila. Accordingly, any person, natural and juridical, with existing and/or new development projects 
and activities within these areas are required to secure an LLDA Clearance, which is issued upon submission of an 
application and the supporting financial documents.  
 
An administrative fine is imposed on establishments operating, developing, or constructing within the Laguna de Bay 
Region without the necessary LLDA Clearance. Any proposed, ongoing, or completed expansion inconsistent with a 
previously issued LLDA Clearance must be covered by a new LLDA Clearance. 
 
 
Wastewater Discharge Permit 
 
The Philippine Clean Water Act of 2004 (Republic Act No. 9275) prohibits the discharge of material of any kind into water 
bodies, which shall cause pollution or impede natural flow of water, discharge of substance into soil or sub-soil which 
would pollute groundwater, operating facilities that discharge regulated water pollutants without valid permits, and 
other related acts. The Clean Water Act also regulates the discharge of effluents on land.  
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Pursuant to this law, all industries that discharge in any manner wastewater into Philippine waters and/or land are 
required to secure a wastewater discharge permit from the EMB. This permit is valid for five years and renewable for 
five-year periods. 
 
For operational purposes, we have no costs and effects of compliance with environmental laws, aside from some Local 
Government Units (LGUs) requiring clearances and permits.  
 
 
Labor Laws 
 
The Labor Code and Social Welfare Legislations 
 
The Philippine Labor Code and other statutory enactments provide the minimum benefits that employers must grant to 
their employees, which include certain social security benefits, such as benefits mandated by the Social Security Act of 
1997 (R.A. No. 8282), the National Health Insurance Act of 1995 (R.A. No. 7875), as amended, and the Home Development 
Fund Law of 2009 (R.A. No. 9679). 
 
Social Security Act 
 
Under the Social Security Act of 1997, social security coverage is compulsory for all employees under 60 years of age. An 
employer has the duty to report to the Social Security System (“SSS”) the names, ages, civil status, occupations, salaries 
and dependents of its employees who are subject to compulsory coverage, and to pay and remit their monthly 
contributions. This enables the employees or their dependents to claim their pension, death benefits, permanent 
disability benefits, funeral benefits, sickness benefits and maternity-leave benefits. The failure of the employer to comply 
with any of its obligations may lead to sanctions, including the impositions of a fine of not less than P5,000.00 nor more 
than P20,000.00, or imprisonment for not less than six years and one day nor more than 12 years, or both, at the 
discretion of the court. The erring employer will also be liable to the SSS for damages equivalent to the benefits to which 
the employee would have been entitled had his name been reported on time to the SSS and for the corresponding 
contributions and penalties thereon. 
 
National Health Insurance Act 
 
The National Health Insurance Act, created the National Health Insurance Program (“NHIP”) to provide health insurance 
coverage and ensure affordable and accessible health care services to all Filipino citizens. Under the law, all members of 
the SSS are automatically members of the NHIP. An employer is required to deduct and withhold the contributions from 
its employee’s salary, wage or earnings, make a counterpart contribution for the employee, and remit both amounts to 
the Philippine Health Insurance Corporation (“PhilHealth”), the agency which administers the NHIP. The NHIP will then 
subsidize personal health services required by the employee subject to certain terms and conditions under the law. An 
employer who fails or refuses to register its employees, regardless of their employment status, or to deduct contributions 
from its employees’ compensation or remit the same to our Corporation shall be punished with a fine of not less than 
₱5,000.00 multiplied by the total number of employees of the firm. 
 
Home Development Fund Law 
 
The Home Development Fund Law (R.A. No. 9679) or the Pag-IBIG Fund Law, created the Home Development Mutual 
Fund ("HDMF"), a national savings program as well as a fund to provide for affordable shelter financing to Filipino 
workers. Coverage under the HDMF is compulsory for all SSS members and their employers. Under the law, an employer 
must deduct and withhold 2% of the employee's monthly compensation, up to a maximum of ₱5,000.00, and likewise 
make a counterpart contribution of 2% of the employee's monthly compensation, and remit the contributions to the 
HDMF. Refusal of an employer to comply, without any lawful cause or with fraudulent intent, particularly with respect to 
registration of employees as well as collection and remittance of contributions, is punishable by a fine of not less but not 
more than twice the amount involved, or imprisonment of not more than six years, or both such fine and imprisonment. 
When the offender is a corporation, the penalty will be imposed upon the members of the governing board and the 
president or general manager, without prejudice to the prosecution of related offenses under the Revised Penal Code 
and other laws, revocation and denial of operating rights and privileges in the Philippines and deportation when the 
offender is a foreigner.  
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The Labor Code 
 
The Philippine Labor Code provides that, in the absence of a retirement plan provided by their employers, private-sector 
employees who have reached 60 years of age or more, but not beyond 65 years of age, the compulsory retirement age 
for private-sector employees without a retirement plan, and who have rendered at least five years of service in an 
establishment, may retire and receive a minimum retirement pay equivalent to one-half month's salary for every year of 
service, with a fraction of at least six months being considered as one whole year. For the purpose of computing the 
retirement pay, "one-half month's salary" shall include all of the following: fifteen days’ salary based on the latest salary 
rate; in addition, one-twelfth of the thirteenth month pay and the cash equivalent of five days of service incentive leave 
pay. Other benefits may be included in the computation of the retirement pay upon agreement of the employer and the 
employee or if provided in a collective bargaining agreement. 
 
 
Other Labor-Related Laws and Regulations 
 
Contracting and Subcontracting 
 
The Labor Code recognizes subcontracting arrangements, whereby a principal puts out or farms out with a contractor the 
performance or completion of a specific job, work or service within a definite or predetermined period, regardless of 
whether such job, work or service is to be performed or completed within or outside the premises of the principal. Such 
arrangements involve a "trilateral relationship" among: (i) the principal who decides to farm out a job, work or service to 
a contractor; (ii) the contractor who has the capacity to independently undertake the performance of the job, work, or 
service; and (iii) the contractual workers engaged by the contractor to accomplish the job, work, or service. 
 
On March 16, 2017, the Department of Labor and Employment (“DOLE”) issued DOLE Department Order No. 174-17 or 
Rules Implementing Articles 106 to 109 of the Labor Code, As Amended (“D.O. No 174-17”), under the principle that non-
permissible forms of contracting and subcontracting arrangements undermine the constitutional and statutory right to 
security of tenure of workers. D.O. No 174-17 empowered the Secretary of Labor and Employment to regulate contracting 
and subcontracting arrangement by absolutely prohibiting labor-only contracting, and restricting job contracting allowed 
under the provisions of the Labor Code. Labor-only contracting refers to arrangement where the contractor or 
subcontractor merely recruits, supplies or places workers to perform a job or work for a principal, and the contractor or 
subcontractor does not have substantial capital, or the contractor or subcontractor does not exercise the right to control 
over the performance of the work of the employee. D.O. No. 174-17 expressly requires the registration of contractors 
with the Regional Office of the DOLE where it principally operates, without which, a presumption that the contractor is 
engaged in labor-only contracting arises. 
 
The Department Order provides that in the event that there is a finding that the contractor or subcontractor is engaged 
in labor-only contracting and other illicit forms of employment arrangements, the principal shall be deemed the direct 
employer of the contractor's or subcontractor's employees. Further, in the event of violation of any provision of the Labor 
Code, including the failure to pay wages, there exists a solidary liability on the part of the principal and the contractor for 
purposes of enforcing the provisions of the Labor Code and other social legislations, to the extent of the work performed 
under the employment contract. 
 
DOLE Mandated Work-Related Programs 
 
Under the Comprehensive Dangerous Drugs Act, a national drug abuse prevention program implemented by the 
Department of Labor and Employment (“DOLE”) must be adopted by private companies with 10 or more employees. For 
this purpose, employers must adopt and establish company policies and programs against drug use in the workplace in 
close consultation and coordination with the DOLE, labor and employer organizations, human resource development 
managers and other such private sector organizations. DOLE Department Order No. 053-03 sets out the guidelines for 
the implementation of Drug-Free Workplace policies and programs for the private sector.   
 
The employer or the head of the work-related, educational or training environment or institution, also has the duty to 
prevent or deter the commission of acts of sexual harassment and to provide the procedures for the resolution, 
settlement or prosecution of such cases. Under the Anti-Sexual Harassment Act, the employer will be solidarily liable for 
damages arising from the acts of sexual harassment committed in the workplace if the employer is informed of such acts 
by the offended party and no immediate action is taken. Notwithstanding, the victim of sexual harassment is not 
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precluded from instituting a separate and independent action for damages and other affirmative relief. Any person who 
violates the provisions of this law shall, upon conviction, be penalized by imprisonment of not less than one month nor 
more than six months, or a fine of not less than ₱10,000 nor more than ₱20,000, or both such fine and imprisonment, at 
the discretion of the court. Any action arising from the violation of the provisions of this law shall prescribe in three years. 
 
Moreover, Department Order No. 102-10 requires all private workplaces to have a policy on HIV and AIDS and to 
implement a workplace program in accordance with the Philippines AIDS Prevention and Control Act. The workplace 
policies aim to manage sensitive issues, such as confidentiality of medical information and continuation of employment 
for HIV-positive staff, and to avoid the discrimination of any employee due to HIV/AIDS. Any HIV/AIDS-related information 
of workers should be kept strictly confidential and kept only on medical files, whereby access to it are strictly limited to 
medical personnel. 
 
All private workplaces are also required to establish policies and programs on solo parenting, Hepatitis B, and tuberculosis 
prevention and control. 
 
Local Government Code  
 
The Local Government Code (“LGC”) establishes the system and powers of provincial, city, municipal, and barangay 
governments in the country. The LGC general welfare clause states that every local government unit (“LGU”) shall exercise 
the powers expressly granted, those necessarily implied, as well as powers necessary, appropriate, or incidental for its 
efficient and effective governance, and those which are essential to the promotion of the general welfare.  
 
LGUs exercise police power through their respective legislative bodies. Specifically, the LGU, though its legislative body, 
has the authority to enact such ordinances as it may deem necessary and proper for sanitation and safety, the furtherance 
of the prosperity, and the promotion of the morality, peace, good order, comfort, convenience, and general welfare of 
the locality and its inhabitants. Ordinances can reclassify land, order the closure of business establishments, and require 
permits and licenses from businesses operating within the territorial jurisdiction of the LGU.  
 
An ordinance may be repealed by a subsequent ordinance expressly repealing or declaring it as invalid. An ordinance may 
also be repealed by implication by a subsequent ordinance that is inconsistent or contrary, in whole or in part, to the 
previous ordinance. Under the LGC, the Sangguniang Panlalawigan (provincial council) has the power to review 
ordinances passed by a city or municipality council and can declare ordinances invalid, in whole or in part, if it finds that 
the lower council exceeded its authority in enacting the ordinance.  
 
Intellectual Property Code 
 
Under the Intellectual Property Code of the Philippines, the rights to a trademark are acquired through the registration 
with the Bureau of Trademarks of the Intellectual Property Office, which is the principal government agency involved in 
the registration of brand names, trademarks, patents and other registrable intellectual property materials. 
 
Upon registration, the Intellectual Property Office shall issue a certificate of registration to the owner of the mark, which 
shall confer the right to prevent all third parties not having the owner’s consent from using in the course of trade identical 
or similar signs or containers for goods or services which are identical or similar to those in respect of which the mark is 
registered. The said certificate of registration shall also serve as prima facie evidence of the validity of registration and 
the registrant’s ownership of the mark. A certificate of registration shall remain in force for an initial period of ten (10)  
years, and may be renewed for periods of ten (10) years at its expiration. 
 
The IP Code applies to franchise agreements and software license agreements which generally fall within the definition 
of technology transfer arrangements (“TTAs”). The IP Code defines TTAs as “contracts or agreements involving the 
transfer of systematic knowledge for the manufacture of a product, the application of a process, or rendering of a service 
including management contracts; and the transfer, assignment or licensing of all forms of intellectual property rights, 
including licensing of computer software except computer software developed for mass market.” TTAs must comply with 
Sections 87 and 88 of the IP Code, i.e., TTAs cannot contain the provisions which are prohibited under Section 87 but 
must contain the mandatory provisions under Section 88. Failure to comply with these provisions of the IP Code will 
automatically render the entire arrangement unenforceable.  
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We retain legal counsel to ensure our continued compliance with applicable laws and regulations affecting our 
operations. We have secured, applied for, or are in the process of applying or renewing all material permits and licenses 
required to conduct our business. We expect to obtain these permits and licenses in the ordinary course.  
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
 
Pursuant to our Company’s amended articles of incorporation, Balai Ni Fruitas Inc. board of directors consists of 7 
members, of whom 3 are independent directors. The table below sets forth each member of our board of directors as of 
the date of this Prospectus.  
 

Name Age Nationality Position 
Rogelio M. Guadalquiver  79 Filipino Chairman  
Lester C. Yu 47 Filipino President, Chief Executive Officer 
Madelene T. Sayson 33 Filipino Director 
Calvin F. Chua  42 Filipino Director, Chief Financial Advisor  
Lee Ceasar S. Junia  56 Filipino Independent Director 
David Jonathan Y. Bayot   51 Filipino Independent Director 
Bernardino M. Ramos  77 Filipino Independent Director 

 
The business experiences for the last five years of members of our board of directors are set forth below. 
 
Rogelio M. Guadalquiver, 79, was appointed as the Chairman of FHI in August 24, 2019 and was also appointed as the 
Chairman of BALAI in December 21, 2021. He is also currently a Director of Philippine Deposit Insurance Corporation. 
Rogelio was the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of CG & Co. from 2000 to 2018. Prior to joining CG & Co., he was a 
senior partner of SGV & Co., a member practice firm of Ernst & Young where he was heavily involved in both domestic 
and global audit practices. He also specialized in initial public offerings, industry research studies, corporate restructuring, 
business process re-engineering, business risk management, and financial and tax management consulting. Mr. 
Guadalquiver is a Certified Public Accountant and holds a Master’s in Management degree from the Asian Institute of 
Management and a Bachelor of Science in Commerce degree from University of San Jose-Recoletos. 
 
Lester C. Yu, 47, was appointed as the President on April 26, 2021 and Chief Executive Officer on December 21, 2021. 
Currently, he holds the position of President and CEO of Fruitas Holdings Inc. since August 2019. He also served as the 
Chairman of FHI, the parent company of BALAI from February 2015 to August 2019. Mr. Lester Yu started his career with 
their family business, Janette Jewelry in 1989. Before founding the Company, he entered the banking industry and served 
as the youngest Branch Manager for Westmont Bank. Under his leadership, FHI has successfully introduced several well-
known brands and has made strategic acquisitions such as Negril Trading, which houses the De Original Jamaican Pattie 
Shop and Juice Bar brand and Sabroso Lechon. Mr. Yu is also the Chairman and President of Ralproperties, Inc., One Fifty 
Food Place, Inc., Lush Properties Inc., Negril Trading, Inc., Themangofarm Corp., Fruitasgroup Incorporated, Lush 
Enterprises Corp., Bamazeh Incorporated, Lush Coolers, Inc., La Petite Parisienne, Inc., Dough Matters, Inc., Lush Harvest 
Manufacturing Inc., Toyoda Technik Corporation, and Cocodelivery Incorporated. He holds a Master’s of Business 
Administration degree from the University of the Philippines and a degree in Industrial Management Engineering from 
De La Salle University. 
 
Madelene T. Sayson, 33, was elected as our Director on April 26, 2021, she is also the Chief Operating Officer of FHI since 
January 2018 and has been with the Group since 2009. She also served as a Director of FHI from February 2015 to August 
2019 and was reelected since December 2020. Ms. Sayson is also the Chairman and President of Gyuma Fragrance Inc. 
She is the Corporate Secretary and Director of One Fifty Food Place, Inc., Lush Properties Inc., Negril Trading, Inc., 
Bamazeh Incorporated, Dough Matters, Inc., Sure Jobs Academy, Inc., and Toyoda Technik Corporation Ms. Sayson is also 
the Vice President and Director of Themangofarm Corp. and La Petite Parisienne, Inc. She is the Treasurer and Director 
of Lush Coolers, Inc. She is also the Treasurer of BALAI since April 2021. She holds a Bachelor of Science degree in 
Accountancy from Garcia College of Technology. 
 
Calvin F. Chua, 42, was elected as our Director and Chief Financial Adviser on December 21, 2021, he is also currently the 
Director and Chief Financial Adviser of FHI since Aug. 2019. He has served as a consultant of the Group since May 2017. 
He is also currently an Executive Director and Treasurer of AlphaPrimus Advisors Inc. He was part of the Corporate Finance 
team of ING Bank N.V., Manila Branch, most recently as a Consultant up to June 2019 and Director up to July 2015. During 
his stint at ING Bank, he advised on mergers and acquisitions and capital-raising activities of various Philippine clients 
across several sectors. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Management Engineering and a Bachelor of Arts degree 
in Economics (Honors Program) from Ateneo de Manila University. 
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Lee Ceasar S. Junia, 56, was elected as our Independent Director on December 21, 2021. Mr. Junia is currently the General 
Manager for Toyota Makati, Inc. since 2014 prior to working with Toyota Makati, he worked with Nissan Philippines, Inc. 
as the General Manager – Sales in 2014. From 2012 to 2014, Mr. Junia worked with Nissan Motor Philippines as the Vice 
President - Marketing Division. While he was in Knight Transportation Corp. as a Fleet Manager from 2001 to 2011, and 
Toyota Motor Philippines, Inc. as Assistant Vice President – After Sales Parts from 1991 to 2001. Mr. Junia holds a Bachelor 
of Science in Management from Ateneo de Manila University. 
 
David Jonathan Y. Bayot, 51, was elected as our Independent Director on December 21, 2021. Dr. David Bayot is a critic 
and academic publisher, he teaches literature and literary criticism at De La Salle University - Manila, Philippines, where 
he is the Executive Publisher of its university press, the De La Salle University Publishing House (DLSUPH). He is also the 
general editor of the Critics in Conversation series published by DLSUPH and the general editor of the Critical Voices series 
published by Sussex Academic Press (SAP). Dr. David Bayot holds a PhD in Literature from De La Salle University – Manila.  
 
Bernardino M. Ramos, 77, was elected as our Independent Director on December 21, 2021. He is currently the Chairman 
of GB Distributors, Inc. He is also a member of the board for Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation, State Investment 
House, Inc., State Properties, Inc., PILAC, Inc., Bunsuran Pawnshop Inc., Prince Plaza Condominium Corporation, Alabang 
Country Club, Inc. He was a partner of SGV & Co., a member practice firm of Ernst & Young where he was heavily involved 
in audit and business advisory services with 39 years of service with the firm, including almost 7 as Partner/Advisor of Drs 
Utomo & Co., SGV Group affiliated firm in Indonesia. He also specialized in power (IPPs) and infrastructure, real estate, 
and hospitality, financial services, mining, educational institutions and pharmaceutical industries. Mr. Ramos is a Certified 
Public Accountant and holds a Master’s in Management Development Program from the Asian Institute of Management 
and a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration from Far Eastern University, Manila. 
 
The table below sets forth our key executive and corporate officers as of the date of this Prospectus.  
 

Name Age Nationality Position 
Roselyn A. Legaspi  43 Filipino Managing Director  
Ma. Teresa Trujillo 58 Filipino Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer  
Juneil Dominic P. Torio 29 Filipino Investor Relations Officer 
Lerma C. Fajardo  34 Filipino Comptroller  
Ralph Hector P. Adricula  27 Filipino Compliance Officer  
Marvin C. Yu 43 Filipino Corporate Secretary  
William V. Capuno  35 Filipino Head of Operations  

 
The business experience for the last five years of key executive and officers are set forth below.  

 
Roselyn A. Legaspi, 41, was appointed as our Managing Director on December 21, 2021 and is also the Managing Director 
– Visayas & Mindanao for FHI appointed last Aug. 2019. She is responsible for the overall operations of the Company for 
the said regions. She has been with the Group since 2002 and has served as a Director of FHI from Feb. 2015 to Aug. 2019. 
Ms. Legaspi is also the Vice President and Director of Negril Trading, Inc., Bamazeh Inc., Lush Properties Incorporated, 
Ralproperties Inc., and Sure Jobs Academy Inc. She is also a Director for Gyuma Fragrance Inc., Lush Harvest 
Manufacturing Inc., Themangofarm Corp., La Petite Parisienne, Inc., and Lush Enterprises Corp. Also, Ms. Legaspi is the 
Treasurer of Fruitasgroup Incorporated. She was a Director of BALAI since incorporation until December 2021. She 
obtained her Bachelor of Science degree in Accountancy in 1999 and also passed her Civil Service Exams in 1997. She is 
currently taking up her Master’s in Business Administration degree at the University of San Carlos, Cebu City.  

Ma. Teresa Trujillo, 58, was appointed as our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer on December 21, 2021. She has been 
the Human Resources Department Head of FGI since Feb. 2018. She is responsible for overseeing activities within human 
resources management such as recruitment, compensation and benefits, and organizational development. She was the 
Officer-in-Charge of the Business Permits Department when she joined the Group. She completed 18 units for Ateneo 
Graduate School of Business’ Master’s degree in Business Administration for Middle Managers and holds a bachelor’s 
degree in Commerce major in Accounting from Universidad De Sta. Isabel. 
 
Juneil P. Torio, 29, was appointed as our Investor Relations Officer on December 21, 2021 and has been the Investor 
Relations Officer of FHI since July 2019. He is also currently the Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of FHI since August 
2020. He is responsible for all interactions with investors and financial institutions through creating programs which 
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strengthens relationship of FHI to the various investment groups and individuals. Prior to joining FHI, he was a Manager 
in EXL Services Philippines where he started as a Management Trainee post his graduate studies. In 2013, he started his 
career as Management Trainee/Special Projects Officer in the Commercial Centers Division of Robinsons Land 
Corporation. He holds a Master’s degree in Business Administration from the Asian Institute of Management and a 
Bachelor of Arts degree in Management Economics from the Ateneo de Manila University. 

Lerma C. Fajardo, 34, was appointed as the Comptroller of BALAI on December 21, 2021 and has been FHI’s Deputy Chief 
Financial Officer and Comptroller since 2018. She has over 10 years of experience in accounting and finance, previously 
working as an Assistant Manager for Extramind Global Outsourcing Group, Inc.  She holds a Bachelor of Science degree 
in Accountancy from Polytechnic University of the Philippines and is a Certified Public Accountant. 
 
Ralph Hector P. Adricula, 27, has been the Compliance Officer of BALAI since December 21, 2021. He has been with the 
Group for 6 years, where he started as an Accounting Staff in November 2015, and last held the position of an Assistant 
Accounting Manager. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Applied Mathematics from University of the Philippines 
Visayas. 

Marvin C. Yu, 43, was appointed as the Corporate Secretary of BALAI on December 21, 2021, and has been FHI’s 
Corporate Secretary since Aug. 24, 2019. He has more than 15 years of experience in the technical and engineering field. 
He was a Consultant in the SMC Telco Project, Master Planning Network Coverage Senior Manager for the Sun Cellular 
2G and 3G Project, and RF Network Planning, Design and Optimization Engineer for Smart Communications Inc. Mr. 
Marvin Yu holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Electronics and Communications Engineering from De La Salle University 
and an Electronics and Communications Engineering Board Passer. 

William V. Capuno, 35, has been the Head of Operations of BALAI since December 21, 2021. Prior to joining the Group, 
he was the Operations Head of Zagu Foods Corporation where he started his career. After working for 8 years in the 
company, he shifted his career to sales. He worked as a Sales Operations Manager in Marina Sales Incorporated, one of 
the well-known distributors of Del Monte, CDO and Sunquick products. Mr. William holds a Bachelor of Science degree 
in Computer Science in Polytechnic University of the Philippines - Sto. Tomas Batangas.  
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Corporate Governance 
 
Our Company has a Manual on Corporate Governance (“Manual”) which was approved and adopted by our Board on 
December 22, 2021. The Manual has been submitted to the SEC in compliance with SEC Memorandum Circular No. 19 
Series of 2016, or the Code of Corporate Governance for Publicly-Listed Companies. The rules embodied in our Manual 
shall be used as reference by the members of our Board and Management. The following are the guidelines for the 
effective implementation of our Manual: 
 
COMMUNICATION PROCESS 
 
Our Manual shall be posted on our Company’s website and shall also be available for inspection by any of our 
stockholders at reasonable hours on business days. All directors, executives, division and department heads are tasked 
to ensure the thorough dissemination of our Manual to all employees and related third parties, and to likewise enjoin 
compliance with its provisions. Our Company shall include media and analysts’ briefings as channels of communication 
to ensure the timely and accurate dissemination of public, material and relevant information to our shareholders and 
other investors. 
 
TRAINING PROCESS 
 
A director of our Company shall, before assuming as such, be required to attend a seminar on corporate governance 
which shall be conducted by a duly recognized private or government institute. Attendance to an annual corporate 
governance training shall also be required for our Corporate Secretary and Compliance Officer 
  
MONITORING AND ASSESSMENT 
 
Our Compliance Officer shall establish an evaluation system to determine and measure compliance with our Manual. 
 
The establishment of such evaluation system, including the features thereof, may be disclosed in our Company's annual 
report or in such form of report that is applicable to our Company. 
 
To monitor our compliance with the Manual, we are required to accomplish annually a scorecard on the scope, nature 
and extent of the actions taken by our Board and Senior Management to meet the objectives of our Manual.   
 
Our Company's policy on corporate governance is based on the Manual. The Manual lays down the principles of good 
corporate governance in the entire organization. The Manual provides that it is the Board’s responsibility to initiate 
compliance with the principles of good corporate governance, to foster the long-term success of the Company and to 
secure its sustained competitiveness in a manner consistent with its fiduciary responsibility, which it shall exercise in the 
best interest of the Company, its shareholders and other stakeholders.  
 
Corporate governance rules/principles were established to ensure that the interest of stakeholders are always taken into 
account; that our directors, officers, and employees are conducting business in a safe and sound manner; and that 
transactions entered into between our Company and our related interests are conducted at arm’s length basis and in the 
regular course of business.  
 
Our Company is committed to doing business in accordance with the highest professional standards, business conduct 
and ethics and all applicable laws, rules, and regulations. Our Company, our directors, officers, and employees are 
dedicated to promote and adhere to the principles of good corporate governance by observing and maintaining our core 
business principles of accountability, integrity, fairness, and transparency. The Board shall develop a rating system to 
measure the performance of the Board and Management in accordance with the criteria provided in the Manual and 
other rules and regulations on good corporate governance. 
 
 
 
 
 
  



  

88 
 
 

Independent Directors 
 
Based on the Manual, our Company to have at least three independent directors in its Board of Directors, or such number 
as to constitute at least one-third of the members of the Board, whichever is higher. Our Company’s Board of Directors 
is composed of seven members, four of whom are regular directors and three are independent directors. Our Company’s 
independent directors are Lee Ceasar S. Junia, David Jonathan Y. Bayot, and Bernardino M. Ramos. Independent directors 
must hold no interests or relationships with our Company that may hinder their independence from the Company or its 
management, or which would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of 
a director. 
 
Our Company’s Manual provides that the independent directors shall endeavor to always attend board meetings, 
provided, however, that their absence shall not affect the quorum requirement. Our Company’s Board may, to promote 
transparency, require the presence of at least one independent director in all its meetings. 
 
Compliance Officer 
 
The Compliance Officer designated by the Chairman of the Company’s Board shall hold the rank of at least Vice President 
or its equivalent and shall not be a member of the Company’s Board of Directors. He shall have direct reporting 
responsibilities to the Chairman of the Board. He shall have the following duties and responsibilities: 

1. Ensure proper onboarding of new directors (i.e. orientation on our Company’s business, charter, articles of 
incorporation and by-laws, among others); 

2. Monitor compliance with the provisions and requirements of this Manual and the rules and regulations of 
regulatory agencies and, if violations are found, report the matter to the Board and recommend the adoption of 
measures to prevent a repetition of the violation; 

3. Appear before the Commission upon summon on matters related to compliance with the provisions and 
requirements of this Manual that need to be clarified by the same; 

4. Determine violation/s of the Manual and recommend appropriate penalty/ies for violation thereof for further 
review and approval of the Company’s Board; 

5. Collaborate with other departments to properly address compliance issues, which may be subject to investigation; 
6. Ensure the integrity and accuracy of all documentary submissions to regulators; 
7. Ensure the attendance of board members and key officers to relevant trainings; 
8. Issue a certification every January 30th of the year on the extent of our Company's compliance with this Manual 

for the completed year, explaining the reason/s of the latter's deviation from the same; and 
9. Identify, monitor and control compliance risks. 

 
 Chief Audit Executive 
 
The Chief Audit Executive, who may be appointed when the Company’s Board deems it necessary, shall directly report 
functionally to the Audit Committee and administratively to the Chief Executive Officer. He shall oversee and be 
responsible for the internal audit activity of our Company, including that portion that is outsourced to a third-party service 
provider. 
 
Resolving Stockholders’ Disputes 
 
Stockholders who have matters for discussion or concerns directly resulting to the business of our Company may initially 
elevate such matters or concerns to: (a) the Corporate Secretary; (b) the Investor Relations Officer; (c) Management; or 
(d) the Company’s Board. 
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Committees of the Board of Directors 
 
The Company’s Board of Directors has constituted certain committees to effectively manage the operations of our 
Company. Our Company’s principal committees include the Executive Committee, Audit Committee, Nomination and 
Compensation Committee, and the Corporate Governance Committee. A brief description of the functions and 
responsibilities of the key committees are set out below: 
 
A. Executive Committee 

 
The Executive Committee shall be composed of at least three board members, to be appointed by the Company’s Board.  
The Executive Committee, when the Board is not in session, shall have and may exercise the powers of the Board 
in the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation except with respect to: (1) approval of any action 
for which stockholders approval is also required; (2) filling of vacancies in the Board: (3) the amendment or repeal 
of these By-Laws or the adoption of new By-Laws; (4) the amendment or repeal of any resolution of the Board which 
by its express terms is not so amenable or repealable; (5) a distribution of dividends to the stockholders; and (6) such 
other matters as may be specifically excluded or limited by the Board. 
 
B. Audit Committee 

 
The Audit Committee shall be composed of at least four (4) voting members who are members of the Company’s Board, 
at least three of which are non-executive directors, including the independent directors. The Chairman of this Committee 
should be an independent director.  

 
The key functions of the Audit Committee are assisting the Company’s Board in the performance of its oversight 
responsibility for the financial reporting process, system of internal control, audit process, and monitoring of compliance 
with applicable laws, rules and regulations; providing oversight over Management's activities in managing credit, market, 
liquidity, operational, legal and other risks, including receipt or information on risk exposures and risk management 
activities; providing oversight over the Internal Audit Department and External Auditors; monitoring and evaluating the 
adequacy and effectiveness of our Company's internal control system; reviewing the quarterly and annual financial 
statements before their submission to our Company’s Board; and overseeing the implementation of risk management 
and related party strategies and policies. 
  
C. Nomination and Compensation Committee 

 
The Nomination and Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board shall have at least three members, one of whom 
shall be an independent director and one non-voting member in the person of the Vice President for Corporate Human 
Resources of our Company. The Nomination and Compensation Committee shall review and evaluate the qualifications 
of all individuals nominated to the Company’s Board and other appointments that require Board approval, and to assess 
the effectiveness of the Company’s Board’s processes and procedures in the election or replacement of directors. The 
Committee shall also establish a formal and transparent procedure for developing a policy on executive remuneration 
and for fixing the remuneration packages or corporate officers and directors, and provide oversight over remuneration 
of senior management and other key personnel ensuring that compensation is consistent with our Company's culture, 
strategy and control environment. 
 
D. Corporate Governance Committee 
 
The Corporate Governance Committee shall consist of at least three (3) voting members who are members of the 
Company’s Board of Directors (all of which shall be Independent Directors). Among other functions that may be delegated 
by the Company’s Board, the Committee shall be responsible for overseeing the implementation of the corporate 
governance framework and periodically reviews the said framework; overseeing the periodic performance evaluation of 
the Company’s Board and its committees as well as executive management, and conducts an annual self-evaluation of 
its performance; and recommending continuing education/training programs for directors, assignment of tasks/projects 
to board committees, succession plan for the Company’s Board members and senior officers, and remuneration packages 
for corporate and individual performance. 
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Composition of Committees of the Company’s Board of Directors 
 

a) Executive Committee 
 

Lester C. Yu - Chairman 
Madelene T. Sayson - Member 
Rogelio M. Guadalquiver - Member 

b) Nominations and Compensation Committee 
 

David Jonathan Y. Bayot - Chairman 
Lester C. Yu - Member 
Madelene T. Sayson – Member 

c) Audit Committee 
 

Bernardino M. Ramos - Chairman 
Lee Ceasar S. Junia – Member 
Madelene T. Sayson - Member 
Rogelio M. Guadalquiver – Member 

d) Corporate Governance Committee 
 

Lee Ceasar S. Junia - Chairman 
David Jonathan Y. Bayot - Member 
Bernardino M. Ramos - Member 

 
Executive Compensation Table 
 
Compensation  
 
The following table sets forth our most highly compensated executive officers, including Balai Ni Fruitas Inc. Chief 
Executive Officer, for the year ending December 31, 2020: 
 

Name Position 
Lester C. Yu President and CEO  
Roselyn A. Legaspi Managing Director  
William V. Capuno Head of Operations 
Katrina Catabay Area Manager 
Richard Picart Area Manager 

 
The following table identifies and summarizes the aggregate compensation of our President and CEO and the four most 
highly compensated executive officers, as well as the aggregate compensation paid to all other officers and Directors as 
a Company, for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021: 
 

Aggregate Compensation – Executive Officers (top five) 
Year Total (₱ million) 
2019 2.3 
2020 1.5 
Projected 2021  1.8 

 
Aggregate Compensation – Directors and Executive Officers  

(excluding top five above) 
Year Total (₱ million) 
2019 N/A 
2020 N/A 
Projected 2021  0.11 

 
Standard Arrangements 
 
Other than payment of reasonable per diem as may be determined by the Board for every meeting, there are no standard 
arrangements pursuant to which directors of the Company are compensated, or were compensated, directly or indirectly, 
for any services provided as a director and for their committee participation or special assignments for 2021 up to the 
present. 
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Other Arrangements 
 
There are no other arrangements pursuant to which any director of the Company was compensated, or to be 
compensated, directly or indirectly for 2021 up to the present for any service provided as a director. 
 
Warrants and Options 
 
As of the date of this prospectus, there are no outstanding warrants or options held by the President, the CEO, the named 
executive officers, and all officers and directors as a Company. 
 
Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings of Directors and Executive Officers 
 
The Company believes that none of the Company’s directors, nominees for election as director, or executive officers have 
in the five-year period prior to the date of this Prospectus: (1) had any petition filed by or against any business of which 
such person was a general partner or executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or within a two-year period 
of that time, (2) have been convicted by final judgment in a criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, or have been 
subjected to a pending judicial proceeding of a criminal nature, domestic or foreign, excluding traffic violations and other 
minor offenses, (3) have been the subject of any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or 
vacated, of any court of competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, 
suspending or otherwise limiting their involvement in any type of business, securities, commodities or banking activities, 
or (4) have been found by a domestic or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC or comparable 
foreign body, or a domestic or foreign exchange or other organized trading market or self-regulatory organization, to 
have violated a securities or commodities law or regulation, such judgment having not been reversed, suspended, or 
vacated. 
 
Significant Employees 
 
We consider the collective efforts of our employees as vital to our success. We do not solely rely on key individuals for 
the conduct of our business. Therefore, the resignation or loss of any non-executive employee will not have any 
significant, adverse effect on our business. No special arrangement with non-executive employees to assure their 
continued stay with us exists, other than standard employment contracts. 
 
While the Company values the contribution of each of its employees, the Company does not believe that its business is 
dependent on the services of any particular employee. 
 
Family Relationships 
Mr. Lester C. Yu and Mr. Marvin C. Yu are brothers. Aside from the foregoing, there are no family relationships between 
any Directors and any members of the Company‘s senior management as of the date of this Prospectus. 
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PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS AND SELLING SHAREHOLDER 
 
 
Principal Shareholders 
 
The following table sets out our Company’s principal shareholders and each of our directors and officers, their respective 
number of Shares and their corresponding percentage ownership as of the date of this Prospectus: 
 

Name of Shareholder 
 

No. of Shares Held  
(Pre-stock split) 

No. of Shares Held  
(Post stock split) 

 
% of Shareholding 

Fruitas Holdings, Inc. 584,994 1,169,988,000 100.0% 
Lester C. Yu 2 4,000 0.0% 
Sherlyn G. Danguilan 1 2,000 0.0% 
Roselyn A. Legaspi 1 2,000 0.0% 
Marvin C. Yu 1 2,000 0.0% 
Madelene T. Sayson 1 2,000 0.0% 
Calvin F. Chua  1,000 0.0% 
Roger M. Guadalquiver  1,000 0.0% 
Lee Ceasar S. Junia  1,000 0.0% 
David Jonathan Y. Bayot  1,000 0.0% 
Bernardino M. Ramos   1,000 0.0% 

Total 585,000 1,170,005,000 100% 
 
Voting Trust Holders of 5.0% or More 
 
There are no persons holding more than 5.0% of a class of Shares of the Company under a voting trust or similar 
agreement as of the date of this Prospectus.  
 
Selling Shareholder 
 
The following table below sets forth, for the Selling Shareholder, the number of Shares and percentage of outstanding 
Shares held before the Offer, the maximum number of Shares to be sold in the Offer and the number of Share and 
percentage of outstanding Shares owned immediately after the Offer, assuming the full exercise of the Over-Allotment 
Option. 
 
Selling 
Shareholder 

Number of 
Shares held 

% of Shares held 
before the Offer 

Maximum 
Number of 
Shares to be 
sold in the Offer 

% of Shares 
after Offer 
without the 
Over-allotment 

Maximum 
Number of 
Shares to be 
sold in the 
Over-Allotment 
Option 

% of Shares 
after the Offer 
and with Full 
Exercise of the 
Over-allotment 
Option 

Fruitas 
Holdings, Inc. 1,169,988,000 100% 50,000,000 74.92% 37,500,000 72.41% 

 
Changes in Control 
 
In June 2016, Fruitas Holdings, Inc. subscribed to 130,000 Shares (pre-stock split) of BALAI resulting in FHI gaining 
majority control of the Company.  
 
See “Business—Corporate Structure and Reorganization.”  
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN RECORD AND BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 
 

The following table sets out our Company’s shareholders of more than 5% of our voting securities and their respective 
shareholdings and corresponding percentage ownership as of the date of this Prospectus. 
 

Title of Class 
Name and Address of 
Record Owners and 

Relationship with FHI 

Name of Beneficial 
Owner and 

Relationship with 
Record Owner 

Citizen 
No. of 
Shares 
Held 

% of 
Total 

Outstand
ing 

Shares 
Common Fruitas Holdings, Inc. 

60 Cordillera St., Doña 
Josefa Quezon City 

Principal Shareholder 

Lush Properties Inc. 
(Owner of 57.6% of 

Fruitas Holdings, Inc.) 

Filipino 1,169,988,000  100.00% 

 
Lock-up  
 
The PSE rules require that the Company shall cause its existing non-public stockholders and their related parties to refrain 
from selling, assigning, encumbering or in any manner disposing of their shares for a period of one (1) year after the 
listing of the subject shares. All other stockholders shall not be subject to mandatory lock-up under this provision. 

 
For this purpose, the term “non-public stockholders” shall mean the corporation’s:  
(i)   principal stockholders (i.e., the owner of ten percent (10%) or more of the issued and outstanding shares);  
(ii)  subsidiaries or affiliates;  
(iii)  directors;  
(iv)  principal officers; and  
(v)  any other person who has substantial influence on how the corporation is being managed.  
 
The term “related parties” shall mean the non-public stockholder’s:  
(i)    principal stockholders (i.e., the owner of ten percent (10%) or more of the issued and outstanding shares);  
(ii)   subsidiaries or affiliates;  
(iii)   directors;  
(iv)   principal officers; and  
(v)   members of the immediate families sharing the same household of any of its principal stockholders, directors,  
   or principal officers.  

 
If there is any issuance or transfer of shares (i.e., private placement, asset for shares swap or a similar transaction) or of 
instruments which leads to an issuance of shares (i.e., convertible bonds, warrants or a similar instrument) done and fully 
paid for within six (6) months prior to the start of the Offering Period, or, prior to the listing date in case of Applicant 
Companies listing by way of introduction, and the transaction price is lower than that of the offer price in the Initial Public 
Offering, or than that of the listing price in the case of Applicant Companies listing by way of introduction, all shares 
subscribed or acquired shall be subject to a lock-up period of at least one (1) year from listing of the aforesaid shares. 
 
Thus, the following shall be subject to such 1-year lock-up period: 
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Shareholder 

Before the Offer 

No. of Shares 
after the 

Firm Offer 

% of Total 
Outstan-

ding 
Shares 

after the 
Firm 
Offer  

No. of Shares 
after the Firm 

Offer and 
Assuming Full 
Exercise of the 

Over-
Allotment 

Option 

% of Total 
Outstanding 
Shares after 

the Firm 
Offer and 
Assuming 

Full Exercise 
of the Over-
Allotment 

Option 

No. of Shares 
Held 

% of 
Total 

Outstan-
ding 

Shares 

Fruitas Holdings, Inc. 1,169,988,000 100.00% 1,119,988,000 74.92% 1,082,488,000 72.41% 
Lester C. Yu 4,000 0.00% 4,000 0.00% 4,000 0.00% 
Roselyn A. Legaspi 2,000 0.00% 2,000 0.00% 2,000 0.00% 
Marvin C. Yu 2,000 0.00% 2,000 0.00% 2,000 0.00% 
Madelene T. Sayson 2,000 0.00% 2,000 0.00% 2,000 0.00% 
Calvin F. Chua 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 
Rogelio M. 
Guadalquiver 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 

Lee Ceasar S. Junia  1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 
David Jonathan Y. 
Bayot   1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 

Bernardino M. Ramos  1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 
 
To implement the foregoing lock-up requirements, the PSE requires the applicant company to lodge the shares with the 
PDTC through a Philippine Central Depository participant for the electronic lock-up of the shares or enter into an escrow 
agreement with the trust department or custodian unit of an independent and reputable financial institution. 
 
Security Ownership of Directors and Officers  
 
The following comprise our Company’s board of directors and officers owning Shares as of the date of this Prospectus.  
 

Title of 
Class Name of Record Owner 

Number of 
Shares 

(in ‘000) 

Amount 
(in ₱ ‘000) 

Nature of 
Beneficial 

Ownership 
Citizenship 

% of Total 
Outstanding 

Shares 
Common Fruitas Holdings, Inc. 1,169,988,000 58,499.40  Direct Filipino 100.00% 
Common Lester C. Yu* 4,000 0.20 Direct Filipino 0.00% 
Common Roselyn A. Legaspi 2,000 0.10 Direct Filipino 0.00% 
Common Marvin C. Yu 2,000 0.10 Direct Filipino 0.00% 
Common Madelene T. Sayson 2,000 0.10 Direct Filipino 0.00% 
Common Calvin F. Chua 1,000 0.05 Direct Filipino 0.00% 
Common Roger M. Guadalquiver 1,000 0.05  Direct Filipino 0.00% 
Common Lee Ceasar S. Junia 1,000 0.05  Direct Filipino 0.00% 
Common David Jonathan Y. Bayot 1,000 0.05  Direct Filipino 0.00% 
Common Bernardino M. Ramos  1,000 0.05  Direct Filipino  0.00% 

* Lester C. Yu beneficially owns 63.44% of Fruitas Holdings, Inc., which in turn owns 100.00% of the Company’s Shares 
prior to the Offer. 
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Dilution of Principal Shareholders 
The table below shows the dilution of our principal shareholders as a result of the Offer.  
 
 

Name of Shareholder 

Number of 
Common 

Shares Held 
before the 

Offer 

Percentage 
Total of 

Shareholding 
before the 

Offer 

Number of 
Common Shares 

after the Firm Offer 

Percentage Total 
of Shareholding 
after the Firm 

Offer 
Fruitas Holdings, Inc.* 1,169,988,000 100.00% 1,119,988,000 74.92% 
Lester C. Yu 4,000 0.00% 4,000 0.00% 
Sherlyn G. Danguilan 2,000 0.00% 2,000 0.00% 
Roselyn A. Legaspi 2,000 0.00% 2,000 0.00% 
Marvin C. Yu 2,000 0.00% 2,000 0.00% 
Madelene T. Sayson 2,000 0.00% 2,000 0.00% 
Calvin F. Chua 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 
Rogelio M. Guadalquiver 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 
Lee Ceasar S. Junia 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 
David Jonathan Y. Bayot 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 
Bernardino M. Ramos  1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 

* Ownership of Fruitas Holdings, Inc. will drop to 1,082,488,000 shares and 72.41% of the total shareholding after the 
Firm Offer if the Over-Allotment Option is fully exercised. 
 
See “Business—Corporate Structure and Reorganization.” 
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
 
In the ordinary course of business, the Company has transactions with related parties. Under the Company’s policies, 
these transactions are made substantially on the same terms as transactions with other individuals and businesses of 
comparable risk.  

For further information on the Company’s related party transactions, including detailed breakdowns of amounts 
receivable from related parties and the income and expenses relating to related party transactions, see Note 20 to the 
Company’s audited financial statements for nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for the years ended December 
31, 2020 and 2019. 

Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions 

Due from Related Parties 

The Company has due from related parties amounting to ₱70.2 million as of September 30, 2021. On October 3, 2021, 
due from related parties amounting to ₱60.0 million was reclassified to unsecured notes receivable. The note receivable 
has a term of one year and bears 5% fixed interest and is payable in lump sum at maturity date while interest is payable 
monthly. 

Transfer of Assets and Assignment of Lease  

In May 2021, the Board of Directors of the Company approved certain reorganization activities wherein certain assets 
and rights to the lease of various outlets previously owned and operated by the Company were transferred to FGI. The 
primary purpose of the reorganization activities is to integrate the operating activities of Fruitas brands to FGI, which will 
result in the economies of scale and efficiency of operations and more productive use of the assets. The obligations for 
rental deposits on leases were transferred to FGI through an assignment of lease agreement. 

Lease Agreements 

Company as Lessee - Short-term Lease 

In October 2021, the Company entered into a lease agreement with FHI for its store space in Sta. Mesa, Manila for a 
period of one year and renewable annually. The lease contract for the store provides for a monthly fixed rental. The lease 
agreement is generally renewable through a notice of lease renewal and upon mutual agreement with the lessor. 

Related Party Transaction Policy 

The Company enters into transactions with affiliates and other related parties on an arm’s length basis. 

Aligned with this thrust, the Company, in dealing with affiliates and other related parties, ensures above-board 
transactions and fairness and equity among all parties. 

The Company exerts efforts to obtain the most beneficial terms and conditions for the Company, taking into consideration 
various factors including pricing and quality. 

For this purpose, the Company determines the prevailing and applicable price in the market. In the process, it also gathers 
quotes and/or proposals from other parties engaged in similar or the same undertaking. Based on these, a comparable 
summary is presented to ascertain a fair price for the applicable related party transaction. 

Moving forward, the related party transaction committee shall review all related party transactions of the Company. 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE SHARES 

 
 
The Firm Offer shall be up to [375,000,000] Offer Shares, consisting of up to [325,000,000] Primary Shares and up to 
[50,000,000] Secondary Shares, with a par value of ₱0.05 per share. In addition, up to [37,500,000] existing common 
Shares will be offered by the Selling Shareholder as part of the Over-Allotment Option.  A total of up to [1,495,005,000] 
shares of our Company shall be outstanding after the Offer. 
 
Share Capital Information 
 
On November 24, 2021, the Company received the approval for the amendment of its Articles of Incorporation including 
the increase of its authorized capital stock to ₱75,000,000.00, which previously stood at ₱55,000,000.00 comprising 
entirely of common shares. On December 21, 2021, the Company received the approval for the amendment of its Articles 
of Incorporation including the change of its par value from ₱100 per common share to ₱0.05 per common share, such 
that its authorized capital stock was amended from 750,000 common shares with par value of ₱100 per common share 
to 1,500,000,000 common shares with a par value of ₱0.05 per common share. Upon listing, the Company will have 
[1,495,005,000] issued and outstanding common shares. 

Objects and Purposes 
 
Primary Purpose 
 
To engage in the business of processing, manufacturing, packaging, servicing, repacking, marketing, buying, selling, 
trading, or otherwise dealing in,   (on wholesale and/or to the extent allowed under Philippine law, on retail basis) wet 
and dry goods such as fresh fruit drinks, baked goods and other related products, and conduct, maintain, and carry on 
the general business of bakery, restaurant, cafeteria, kiosk, supermarket, and any articles of food products; and to engage 
in such other activities as may be reasonably incidental to or necessary in connection with the conduct of the business of 
the corporation as aforementioned.  
 
Secondary Purposes 
 

• To enter into all kinds of contracts for the exportation, importation, purchase, acquisition, sale at wholesale and 
other disposition for its own account as principal or in a representative capacity as manufacturer's 
representative, merchandise broker, indentor, commission merchant, factor or agent, upon consignment, of all 
kinds of food products, goods, commodities, wares, merchandise or other products, whether natural or artificial 
 

• To engage in the business of acquiring, developing, managing and utilizing any and  all  tradenames,  trademarks, 
service  marks,  and other intellectual property rights, necessary to operate  the business as well as to grant, 
issue, allow, and  accredit the  use, employment, exploitation and  availment  of  such  tradenames,  trademarks, 
service  marks,  and other intellectual property rights, whether exclusive or non-exclusive, for and in 
consideration of the payment of fees, dividends, royalties, charges, dues, commissions and remunerations, and 
in connection therewith, to set up, create and establish  management services, systems,  techniques, 
technologies  and networks  for the expansion  of the business 
 

• To act as managers or managing agents of persons, firms, associations, corporations, partnerships, and other 
entities; to provide management investment and technical advice for commercial, industrial and other kinds of 
enterprises; and to undertake, carry on, assist or participate in the promotion, organizations, management, 
liquidation, or reorganization of corporations, partnerships and other entities except the management of funds, 
portfolio and similar assets of the managed entity 
 

• To  purchase,   acquire,  own,  lease, let,  sell, convey, mortgage, encumber, and otherwise deal with real 
properties,  such as lands, buildings,  factories and warehouses  and machineries, equipment, and  personal  
properties  as may  be  necessary  or incidental  to the  conduct  of the corporate  business, and to pay in cash, 
shares of its capital debentures  and other evidences of indebtedness, or  other  securities,  as  may  be  deemed  
expedient   for any  business  or property  acquired by the corporation. 
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• To borrow  or raise money  from not more than  nineteen  (19) lenders  including  its stockholders necessary to 

meet the financial requirements of its business by the issuance of bonds,  promissory  notes and other evidence  
of indebtedness and to secure the repayment thereof by mortgage,  pledge, deed of trust or lien upon the 
properties  of the corporation  or to issue  pursuant  to law  shares  of   its   capital  stock, debentures,  and  other 
evidence  of indebtedness in payment for properties  acquired by the corporation  or for money borrowed in 
the prosecution of its lawful business. 
 

• To invest and deal with moneys and properties of the corporation in such manner as may from time to time be 
considered wise or expedient for the advancement of its interest and to sell, dispose of or transfer the business, 
properties, and goodwill of the corporation or any part thereof for such consideration and under such terms as 
it shall see fit to accept. 
 

• To aid in any manner any corporation, association or trust estate, domestic or foreign, or any firm or individual, 
any shares of stock in which or any bonds, debentures, notes, securities, evidences of indebtedness, contracts 
or obligations of which are held by or for the corporation, directly or indirectly or through other corporations or 
otherwise. 
 

• To enter into any lawful arrangement   for sharing   profits, union   of interests, unitization of farmout   
agreement,  reciprocal  concession,   or   cooperation,  with   any corporation, association, partnership, syndicate, 
entity, person or governmental, municipal, or public authority, domestic or foreign, in the carrying on of any 
business  or transaction deemed  necessary, convenient  or  incidental  to carrying  out  any  of the  purposes  of 
the corporation. 
 

• To acquire, or obtain from any government   or authority, national, provincial, municipal, or otherwise, or any 
corporation, company or partnership   or person, such charter, contracts, franchise, privileges, exemption, 
licenses, and concessions as may be conducive to any of the objects of the corporation. 
 

• To establish and operate one or more offices or agencies and to carry on any or all of its operations and business 
without any restrictions as to place or amount including the right to hold, purchase or otherwise deal in and with 
real and personal property anywhere Within the Philippines. 

 
• To distribute dividends, the surplus profits of the corporation to the stockholders thereof in kind or in cash. 

namely, properties of the corporation, particularly any shares of stock, debentures or securities of other 
companies belonging to this corporation. 
 

• To assume, undertake, guarantee, or secure, whether as solidary obligor, surety, guarantor, or security provider, 
or in any other capacity, and either on its general credit or on the mortgage or security over any of its property, 
the whole or any part of the liabilities and obligations of any of its direct or indirect parent, stockholders, 
subsidiaries, or affiliates, or any person, firm, association, or corporation, whether domestic or foreign, in which 
the corporation has lawful interest and for the benefit of the corporation. 
 
To conduct and transact any and lawful activities, and to do or cause to be done any    one or more of the acts 
and things herein set forth as its purposes, within or without the Philippines, and in any and all foreign countries, 
and to do everything necessary, desirable or incidental to the accomplishment of the purposes or the exercise 
of any one or more of the powers herein enumerated, or. which shall at any time appear conducive to or 
expedient for the protection or benefit of this corporation.  

 
 
Share Capital 
 
A Philippine corporation may issue common or preferred shares, or such other classes of shares with such rights, 
privileges or restrictions as may be provided for in its articles of incorporation and by-laws. A Philippine corporation may 
also increase or decrease its authorized capital stock, provided that the increase or decrease is approved by a majority of 
the board of directors and by shareholders representing at least two-thirds of the outstanding capital stock of the 
corporation voting at a shareholders’ meeting duly called for the purpose and is duly approved by the SEC.  
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All of the Company’s shares that are currently issued or authorized to be issued are common shares and have a par value 
of ₱0.05 per share. If par value shares are issued at a price above par, whether for cash or otherwise, the amount by 
which the subscription price exceeds the par value is credited to an account designated as paid-in surplus. 
 
The Company may acquire its own shares for a legitimate corporate purpose as long as it has unrestricted retained 
earnings or surplus profits sufficient to pay for the shares to be acquired, such as in the following instances: (i) elimination 
of fractional shares arising out of stock dividends, (ii) the purchase of shares of dissenting shareholders exercising their 
appraisal right and (iii) the collection or compromise of an indebtedness arising out of an unpaid subscription in a 
delinquency sale or to purchase delinquent shares during such sale. Upon repurchase of its own shares, the shares 
become treasury shares, which may be resold at a reasonable price fixed by the board of directors. 
 
The Board is authorized to issue shares from the treasury from time to time. 
 
Foreign Ownership Limits 
 
As a general rule, only Filipino citizens and corporations wholly-owned by such citizens are allowed to engage in retail 
trade business. However, under the implementing rules of the Retail Trade Liberalization Act of 2000, any foreign 
investor, whether or not it is presently engaged in retail trade, may be allowed to invest in existing retail stores, publicly 
listed or not, subject to the paid-up capitalization amounts expressed in net worth, investment per store and equity 
requirements under Rule III of such implementing rules. A foreign investor means a non-Filipino citizen, if a natural 
person, or if a juridical person, a duly formed and organized corporation, partnership, association or entity that is not 
wholly-owned by Filipinos, whether or not engaged in retail trade. See “Regulatory and Environmental Matters—The 
Retail Trade Liberalization Act” on page [73]. 
  
The Philippine Constitution and other Philippine laws and regulations require that ownership of companies who own land 
be limited to citizens of the Philippines, or Philippine Nationals who are corporations or associations organized under the 
laws of the Philippines of which at least 60% of the capital stock outstanding is owned and held by citizens of the 
Philippines. Thus, since our Company currently owns land, we will have to comply with the said nationality restrictions. 
 
Rights Relating to Shares 
 
Voting Rights  
 
The Company’s shares have full voting rights. Each common share entitles the holder to one vote at all shareholders’ 
meeting for each Share standing in his name on the books of the Company at the time or closing thereof for the purpose 
of the meeting. In determining the shareholders who are entitled to vote at any meeting of the stockholders, the Board 
may provide that the stock and transfer book be closed for a stated period not exceeding 20 days. 
 
The directors are elected by its shareholders at the annual shareholders’ meeting. Cumulative voting is allowed whereby 
a shareholder may cumulate his votes by giving one candidate as many votes as the number of directors to be elected 
multiplied by the number of his shares. Under Philippine law, voting rights cannot be exercised with respect to shares 
declared delinquent, treasury shares, or if the shareholder has elected to exercise his appraisal rights. 
 
Dividend Rights  
 
Dividends are payable to all shareholders on the basis of outstanding shares held by them, each common share being 
entitled to the same unit of dividend as any other outstanding common shares. Dividends are payable to shareholders 
whose names are recorded in the stock and transfer book as of the record date fixed by our directors. The PDTC has an 
established mechanism for distribution of dividends to beneficial owners of the shares which are traded through the PSE 
and lodged with the PDTC as required for scripless trading. 
 
Under Philippine law, our corporation can only declare dividends to the extent that we have unrestricted retained 
earnings that represent the amount of accumulated profits and gains realized out of the normal and continuous 
operations of the Company after deducting therefrom distributions to stockholders and transfers to capital stock or other 
accounts, and which is: (1) not appropriated by its Board of Directors for corporate expansion projects or programs; (2) 
not covered by a restriction for dividend declaration under a loan agreement; and (3)  not required to be retained under 
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special circumstances obtaining in the corporation such as when there is a need for a special reserve for probable 
contingencies. Our Company may pay dividends in cash, property or by the issuance of shares. Dividends may be declared 
by the board of directors except for stock dividends which may only be declared and paid with the approval of 
shareholders representing at least two-thirds of the issued and outstanding capital stock of our corporation voting at a 
shareholders’ meeting duly called for the purpose. 
 
The Philippine Corporation Code prohibits a Philippine corporation from retaining surplus profits in excess of 100% of its 
paid-in capital stock. Notwithstanding this general requirement, a Philippine corporation may retain all or any portion of 
such surplus in the following cases: (i) when justified by definite expansion plans approved by the board of directors of 
our corporation; (ii) when the required consent of any financing institution or creditor to such distribution has not been 
secured; (iii) when retention is necessary under special circumstances, such as when there is a need for special reserves 
for probable contingencies; or (iv) when the non-distribution of dividends is consistent with the policy or requirement of 
a Government office. 
 
Philippine corporations whose securities are listed on any stock exchange are required to maintain and distribute an 
equitable balance of cash and stock dividends, consistent with the needs of shareholders and the demands for growth or 
expansion of the business. 
 
See “Dividends and Dividend Policy” on page [37]. 
 
Pre-emptive Rights 
 
The Philippine Corporation Code confers pre-emptive rights on shareholders of a Philippine corporation entitling such 
shareholders to subscribe for all issues or other dispositions of equity-related securities by our corporation in proportion 
to their respective shareholdings, regardless of whether the equity-related securities proposed to be issued or otherwise 
disposed of are identical to the shares held. A Philippine corporation may, however, provide for the denial of these pre-
emptive rights in its articles of incorporation. Likewise, shareholders who are entitled to such pre-emptive rights may 
waive the same through a written instrument to that effect. The articles of incorporation of our Company deny 
shareholders the pre-emptive right to subscribe to all classes of shares that we may issue in the future including any 
increases in the capital stock of our Company. 
 
Derivative Rights 
 
Philippine law recognizes the right of a shareholder to institute proceedings on behalf of our corporation in a derivative 
action in circumstances where our corporation itself is unable or unwilling to institute the necessary proceedings to 
redress wrongs committed against our corporation or to vindicate corporate rights as, for example, where the directors 
themselves are the malefactors. 
 
Appraisal Rights 
 
Under the Philippine Corporation Code, a shareholder has the right to dissent and demand payment of the fair value of 
his shares in the following instances: (i) an amendment of the articles of incorporation which has the effect of changing 
or restricting the rights attached to his shares or of authorizing preferences in any respect superior to those of 
outstanding shares of any class or of extending or shortening the term of corporate existence; (ii) the sale, lease, 
exchange, transfer, mortgage, pledge or other disposal of all or substantially all the corporate assets; (iii) in a merger or 
consolidation; and (iv) and investment by our corporation of funds in any other corporation or business or for any purpose 
other than the primary purpose for which it was organized.  In these circumstances, the dissenting shareholder may 
require the corporation to purchase his shares at a fair value which, in default, is determined by three disinterested 
persons, one of whom shall be named by the stockholder, one by the corporation, and the third by the two thus chosen.  
The appraisal rights may be exercised by the dissenting stockholder by making a written demand within 30 days after the 
date on which the vote was taken on the corporate action.  The failure to make the demand within the period shall be 
deemed a waiver of the appraisal rights.  
 
The payment to the dissenting stockholder of the fair value of his shares will only be available if our corporation has 
unrestricted retained earnings to cover such purchase. From the time the shareholder makes a demand for payment until 
our corporation purchases such shares, all rights accruing on the shares, including voting and dividend rights, shall be 
suspended, except the right of the shareholder to receive the fair value of the share. 
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Right of Inspection and Disclosure Requirements 
 
Philippine stock corporations are required to file an annual general information sheet, which sets forth data on their 
management and capital structure, and copies of their annual financial statements with the SEC. Corporations must also 
submit their annual financial statements to the BIR. Corporations whose shares are listed on the PSE are also required to 
file current, quarterly and annual reports with the SEC and the PSE.  
 
Shareholders are entitled to require copies of the most recent financial statements of the corporation, which include a 
statement of financial position as of the end of the most recent tax year and a statement of income for that year. 
Shareholders are also entitled to inspect and examine the books and records which the corporation is required by law to 
maintain. 
 
Provisions that Would Delay, Deter or Prevent a Change in Control 
 
Article Eight of our amended Articles of Incorporation provides that should our Company apply for, and qualify to list our 
shares in the PSE, we shall comply with the lock-up requirements of the PSE Listing Rules. See “Security Ownership of 
Certain Record and Beneficial Owners and Management” on page [93] of this Prospectus. 
 
Other than the foregoing, there are no existing provisions in the Company’s amended articles of incorporation or the By-
Laws which will delay, defer or in any manner prevent a change in control of the Company. 
 
 
Board of Directors  
 
Unless otherwise provided by law, the corporate powers of our Company are exercised, our business is conducted, and 
our property is controlled, by our board of directors. Pursuant to our articles of incorporation, as amended, our Company 
shall have seven directors, three of whom are independent directors within the meaning set forth in Section 38 of the 
SRC. Our directors shall be elected during each regular meeting of shareholders, at which shareholders representing at 
least a majority of the issued and outstanding capital shares of our Company are present, either in person or by proxy. 
Directors may only act collectively; individual directors have no power as such. Four directors, which is a majority of the 
Directors, constitute a quorum for the transaction of corporate business. In general, every decision of a majority of the 
quorum duly assembled as a Board is valid as a corporate act. Any vacancy created by the death, resignation or removal 
of a director prior to expiration of such director‘s term shall be filled by a vote of at least a majority of the remaining 
directors, if still constituting a quorum, Otherwise, the vacancy must be filled by our shareholders at a meeting duly called 
for the purpose. Any director elected in this manner by our board of directors shall serve only for the unexpired term of 
the director whom such director replaces and until his successor is duly elected and qualified. 
 
Shareholders’ Meetings  
 
Annual or Regular Shareholders’ Meetings 
 
All Philippine corporations are required to hold an annual meeting of shareholders for corporate purposes including the 
election of directors. The by-laws of our Company provide for annual meetings every 3rd Monday of June of each year to 
be held at the principal office or at any place designated by the Board of Directors in the city or municipality where the 
principal office of the Corporation is located and at such hour as specified in the notice.  
 
Special Shareholders’ Meeting 
 
Special meetings of shareholders, for any purpose or purposes, may at any time be called by any of the following: (a) the 
Chairman of the Board; (b) President; or (c) the Secretary at the order of the Board of Directors, or at the written request 
of one or more stockholders representing at least twenty percent (20%) of the total issued and outstanding capital stock 
of our corporation entitled to vote. Such request shall state the purpose or purposes of the proposed meeting and shall 
be delivered to and shall be called by the Secretary at our Company’s principal office. 
  
  



  

102 
 
 

Notice of Shareholders’ Meeting 
 
Whenever shareholders are required or permitted to take any action at a meeting, a written or printed notice of the 
meeting stating the place, date and time of the meeting, and the general nature of the business to be considered, shall 
be sent by facsimile, personal delivery, by registered mail, by electronic-mail or other electronic means, or at the option 
of our Company, by publication in a newspaper of general circulation, provided that unless expressly required by law, no 
publication of any notice of a meeting of stockholders shall be required. The Revised Corporation Code provides that 
written notice of the regular meetings of stockholders shall be sent to all stockholders of record at least twenty-one (21) 
days prior to the meeting. Shareholders entitled to vote may, by written consent, waive notice of the time, place and 
purpose of any meeting of shareholders and any action taken at such meeting pursuant to such waiver shall be valid and 
binding.  
 
Each stockholder shall provide his current address and electronic mail address to the Secretary not later than thirty (30) 
days after the regular meeting of the stockholders, and shall notify the Secretary of any change in his address or electronic 
mail address within five (5) days from the said change. The Secretary shall maintain a record of the current address, and 
the electronic mail address of each stockholder of the Company. Any notice of any regular or special meeting send by 
electronic mail to the last known electronic mail address of a stockholder shall be considered a valid service of the notice 
upon said stockholder.  
 
When the meeting of stockholders is adjourned to another time or place, it shall not be necessary to give any notice of 
the adjourned meeting if the time and place to which the meeting is adjourned are announced at the meeting at which 
adjournment is teak. At the reconvened meeting, any business may be transacted at the meeting original convened 
 
Quorum 
 
A quorum at any meeting of our shareholders shall consist of a majority of the outstanding voting stock of our Corporation 
represented in person or by proxy, and a majority of such quorum shall decide any question that may come before the 
meeting, save and except those several matters in which the laws of the Philippines require the affirmative vote of a 
greater proportion. If no quorum is constituted, the meeting shall be adjourned until the requisite number of stockholders 
shall be present. 
  
Voting 
 
Our shareholders may vote at all meetings the number of shares registered in their respective names, either in person or 
by proxy duly appointed as herein provided. All elections and questions, except in cases specified by law or the Company’s 
Articles of Incorporation, shall be decided by the vote of the stockholders representing majority of the outstanding capital 
stock of the Company, present in person or by proxy, a quorum being present. Unless required by law or demanded by a 
stockholder present in person or by proxy at any meeting, the vote on any question need not be by ballot. On a vote by 
ballot, each ballot shall be signed by the stockholder voting, or in his name by his proxy if there be such proxy, and shall 
state the number of shares voted by them.   
 
Fixing Record Dates 
 
Under existing Philippine SEC rules, cash dividends declared by corporations whose shares are listed on the PSE shall have 
a record date which shall not be less than ten and not more than 30 days from the date of declaration of cash dividends. 
With respect to stock dividends, the record date shall not be less than ten nor more than 30 days from the date of 
shareholder approval. In the event that a stock dividend is declared in connection with an increase in authorized capital 
stock, the corresponding record date shall be fixed by the Philippine SEC and shall be indicated in the Philippine SEC order 
which shall not be less than ten days nor more than 30 days after all clearances and approvals by the Philippine SEC shall 
have been secured. Regardless of the kind of dividends, the record date set shall not be less than ten trading days from 
receipt by the PSE of the notice of declaration of the dividend. 
 
Proxies 
 
Shareholders may vote at all meetings the number of shares registered in their respective names, either in person or by 
proxy duly given in writing and duly presented to and received by the Corporate Secretary for inspection and recording 
at or prior to the opening of the meeting. No proxy bearing the signature that is not legally acknowledged, if unrecognized 
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by the Corporate Secretary, shall be honored at the meetings. Unless otherwise provided in the proxy, it shall be valid 
only for the meeting at which it has been presented to the Corporate Secretary. No proxy shall be valid and effective for 
a period longer than five years at any one time. No member of the PSE and no broker/dealer shall give any proxy, consent 
or authorization, in respect of any securities carried for the account of a customer to a person other than the customer, 
without the express written authorization of such customer. The proxy executed by the broker shall be accompanied by 
a certification under oath stating that before the proxy was given to the broker, he had duly obtained the written consent 
of the persons in whose account the shares are held. 
 
There shall be a presumption of regularity in the execution of proxies and proxies shall be accepted if they have the 
appearance of prima facie authenticity in the absence of a timely and valid challenge. Proxies should comply with the 
relevant provisions of the Philippine Corporation Code, the SRC, the Implementing Rules and Regulations of the SRC (as 
amended), and Philippine SEC Memorandum Circular No. 5 (series of 1996) issued by the Philippine SEC. 
 
Issues of Shares 
 
Subject to otherwise applicable limitations, our Company may issue additional Shares to any person for consideration 
deemed fair by the Board, provided that such consideration shall not be less than the par value of the issued Shares. No 
share certificates shall be issued to a subscriber until the full amount of the subscription together with interest and 
expenses (in case of delinquent Shares) has been paid and proof of payment of the applicable taxes shall have been 
submitted to our Company’s Corporate Secretary. Under the PSE Rules, only fully-paid shares may be listed on the PSE. 
 
 
Transfer of Common Shares  
 
All transfer of shares on the PSE shall be effected by means of a book-entry system. Under this system of trading and 
settlement, a registered shareholder transfers legal title over the shares to such nominee, but retains beneficial 
ownership over the shares. A shareholder transfers legal title by surrendering the stock certificate representing his shares 
to participants of the PDTC System (i.e., brokers and custodian banks) that, in turn, lodge the same with the PCD Nominee. 
A shareholder may request his shares to be uplifted from the PDTC, in which case a certificate of stock is issued to the 
shareholder and the shares are registered in the shareholder’s name. See “The Philippine Stock Market” on page [●] of 
this Prospectus. 
 
Philippine law does not require transfers of our Shares to be effected on the PSE, but any off-exchange transfers will 
subject the transferor to a capital gains tax that may be significantly greater than the stock transfer tax applicable to 
transfers effected on an exchange. See “Philippine Taxation” on page [●] of this Prospectus. All transfers of Shares on the 
PSE must be effected through a licensed stockbroker in the Philippines. 
 
Share Register 
 
Our Company’s share register is maintained at the principal office of our share transfer agent, PNB Trust Banking Group 
located at the 3rd Floor, PNB Financial Center, President Diosdado Macapagal Boulevard, Pasay City. 
 
Share Certificates 
 
Certificates representing the Shares will be issued in such denominations as shareholders may request, except that 
certificates will not be issued for fractional Shares. Shareholders may request our stock transfer agent to split their 
certificates. Shares may also be lodged and maintained under the book-entry system of the PDTC. See “The Philippine 
Stock Market” on page [107] of this Prospectus. 
 
Beneficial Ownership Disclosure 
 
The Securities Regulation Code and the SRC Rules provide for disclosure of beneficial and legal ownership of shares in a 
reporting company, such as a public company. The term “beneficial owner” or “beneficial ownership” is defined under 
the SRC Rules. 
 
Any person who acquires directly or indirectly the beneficial ownership of five percent (5%) or more of any class of equity 
securities of a public company shall within five (5) business days after such acquisition submit to the issuer, the exchange 
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where the security is traded and to the SEC a sworn statement containing the information required by SEC Form 18-A. If 
the equity securities under the name of the legal owner are beneficially owned by another person/s, the legal owner and 
beneficial owner shall file individually or jointly. The regulations also provide that if any change occurs in the facts set 
forth in the statements, an amendment shall be transmitted to the issuer, the exchange and the SEC. 
 
Every person who is, directly or indirectly, the beneficial owner of ten percent (10%) or more of any class of any security 
of a public company, or who is a director or an officer of the issuer of such security, shall: (i) within ten (10) calendar days 
after the effective date of the registration statement for that security, or within ten (10) calendar days after he becomes 
such beneficial owner, director or officer, subsequent to the effective date of the registration statement, whichever is 
earlier, file a statement with the SEC, and with the exchange, if the security is listed on an exchange, on SEC Form 23-A 
indicating the amount of securities of such issuer of which he is the beneficial owner; (ii) within ten (10) calendar days 
after the close of each calendar month thereafter, if there has been any change in such ownership during the month, file 
a statement with the SEC and with the exchange, if the security is listed on an exchange, on SEC Form 23-B indicating his 
ownership at the close of the calendar month and such changes in his ownership as have occurred during that calendar 
month, and (iii) notify the SEC if his direct or indirect beneficial ownership of securities falls below ten percent (10%), or 
if he ceases to be an officer or director of the issuer. However, a newly appointed officer, who has no beneficial ownership 
over the shares of the Company, shall notify the SEC of such fact within ten (10) calendar days from such appointment. 
 
If the security is listed on an exchange, the report shall be filed on that exchange in accordance with the rules of the 
exchange, but not more than five (5) calendar days after such person became beneficial owner. The filing with the 
exchange may be deemed as filing with the SEC pursuant to a Memorandum of Agreement between the exchange and 
the SEC; provided that the Memorandum of Agreement shall provide for the ability of the SEC to download and upload 
the same information made available to the exchange. 
 
The law and regulations contain a separate procedure and conditions by which the following entities may comply with 
the disclosure obligation: broker or dealer registered under the SRC, a bank authorized to operate as such by the BSP, an 
insurance company subject to the supervision of the Insurance Commission, an investment house registered under the 
Investment Houses Law, an investment company registered under the Investment Company Act, a pension plan subject 
to the regulation and supervision by the BIR and/or the Insurance Commission, or a Company where all its members are 
persons specified above. 
 
Mandatory Tender Offer 
 
In general, under the SRC and its implementing rules and regulations, it is mandatory for any person or Company of 
persons acting in concert to make a tender offer to all the shareholders of the target corporation before the intended 
acquisition of:  

• at least 35% of the outstanding voting shares or such outstanding voting shares sufficient to gain control of the Board 
of a public company in one or more transactions for a period of 12 months; or 

•  35% of the outstanding voting shares or such outstanding voting shares sufficient to gain control of the Board of a 
public company directly from one or more stockholders; or 

•  equity which would result in ownership of over 50% of the outstanding equity securities of a public company. 
 

Under the first instance, when the securities tendered pursuant to such an offer exceed the number of shares that the 
acquiring person or Company of persons is willing to acquire, the securities shall be purchased from each tendering 
shareholder on a pro rata basis according to the number of securities tendered by each security holder. In the event that 
the tender offer is oversubscribed, the aggregate amount of securities to be acquired at the close of such tender offer 
shall be proportionately distributed to both the selling shareholders with whom the acquirer may have been in private 
negotiations with and the minority shareholders. 
 
Under the second instance, the tender offer shall be made for all the outstanding voting shares. The shares pursuant to 
the private transaction with the stockholders shall not be completed prior to the closing and completion of the tender 
offer. 
 
Under the third instance, the acquirer shall be required to make a tender offer for all the outstanding equity securities to 
all remaining stockholders of our company at a price supported by a fairness opinion provided by an independent financial 
advisor or equivalent third party. The acquirer shall be required to accept all securities tendered. 
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No mandatory tender is required in: 
•  purchases of shares from unissued capital shares unless it will result in a 50% or more ownership of shares by the 

purchaser; 
•  purchases from an increase in the authorized capital shares of the target company; 
•  purchases in connection with a foreclosure proceeding involving a pledge or security where the acquisition is made 

by a debtor or creditor; 
•  purchases in connection with a privatization undertaken by the government of the Philippines; 
•  purchases in connection with corporate rehabilitation under court supervision; 
•  purchases through an open market at the prevailing market price; or 
•  purchases resulting from a merger or consolidation. 

 
Fundamental Matters 
 
Corporate power and competence is lodged primarily with the Board of Directors. However, the Philippine Corporation 
Code considers certain matters as significant corporate acts that may be implemented only with the approval of 
shareholders, including those holding shares denominated as non-voting in the Articles of Incorporation.  These acts, 
which require Board approval and the approval of shareholders representing at least two-thirds of the issued and 
outstanding capital stock of our corporation in a meeting duly called for the purpose (except for the amendment of the 
By-Laws and the approval of management contracts in general, which require approval of shareholders representing a 
majority of our company’s outstanding capital stock), include:(i)amendment of the articles of incorporation;(ii) removal 
of directors; (iii) sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge or other disposition of all or a substantial part of the assets of 
our corporation; (iv) investment of corporate funds in any other corporation or business or for any purpose other than 
the primary purpose for which our corporation was organized; (v) delegation to the board of directors of the power to 
amend or repeal by-laws or adopt new by-laws; (vi) merger or consolidation; (vii) an increase or decrease in capital stock; 
(viii) dissolution; (ix) extension or shortening of the corporate term; (x) creation or increase of bonded indebtedness; (xi) 
declaration of stock dividends; (xii) management contracts with related parties; and (xiii) ratification of contracts between 
our corporation and a director or officer. 
 
Accounting and Auditing Requirements 
 
Philippine stock corporations are required to file copies of their annual financial statements with the Philippine SEC. 
Corporations whose shares are listed on the PSE are also required to file quarterly financial statements for the first three 
quarters with the Philippine SEC and the PSE. The Board is required to present to shareholders at every annual meeting 
a financial report (including the financial statements) of the operations of our Company for the preceding year.  
 
Recent Sale of Unregistered or Exempt Securities, Including Recent Issuances of Securities Constituting an Exempt 
Transaction 
 
The following securities were issued as exempt from the registration requirements of the SRC and therefore have not 
been registered with the Philippine SEC. 

• In October 2017, the Company issued 331,500 shares to FHI at ₱355 per share. The excess of the amount 
received over the par value of issued shares was recognized as “Additional paid-in capital”. 

•  In December 2019, the Company issued 60,000 shares to FHI at ₱300 per share. The excess of the amount 
received over the par value of issued shares was recognized as “Additional paid-in capital”. 

• In September 2021, the majority of the Board of Directors and stockholders approved the increase in the 
authorized capital stock from 550,000 shares to 750,000 shares, out of the total increase, FHI subscribed to 
50,000 common shares at par of ₱100 per share. 

• In December 2021, the Company obtained approval to implement a 1:2,000 stock split resulting to a decrease 
in par value from ₱100.00 to ₱0.05 a share, and increase in the authorized capital stock from 750,000 shares to 
1.5 billion shares.  
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• In December 2021, the Company issued 1,000 shares each to Calvin F. Chua, Rogelio M. Guadalquiver, Lee Ceasar 
S. Junia, David Jonathan Y. Bayot and Bernardino M. Ramos, which allowed them to qualify as directors of the 
Company. 

No underwriting discounts or commissions were incurred or paid for the foregoing issuances of shares. No request for 
confirmation of exemption was filed by the Issuer for the sale of securities relying upon exemptions under Sec. 10.1(k) of 
the SRC. 
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THE PHILIPPINE STOCK MARKET 
 
 
The information presented in this section has been extracted from publicly available documents which have not been 
prepared or independently verified by us, the Issue Manager, Bookrunner and Underwriter, or any of our respective 
affiliates or advisors in connection with the offer and sale of the Offer Shares. 
 
Brief History  
 
The Philippines initially had two stock exchanges, the Manila Stock Exchange, which was organized in 1927, and the 
Makati Stock Exchange, which began operations in 1963. Each exchange was self-regulating, governed by its respective 
Board of Governors elected annually by its members. 
 
Several steps initiated by the Philippine government have resulted in the unification of the two bourses into the PSE. The 
PSE was incorporated in 1992 by officers of both the Makati and the Manila Stock Exchanges. In March 1994, the licenses 
of the two exchanges were revoked. While the PSE maintains two trading floors, one in Makati City and the other in Pasig 
City, these floors are linked by an automated trading system, which integrates all bids, and ask quotations from the 
bourses.  
 
In June 1998, the Philippine SEC granted the Self-Regulatory Organization status to the PSE, allowing it to impose rules as 
well as implement penalties on erring trading participants and listed companies. On August 8, 2001, the PSE completed 
its demutualization, converting from a non-stock member-governed institution into a stock corporation in compliance 
with the requirements of the SRC. The PSE had an authorized capital stock of ₱120 million, of which ₱73.5 million was 
subscribed and fully paid-up as of September 30, 2017. Each of the 184 member-brokers was granted 50,000 common 
shares of the new PSE at a par value of ₱1.00 per share. In addition, a trading right evidenced by a “Trading Participant 
Certificate” was immediately conferred on each member broker allowing the use of the PSE’s trading facilities. As a result 
of the demutualization, the composition of the PSE Board of Governors was changed, requiring the inclusion of seven 
brokers and eight non-brokers, one of whom is the President. 
 
On December 15, 2003, the PSE listed its shares by way of introduction at its own bourse as part of a series of reforms 
aimed at strengthening the Philippine securities industry. 
 
Classified into financial, industrial, holding firms, property, services, and mining and oil sectors, companies are listed 
either on the PSE’s Main Board or the Small, Medium and Emerging Board. Recently, the PSE issued Rules on Exchange 
Traded Funds (“ETF”) which provides for the listing of ETFs on an ETF Board separate from the PSE’s existing boards. 
Previously, the PSE allowed listing on the First Board, Second Board or the Small, Medium and Enterprises Board. With 
the issuance by the PSE of Memorandum No. CN-No. 2013-0023 dated June 6, 2013, revisions to the PSE Listing Rules 
were made, among which changes are the removal of the Second Board listing and the requirement that lock-up rules be 
embodied in our articles of incorporation. Each index represents the numerical average of the prices of component 
shares. The PSE has an index, referred to as the PHISIX, which as at the date thereof reflects the price movements of 
selected shares listed on the PSE, based on traded prices of shares from the various sectors. The PSE shifted from full 
market capitalization to free float market capitalization effective April 3, 2006, simultaneous with the migration to the 
free float index and the renaming of the PHISIX to PSEi. The PSEi is composed of shares of 30 selected companies listed 
on the PSE. On July 26, 2010, the PSE launched its current trading system, PSE Trade NSC. This trading system was in place 
until July 2015, after which it was placed by PSETrade XTS, a system that is powered by the National Association of 
Securities Dealers Automated Quotations (NASDAQ) OMX. 
 
The PSE launched its Corporate Governance Guidebook in November 2010 as another initiative of the PSE to promote 
good governance among listed companies. It is composed of ten guidelines embodying principles of good business 
practice and based on internationally recognized corporate governance codes and best practices. 
 

With the increasing calls for good corporate governance, the PSE has adopted an online daily disclosure system to 
improve the transparency of listed companies and to protect the investing public. In December 2013, the PSE launched 
the PSE Electronic Disclosure Generation Technology (“PSE EDGE”). PSE EDGE is a fully automated system that facilitates 
the efficient processing, validation, submission, distribution, and analysis of time-sensitive disclosure reports submitted 
to the PSE. PSE EDGE replaced the PSE’s former disclosure system called the PSE Online Disclosure System (“PSE ODiSy”). 
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In January 2018, the PSE moved to its new headquarters located at the PSE Tower, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City. 
Since then, PSE’s two trading floors had been unified into a single trading floor in its new headquarters. 
 
On March 22, 2018, the PSE completed a stock rights offering of 11,500,000 common shares which were offered at the 
price of ₱252.00 per share, or a total of ₱2,898,000,000.00 The proceeds of the stock rights offering were to be used to 
fund the acquisition of PDS and capital expenditure requirements of the PSE. 
 
The table below sets out movements in the composite index as of the last business day of each calendar year from 1995 
to 2020, and shows the number of listed companies, market capitalization, and value of shares traded for the same 
period: 

Year 

Composite 
Index at 
Closing 

Number of 
Listed 

Companies 

Aggregate 
Market 

Capitalization 

Combined 
Value of 
Turnover 

   (in ₱ billions) (in ₱ billions) 
1995 ..........................................................................  2,594.2 205 1,545.7 379.0 
1996 ..........................................................................  3,170.6 216 2,121.1 668.8 
1997 ..........................................................................  1,869.2 221 1,251.3 586.2 
1998 ..........................................................................  1,968.8 222 1,373.7 408.7 
1999 ..........................................................................  2,142.9 225 1,936.5 781.0 
2000 ..........................................................................  1,494.5 229 2,576.5 357.7 
2001 ..........................................................................  1,168.1 231 2,141.4 159.6 
2002 ..........................................................................  1,018.4 234 2,083.2 159.7 
2003 ..........................................................................  1,442.4 236 2,973.8 145.4 
2004 ..........................................................................  1,822.8 235 4,766.3 206.6 
2005 ..........................................................................  2,096.0 237 5,948.4 383.5 
2006 ..........................................................................  2,982.5 239 7,173.2 572.6 
2007 ..........................................................................  3,621.6 244 7,977.6 1,338.3 
2008 ..........................................................................  1,872.9 246 4,069.2 763.9 
2009 ..........................................................................  3,052.7 248 6,029.1 994.2 
2010 ..........................................................................  4,201.1 253 8,866.1 1,207.4 
2011 ..........................................................................  4,372.0 245 8,697.0 1,422.6 
2012 ..........................................................................  5,812.7 254 10,952.7 1,771.7 
2013 ..........................................................................  5,889.8 257 11,931.3 2,546.2 
2014 ..........................................................................  7,230.6 263 14,251.7 2,130.1 
2015 ..........................................................................  6,952.1 216 13,465.1 2,172.5 
2016 ..........................................................................  6,840.6 265 14,438.8 1,929.5 
2017 ..........................................................................  8,558.4 267 17,583.1 1,958.4 
2018 ..........................................................................  7,466.0 267 16,146.7 1,736.8 
2019 ..........................................................................  7,815.3 271 16,710.0 1,770.0 
2020 ..........................................................................  7,139.7 271 15,890.0 1,770.0 

____________ 
Source:  Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. and PSE Annual Reports 
 
Trading 
 
The PSE is a double auction market. Buyers and sellers are each represented by stockbrokers. To trade, bid or ask prices 
are posted on the PSE’s electronic trading system. A buy (or sell) order that matches the lowest asked (or highest bid) 
price is automatically executed. Buy and sell orders received by one broker at the same price are crossed at the PSE at 
the indicated price. Payment of purchases of listed securities must be made by the buyer on or before the third trading 
day (the settlement date) after the trade. 
 
Equities trading on the PSE starts at 9:30 a.m. until 12:00 p.m., when there will be a one and a half hour lunch break. In 
the afternoon, trading resumes at 1:30 p.m. and ends at 3:30 p.m., with a 10-minute extension during which transactions 
may be conducted, provided that they are executed at the last traded price and are only for the purpose of completing 
unfinished orders. Trading days are Monday to Friday, except legal holidays and days when the BSP clearing house is 
closed. Starting March 19, 2020 (which was around the commencement of community quarantine restrictions), PSE’s 
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trading hours have been shortened with pre-close now at 12:45 p.m., run-off at 12:50 p.m., and market close at 1:00 p.m. 
To date, the PSE continues to implement the shortened trading hours. 
 
Minimum trading lots range from 5 to 1,000,000 shares depending on the price range and nature of the security traded. 
The minimum trading lot for our Company’s Shares is 100 shares. Odd-sized lots are traded by brokers on a board 
specifically designed for odd-lot trading. 
 
To maintain stability in the stock market, daily price swings are monitored and regulated. Under current PSE regulations, 
when the price of a listed security moves up by 50% or down by 50% in one day (based on the previous closing price or 
last posted bid price, whichever is higher), the price of that security is automatically frozen by the PSE, unless there is an 
official statement from our company or a government agency justifying such price fluctuation, in which case the affected 
security can still be traded but only at the frozen price. If we fail to submit such explanation, a trading halt is imposed by 
the PSE on the listed security the following day. Resumption of trading shall be allowed only when the disclosure of our 
company is disseminated, subject again to the trading ban. 
 
In cases where an order has been partially matched, only the portion of the order that will result in a breach of the trading 
threshold will be frozen. Where the order results in a breach of the trading threshold, the following procedures shall 
apply: 

• In case the static threshold is breached, the PSE will accept the order, provided the price is within the allowable 
percentage price difference under the implementing guidelines of the revised trading rules (i.e., 50.0% of the 
previous day’s reference or closing price, or the last adjusted closing price); otherwise, such order will be rejected. 
In cases where the order is accepted, the PSE will adjust the static threshold to 60.0%. All orders breaching the 
60.0% static threshold will be rejected by the PSE. 

• In case the dynamic threshold is breached, the PSE will accept the order if the price is within the allowable 
percentage price difference under the existing regulations (i.e., 20.0% for security cluster A and newly-listed 
securities; 15.0% for security cluster B; and 10.0% for security cluster C); otherwise, such order will be rejected by 
the PSE. 

 
Non-Resident Transactions 
 
When the purchase/sale of Philippine shares involves a non-resident, whether the transaction is effected in the domestic 
or foreign market, it will be the responsibility of the securities dealer/broker to register the transaction with the BSP. The 
local securities dealer/broker shall file with the BSP, within three business days from the transaction date, an application 
in the prescribed registration form. After compliance with other required undertakings, the BSP shall issue a Certificate 
of Registration. Under BSP rules, all registered foreign investments in Philippine securities including profits and dividends, 
net of taxes and charges, may be repatriated. 
 
Settlement 
 
The Securities Clearing Corporation of the Philippines (“SCCP”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the PSE, and was organized 
primarily as a clearance and settlement agency for SCCP-eligible trades executed through the facilities of the PSE. SCCP 
received its permanent license to operate on January 17, 2002. It is responsible for: 

• synchronizing the settlement of funds and the transfer of securities through Delivery versus Payment clearing and 
settlement of transactions of Clearing Members, who are also Trading Participants of the PSE; 

• guaranteeing the settlement of trades in the event of a Trading Participant’s default through the implementation 
of its Fails Management System and administration of the Clearing and Trade Guaranty Fund; and 

• performance of Risk Management and Monitoring to ensure final and irrevocable settlement. 
 

SCCP settles PSE trades on a three-day rolling settlement environment, which means that settlement of trades takes place 
three trading days after transaction date (“T+3”). The deadline for settlement of trades is 12:00 noon of T+3. Securities 
sold should be in scripless form and lodged under the book-entry system of the PDTC. Each PSE Broker maintains a Cash 
Settlement Account with one of the seven existing Settlement Banks of SCCP, which are Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc., Rizal 
Commercial Banking Corporation, Metropolitan Bank and Trust Company, DB, The Hong Kong Shanghai Banking 
Corporation Limited, Unionbank of the Philippines and Maybank Philippines Inc. Payment for securities bought should be 
in good, cleared funds and should be final and irrevocable. Settlement is presently on a broker level. 
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SCCP implemented its Central Clearing and Central Settlement (“CCCS”) system on May 29, 2006. CCCS employs 
multilateral netting, whereby the system automatically offsets “buy” and “sell” transactions on a per issue and a per flag 
basis to arrive at a net receipt or a net delivery security position for each Clearing Member. All cash debits and credits 
are also netted into a single net cash position for each Clearing Member. Novation of the original PSE trade contracts 
occurs, and SCCP stands between the original trading parties and becomes the Central Counterparty to each PSE-eligible 
trade cleared through it. 
 
Scripless Trading 
 
In 1995, the PDTC (formerly the Philippine Central Depository, Inc.), was organized to establish a central depository in 
the Philippines and introduce scripless or book-entry trading in the Philippines. On December 16, 1996, the PDTC was 
granted a provisional license by the Philippine SEC to act as a central securities depository. 
All listed securities at the PSE have been converted into book-entry settlement in the PDTC. The depository service of the 
PDTC provides the infrastructure for lodgment (deposit) and upliftment (withdrawal) of securities, pledge of securities, 
securities lending and borrowing and corporate actions including shareholders’ meetings, dividend declarations and 
rights offerings. The PDTC also provides depository and settlement services for non-PSE trades of listed equity securities. 
For transactions on the PSE, the security element of the trade will be settled through the book-entry system, while the 
cash element will be settled through the current settlement banks, Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc., Rizal Commercial Banking 
Corporation, Metropolitan Bank and Trust Company, DB, The Hong Kong Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, 
Unionbank of the Philippines and Maybank Philippines Inc. 
 
In order to benefit from the book-entry system, securities must be immobilized into the PDTC system through a process 
called lodgment. Lodgment is the process by which shareholders transfer legal title (but not beneficial title) over their 
shares in favor of the PCD Nominee Corporation (“PCD Nominee”), a corporation wholly-owned by the PDTC, whose sole 
purpose is to act as nominee and legal title holder of all shares lodged in the PDTC. “Immobilization” is the process by 
which the warrant or share certificates of lodging holders are cancelled by the transfer agent and the corresponding 
transfer of beneficial ownership of the immobilized shares in the account of the PCD Nominee through the PDTC 
participant will be recorded in the issuing corporation’s registry. This trust arrangement between the participants and 
PDTC through the PCD Nominee is established by and explained in the PDTC Rules and Operating Procedures approved 
by the Philippine SEC. No consideration is paid for the transfer of legal title to the PCD Nominee. Once lodged, transfers 
of beneficial title of the securities are accomplished via book-entry settlement. 
 
Under the current PDTC system, only participants (e.g. brokers and custodians) will be recognized by the PDTC as the 
beneficial owners of the lodged equity securities. Thus, each beneficial owner of shares, through his participant, will be 
the beneficial owner to the extent of the number of shares held by such participant in the records of the PCD Nominee. 
All lodgments, trades and uplifts on these shares will have to be coursed through a participant. Ownership and transfers 
of beneficial interests in the shares will be reflected, with respect to the participant’s aggregate holdings, in the PDTC 
system, and with respect to each beneficial owner’s holdings, in the records of the participants. Beneficial owners are 
thus advised that in order to exercise their rights as beneficial owners of the lodged shares, they must rely on their 
participant-brokers and/or participant-custodians. 
 
Any beneficial owner of shares who wishes to trade his interests in the shares must course the trade through a participant. 
The participant can execute PSE trades and non-PSE trades of lodged equity securities through the PDTC system. All 
matched transactions in the PSE trading system will be fed through the SCCP, and into the PDTC system. Once it is 
determined on the settlement date (T+3) that there are adequate securities in the securities settlement account of the 
participant-seller and adequate cleared funds in the settlement bank account of the participant-buyer, the PSE trades are 
automatically settled in the SCCP Central Clearing and Central Settlement system, in accordance with the SCCP and PDTC 
Rules and Operating Procedures. Once settled, the beneficial ownership of the securities is transferred from the 
participant-seller to the participant-buyer without the physical transfer of stock certificates covering the traded 
securities. 
 
If a shareholder wishes to withdraw his shareholdings from the PDTC system, the PDTC has a procedure of upliftment 
under which PCD Nominee will transfer back to the shareholder the legal title to the shares lodged. The uplifting 
shareholder shall follow the Rules and Operating Procedures of the PDTC for the upliftment of the shares lodged under 
the name of the PCD Nominee. The transfer agent shall prepare and send a Registry Confirmation Advice to the PDTC 
covering the new number of shares lodged under the PCD Nominee. The expenses for upliftment are for the account of 
the uplifting shareholder. 
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The difference between the depository and the registry would be on the recording of ownership of the shares in the 
issuing corporations’ books. In the depository set-up, shares are simply immobilized, wherein customers’ certificates are 
cancelled and a confirmation advice is issued in the name of PCD Nominee to confirm new balances of the shares lodged 
with the PDTC. Transfers among/between broker and/or custodian accounts, as the case may be, will only be made within 
the book-entry system of the PDTC. However, as far as the issuing corporation is concerned, the underlying certificates 
are in the PCD Nominee’s name. In the registry set-up, settlement and recording of ownership of traded securities will 
already be directly made in the corresponding issuing company’s transfer agents’ books or system. Likewise, recording 
will already be at the beneficiary level (whether it be a client or a registered custodian holding securities for its clients), 
thereby removing from the broker its current “de facto” custodianship role. 
 
Amended Rule on Lodgment of Securities 
 
On June 24, 2009, the PSE apprised all listed companies and market participants through Memorandum No. 2009-0320 
that commencing on July 1, 2009, as a condition for the listing and trading of the securities of an applicant company, the 
applicant company shall electronically lodge its registered securities with the PDTC or any other entity duly authorized 
by the Philippine SEC, without any jumbo or mother certificate in compliance with the requirements of Section 43 of the 
SRC. In compliance with the foregoing requirement, actual listing and trading of securities on the scheduled listing date 
shall take effect only after submission by the applicant company of the documentary requirements stated in Article III 
Part A of the Revised Listing Rules.  
 
Pursuant to the said amendment, the PDTC issued an implementing procedure in support thereof to wit: 

• For a new company to be listed at the PSE as of July 1, 2009, the usual procedure will be observed but the transfer 
agent of our company shall no longer issue a certificate to PCD Nominee but shall issue a Registry Confirmation 
Advice, which shall be the basis for the PDTC to credit the holdings of the depository participants on the listing 
date.  

• On the other hand, for an existing listed company, the PDTC shall wait for the advice of the transfer agent that it 
is ready to accept surrender of PCD Nominee jumbo certificates and upon such advice the PDTC shall surrender all 
PCD Nominee jumbo certificates to the transfer agent for cancellation. The transfer agent shall issue a Registry 
Confirmation Advice to PDTC evidencing the total number of shares registered in the name of PCD Nominee in the 
listed company’s registry as of confirmation date. 

 
Further, the PSE apprised all listed companies and market participants on May 21, 2010 through Memorandum No. 2010-
0246 that the Amended Rule on Lodgement of Securities under Section 16 of Article III, Part A of the Revised Listing Rules 
of the PSE shall apply to all securities that are lodged with the PDTC or any other entity duly authorized by the PSE. 
 
For listing applications, the amended rule on lodgment of securities is applicable to: 

• The offer shares/securities of the applicant company in the case of an initial public offering; 
• The shares/securities that are lodged with the PDTC, or any other entity duly authorized by the PSE in the case 

of a listing by way of introduction; 
• New securities to be offered and applied for listing by an existing listed company; and 
• Additional listing of securities of an existing listed company. 

 
Pursuant to the said amendment, the PDTC issued an implementing procedure in support thereof, to wit: 
 
“For new companies to be listed at the PSE as of July 1, 2009 the usual procedure will be observed but the Transfer Agent 
of the companies shall no longer issue a certificate to PCD Nominee but shall issue a Registry Confirmation Advice, which 
shall be the basis for the PDTC to credit the holdings of the Depository Participants on listing date.” 
 
“On the other hand, for existing listed companies, the PDTC shall wait for the advice of the Transfer Agents that it is ready 
to accept surrender of PCNC jumbo certificates and upon such advice the PDTC shall surrender all PCNC jumbo certificates 
to the Transfer Agents for cancellation. The Transfer Agents shall issue a Registry Confirmation Advice to PCNC evidencing 
the total number of shares registered in the name of PCNC in our registry as a confirmation date.” 
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Issuance of Stock Certificates for Certificated Shares 
 
On or after the listing of the shares on the PSE, any beneficial owner of the shares may apply with PDTC through his 
broker or custodian-participant for a withdrawal from the book-entry system and return to the conventional paper-based 
settlement. If a shareholder wishes to withdraw his stockholdings from the PDTC system, the PDTC has a procedure of 
upliftment under which PCD Nominee will transfer back to the shareholder the legal title to the shares lodged. The 
uplifting shareholder shall follow the Rules and Operating Procedures of the PDTC for the uplifting of the shares lodged 
under the name of the PCD Nominee. The transfer agent shall prepare and send a Registry Confirmation Advice to the 
PDTC covering the new number of shares lodged under PCD Nominee. The expenses for upliftment are on the account of 
the uplifting shareholder. 
 
Upon the issuance of stock certificates for the shares in the name of the person applying for upliftment, such shares shall 
be deemed to be withdrawn from the PDTC book-entry settlement system, and trading on such shares will follow the 
normal process for settlement of certificated securities. The expenses for upliftment of the shares into certificated 
securities will be charged to the person applying for upliftment. Pending completion of the upliftment process, the 
beneficial interest in the shares covered by the application for upliftment is frozen and no trading and book-entry 
settlement will be permitted until the relevant stock certificates in the name of the person applying for upliftment shall 
have been issued by the relevant company’s transfer agent. 
 
Amended Rule on Minimum Public Ownership 
 
On December 1, 2017, the Philippine SEC issued SEC Memorandum Circular No. 13 series of 2017 (the “SEC 2017 Circular”) 
which states, in part, that a covered company filing a registration statement pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the 
Securities Regulation Code and with intention to list its shares shall apply for registration with a public float that meets 
the minimum public ownership (“MPO”) of 20%, and shall, at all times, maintain an MPO of at least 20%. Public float 
refers to the portion of the issued and outstanding shares that are freely available and tradable in the market and are 
non-strategic in nature or those not meant for the purpose of gaining substantial influence on how the company is being 
managed. The rule considers significant shareholdings of 10% or more of the total issued and outstanding shares of the 
company as strategic and thus is excluded from the public float of the company. 
 
On August 3, 2020, the PSE issued Memorandum CN – No. 2020-0076 stating a company applying for initial listing through 
an initial public offering is required to have a minimum public offer size of 20% to 33% of its outstanding capital stock 
post-initial public offering. The applicable offer size depends on the market capitalization of the company. After initial 
listing, the company is required to maintain a public ownership level of at least 20%. 
 
For existing publicly listed companies prior to the issuance of the SEC 2017 Circular, the then existing 10% MPO 
requirement continues to apply. 
 
Under the SEC 2017 Circular, in the event a company’s MPO falls below 20%, at any time after registration, it shall bring 
the public float to at least 20% within a maximum period of 12 months from the date of such fall. A listed company must 
also establish and implement an internal policy and procedure to monitor its MPO and must immediately report to the 
Philippine SEC within the next business day if its MPO has fallen below 20%. A listed company with an MPO falling below 
20% must submit to the Philippine SEC: (a) a time-bound business plan to bring back the public float to at least 20% within 
a maximum period of 12 months from the date of such decline; and (b) a public ownership report until such time that its 
public float reaches the required level. Under the PSE Amended Rule on Minimum Public Ownership, in addition to its 
periodic disclosure obligation on the level of its public float, a listed company is required to immediately disclose to the 
PSE if it becomes aware that the number of listed securities which are in the hands of the public has fallen below the 
prescribed minimum percentage. For this purpose, all listed companies are required to establish an effective procedure 
for monitoring of public float, which shall include, at the minimum, a computation of public float on a monthly basis. 
Once the listed company becomes aware that that the number of its listed securities in the hands of the public has fallen 
below the prescribed minimum percentage, the listed company shall take steps to ensure compliance at the earliest 
possible time. Such steps shall likewise be immediately disclosed to the PSE. 
 
A listed company which becomes non-compliant with the MPO shall be suspended from trading for a period of not more 
than six months and shall be automatically delisted if it remains non-compliant with the MPO after the lapse of the 
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suspension period. The PSE rules provide for the possibility of PSE recommending to the Philippine SEC for approval of a 
granting of a grace period for justifiable reasons and if there is a concrete program to restore public ownership. 
 
Suspended or delisted shares are not allowed to be traded on the PSE. The sale of said listed company’s shares during 
the trading suspension or after delisting may be effected only outside the trading system, and will be subjected to capital 
gains tax and documentary stamp tax, and to the requirement to secure a certificate authorizing registration from the 
BIR before the sale can be registered in the books of the company.  



  

114 
 
 

 
 

PHILIPPINE TAXATION 
 
 
The statements made regarding taxation in the Philippines are based on the laws in force at the date of this Prospectus 
and are subject to any changes in law occurring after such date. The following summary does not purport to be a 
comprehensive description of all of the tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to invest in the Shares and 
does not purport to deal with the tax consequences applicable to all categories of investors, some of which (such as dealers 
in securities) may be subject to special rates. Prospective purchasers of the Shares are advised to consult their own tax 
advisers concerning the tax consequences of their investment in the Shares. 
 
As used in this section, the term “resident alien” refers to an individual whose residence is within the Philippines and who 
is not a citizen thereof; a “non-resident alien” is an individual whose residence is not within the Philippines and who is not 
a citizen of the Philippines; a non-resident alien who is actually within the Philippines for an aggregate period of more 
than 180 days during any calendar year is considered a “non-resident alien engaged in trade or business in the 
Philippines;” otherwise, such non-resident alien who is actually within the Philippines for an aggregate period of 180 days 
or less during any calendar year is considered a “non-resident alien not engaged in trade or business in the Philippines”. 
A “resident foreign corporation” is a foreign corporation engaged in trade or business within the Philippines; and a “non-
resident foreign corporation” is a non-Philippine corporation not engaged in trade or business within the Philippines. 
 
The term “non -resident holder” means a holder of our Company’s Shares:  

• who is an individual who is neither a citizen nor a resident of the Philippines or an entity which is a non-resident 
foreign corporation; and   

• should a tax treaty be applicable, whose ownership of our Company’s Shares is not effectively connected with a 
fixed base or a permanent establishment in the Philippines. 

 
The Tax Reform for Acceleration and Inclusion (“TRAIN”) 
 
On December 19, 2017, President Rodrigo Roa Duterte signed into law the Republic Act No. 10963, otherwise known as 
the “Tax Reform for Acceleration and Inclusion” Act. The objectives of this Act are as follows: 
 

a. To enhance the progressivity of the tax system through the rationalization of the Philippine internal revenue tax 
system, thereby promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth; 

b. To provide, as much as possible, an equitable relief to a greater number of taxpayers and their families in order to 
improve levels of disposable income and increase economic activity; and 

c. To ensure that the government is able to provide for the needs of those under its jurisdiction and care through the 
provision of better infrastructure, health, education, jobs, and social protection for the people. 

 
Corporate Income Tax 
 
A domestic corporation is subject to a tax of 25%, of its taxable income from all sources within and outside the Philippines 
beginning July 1, 2020, provided that domestic corporations with net taxable income not exceeding P5,000,000.00 and 
with total assets not exceeding P100,000,000.00 (excluding land on which the particular business entity’s office, plant, 
and equipment are situated during the taxable year for which the tax is imposed) (referred to as micro, small, and medium 
enterprises, or MSMEs), shall be taxed at 20%. Taxable net income refers to items of income specified under Section 32 
(A) of the Philippine Tax Code (the Tax Code), less itemized deductions under Section 34 of the Tax Code or those allowed 
under special laws, or the optional standard deduction (OSD) equivalent to an amount not exceeding 40% of the 
corporation’s gross income. Passive income of a domestic corporation is taxed as follows: (a) gross interest income from 
Philippine currency bank deposits and yield from deposit substitutes, trust funds and similar arrangements as well as 
royalties from sources within the Philippines which are generally taxed at the lower final withholding tax rate of 20% of 
the gross amount of such income; and (b) interest income from a depository bank under the expanded foreign currency 
deposit system which is subject to a final tax at the rate of 15% of such income.  
 
Beginning July 1, 2020 and until June 30, 2023, a minimum corporate income tax of 1% of the gross income as of the end 
of the taxable year is imposed on a domestic corporation beginning on the fourth taxable year immediately following the 
year in which such corporation commenced its business operations, when the minimum corporate income tax is greater 
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than the ordinary corporate income tax, provided that after June 30, 2023, the rate of minimum corporate income tax 
shall be 2% of the gross income as of the end of the taxable year.  
 
Any excess of the minimum corporate income tax, however, over the ordinary corporate income tax shall be carried 
forward and credited against the latter for the three immediately succeeding taxable years. Likewise, subject to certain 
conditions, the minimum corporate income tax may be suspended with respect to a corporation which suffers losses (1) 
on account of a prolonged labor dispute, or (2) because of force majeure, or (3) because of legitimate business reverses. 
 
Tax on Dividends 
 
Cash and property dividends received from a domestic corporation by individual shareholders who are either citizens or 
residents of the Philippines are subject to a final withholding tax at the rate of 10%, which shall be withheld by our 
Company. Cash and property dividends received by non-resident alien individuals engaged in trade or business in the 
Philippines are subject to a 20% final withholding tax on the gross amount thereof, while cash and property dividends 
received by non-resident alien individuals not engaged in trade or business in the Philippines are subject to a final 
withholding tax at 25% of the gross amount, subject, however, to the applicable preferential tax rates under tax treaties 
executed between the Philippines and the country of residence or domicile of such non-resident foreign individuals. 
 
Cash and property dividends received from a domestic corporation by another domestic corporation or by resident 
foreign corporations are not subject to tax while those received by non-resident foreign corporations are generally 
subject to a final withholding tax at the rate of 30%, subject to applicable preferential tax rates under tax treaties in force 
between the Philippines and the country of domicile of such non-resident foreign corporation. The 30% rate for dividends 
paid to a non-resident foreign corporation with countries of domicile having no tax treaty with the Philippines may be 
reduced to a lower rate of 15% if (i) the country in which the non-resident foreign corporation is domiciled imposes no 
tax on foreign sourced dividends or (ii) if the country of domicile of the non-resident foreign corporation allows a 15% or 
greater credit equivalent for taxes deemed to have been paid in the Philippines.  
 
Revenue Memorandum Circular No. 80-1991 (Publishing the Resolution of the Supreme Court dated March 7, 1990 in G.R. 
No. 76573 entitled “Marubeni Corporation vs. Commissioner of Internal Revenue and Court of Tax Appeals” re: pre -
requisites for the availment of 15% preferential tax rate under then Section 24 (b)(1) now Sec. 25(b)(5)(B) of the National 
Internal Revenue Code, as amended dated August 12, 1991) states that in order to avail of the 15% tax sparing rate a non-
resident foreign holder must submit the following documents to the payor of the cash dividends: (i) an authenticated 
certification issued by the foreign tax authority that  the dividends received by the non-resident foreign corporation from 
the domestic corporation were not among the items considered in arriving at the income tax due from the non-resident 
foreign corporation; (ii) the income tax return of the non-resident foreign corporation for the taxable year when the 
dividends were received; and (iii) an authenticated document issued by the foreign tax authority showing that the foreign 
government allowed a credit on the tax deemed paid in the Philippines or did not impose any tax on the dividends. The 
income recipient may also file a request for a ruling from the BIR that the 15% income tax rate is applicable to its receipt 
of the dividends and the request has to comply with Revenue Memorandum Order No. 9-2014 (Requests for Rulings with 
the Law and Legislative Division dated February 6, 2014) and other relevant BIR issuances. The income recipient should 
thereafter provide the payor of the cash dividends with proof of its filing of an application for a ruling with the BIR before 
the deadline for the remittance to the BIR of the withholding tax on the dividends. 
 
The abovementioned tax rates are without prejudice to applicable preferential tax rates under income tax treaties in 
force between the Philippines and the country of domicile of the non-resident holder. Most tax treaties to which the 
Philippines is a party provide for a reduced tax rate of 15% in cases where the dividend arises in the Philippines and is 
paid to a resident of the other contracting state. Most income tax treaties also provide that reduced withholding tax rates 
shall not apply if the recipient of the dividend, who is a resident of the other contracting state, carries on business in the 
Philippines through a permanent establishment and the holding of the relevant dividend-earning interest is effectively 
connected with such permanent establishment. 
 
The BIR prescribed certain procedures for availment of tax treaty relief on dividends under Revenue Memorandum Order 
No. 8-2017 (Procedure for Claiming Tax Treaty Benefits for Dividend, Interest and Royalty Income of Nonresident Income 
Earners, dated October 24, 2016). The preferential treaty rates shall be applied by the withholding agent/income payor 
provided that the non-resident income recipient submits, before the dividends are credited or paid, a Certificate of 
Residence for Tax Treaty Relief (“CORTT”) Form that complies with Revenue Memorandum Order No. 8-2017. After the 
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remittance of the withholding tax to the BIR, the withholding agent/income payor shall submit an original copy of the 
duly accomplished CORTT Form within 30 days.  
 
If a company withholds the regular tax rate instead of the reduced rate applicable under an income tax treaty, a non-
resident holder of the company’s shares may file a claim for a refund from the BIR. However, because the refund process 
in the Philippines requires the filing of an administrative claim and the submission of supporting information, and may 
also involve the filing of a judicial appeal, it may be impractical to pursue such a refund. 
 
Transfer taxes (e.g., DST, local transfer tax) may be payable if the dividends declared are property dividends, depending 
on the type of property distributed as dividends. Stock dividends distributed pro rata to all the shareholders of the 
corporation are generally not subject to Philippine income tax. However, the subsequent sale, exchange, or disposition 
of shares in a domestic corporation received as stock dividends by the shareholder is subject to either: (a) stock 
transaction tax, if the transfer is through a local stock exchange, or (b) capital gains tax and documentary stamp tax, if 
otherwise. 
 
Tax Treaties  
The following table lists some of the countries with which the Philippines has tax treaties and the tax rates currently 
applicable to non-resident holders who are residents of those countries:  
  

  

Dividends 
(%)  

  

Stock transaction tax on 
sale or disposition effecte

d 
through the PSE(%)(12)  

  

Capital gains tax due 
on disposition of 

shares outside the PSE 
(%)  

  
Canada ...............................  25(1) 0.5 May be exempt(9) 
China ..................................  15(2) 0.5 May be exempt(9) 
France ................................  15(3) 0.5 May be exempt(9) 
Germany ............................  15(4) 0.5 5/10(10) 
Japan ..................................  15(5) 0.5 May be exempt(9) 
Singapore ...........................  25(6) 0.5 May be exempt(9) 
United Kingdom .................  25(7) 0.5 Exempt(11) 
United States .....................  25(8) 0.5 May be exempt(9) 
 
(1) 15% if the recipient company controls at least 10% of the voting power of our company paying the dividends.  
(2) 10% if the beneficial owner is a company which holds directly at least 10% of the capital of our company paying the 

dividends.  
(3) 10% if the recipient company (excluding a partnership) holds directly at least 10% of the voting shares of our company 

paying the dividends.  
(4) 10% if the recipient company (excluding a partnership) owns directly at least 25% of the capital of our company 

paying the dividends.  
(5) 10% if the recipient company holds directly at least 10% of either the voting shares of our company paying the 

dividends or of the total shares issued by that company during the period of six months immediately preceding the 
date of payment of the dividends.  

(6) 15% if during the part of the paying company’s taxable year which precedes the date of payment of dividends and 
during the whole of its prior taxable year at least 15% of the outstanding shares of the voting shares of the paying 
company were owned by the recipient company.  

(7) 15% if the recipient company is a company which controls directly or indirectly at least 10% of the voting power of 
our company paying the dividends.  

(8) 20% if during the part of the paying corporation’s taxable year which precedes the date of payment of dividends and 
during the whole of its prior taxable year, at least 10% of the outstanding shares of the voting shares of the paying 
corporation were owned by the recipient corporation. Notwithstanding the rates provided under the Republic of the 
Philippines-United States Treaty, residents of the United States may avail of the 15% withholding tax rate under the 
tax-sparing clause of the Philippine Tax Code provided certain conditions are met.  

(9) Capital gains are taxable only in the country where the seller is a resident, provided the shares are not those of a 
corporation, the assets of which consist principally of real property situated in the Philippines, in which case the sale 
is subject to Philippine taxes.  
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(10) Under the tax treaty between the Philippines and Germany, capital gains from the alienation of shares of a Philippine 
corporation may be taxed in the Philippines irrespective of the nature of the assets of the Philippine corporation. Tax 
rates are 5% on the net capital gains realized during the taxable year not in excess of ₱100,000 and 10% on the net 
capital gains realized during the taxable year in excess of ₱100,000.  

(11) Under the tax treaty between the Philippines and the United Kingdom, capital gains on the sale of the shares of 
Philippine corporations are subject to tax only in the country where the seller is a resident, irrespective of the nature 
of the assets of the Philippine corporation.  

(12) If the stock transaction tax is not expressly included in the tax treaty, the income recipient will be subject to stock 
transaction tax at the rate of 0.6% of the gross selling price as provided under Section 127 of the National Internal 
Revenue Code as amended by the Section 39 of the TRAIN. 

 
When availing of capital gains tax exemption on the sale of shares of stock under a tax treaty, a tax treaty exemption 
ruling shall be necessary in order to completely implement the transfer. For sale of shares made outside the PSE, a 
certificate authorizing registration (CAR) from the BIR is required before the transfer is registered in the stock and transfer 
book. The BIR issues the CAR only after verifying that the applicable taxes have been paid. Thus, in lieu of proof of 
payment of capital gains tax, the tax treaty relief ruling should be submitted to the BIR office processing the CAR.  
 
 The requirements for a tax treaty relief application in respect of capital gains tax or the stock transaction tax on the sale 
of shares are set out in Revenue Memorandum Order No. 72-2010 (Guidelines on the Processing of Tax Treaty Relief 
Applications (TTRA) Pursuant to Existing Philippine Tax Treaties dated August 25, 2010), BIR Form No. 0901-C, other BIR 
issuances. These include proof of residence in the country that is a party to the income tax treaty. Proof of residence 
consists of a consularized certification from the tax authority of the country of residence of the seller of shares which 
provides that the seller is a resident of such country under the applicable income tax treaty. If the seller is a juridical 
entity, authenticated certified true copies of its articles of incorporation or association issued by the proper government 
authority should also be submitted to the BIR in addition to the certification of its residence from the tax authority of its 
country of residence. The tax treaty relief application has to be filed with the BIR before the first taxable event as defined 
under Revenue Memorandum Order No. 72-2010, which in respect of capital gains tax, is before the due date for the 
payment of the documentary stamp tax on the sale of shares.  
 
IPO Tax 

Republic Act No. 11494, otherwise known as the “Bayanihan to Recover As One Act,” took effect on September 15, 2020. 
Section 6 of this law repealed Section 127(B) of the Philippine Tax Code on the IPO Tax. As such, the Offer is not subject 
to the IPO Tax. Under Revenue Regulations No. 23-2020 issued by the BIR, tax on shares of stocks sold, bartered, 
exchanged or other disposition through IPO provided under Section 127(B) of the Philippine Tax Code is repealed. Every 
sale, barter, exchange or other disposition through IPO of shares of stock in closely held corporations shall no longer be 
subject to IPO Tax. 

Sale, Exchange or Disposition of Shares after the IPO  
 
Capital Gains Tax, If Sale Was Made outside the PSE 
 
The net capital gains realized from the sale, exchange, or other disposition of shares of stock outside the facilities of the 
PSE by an individual citizen, resident alien, or a domestic corporation (other than a dealer in securities) during each 
taxable year are subject to capital gains tax at the rate of 15% of the net capital gains realized during the taxable year. 
For non-resident alien individuals, such sale, exchange, or disposition is also taxable at the rate of 15%, except that this 
constitutes final withholding tax. 
 
The net capital gains realized by a resident foreign corporation or a non-resident foreign corporation during each taxable 
year from the sale, exchange, or disposition of shares of stock in a domestic corporation outside the facilities of the PSE 
are subject to the following rates: 
 
 On any amount not over ₱100,000 ………………………. 5% 
 On any amount in excess of ₱100,000…………………… 10%  
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The transfer of shares shall not be recorded in the books of a company, unless the BIR certifies that the capital gains and 
documentary stamp taxes relating to the sale or transfer have been paid, or where applicable, a tax treaty relief has been 
confirmed by the International Tax Affairs Division of the BIR or other conditions have been met. 
 
Taxes on Transfer of Shares Listed and Traded at the PSE 
 
Unless an applicable treaty exempts the sale from income and/or percentage tax, a sale or other disposition of shares of 
stock through the facilities of the PSE by a resident or a non-resident shareholder (other than a dealer in securities) is 
subject to a stock transaction tax at the rate of 0.6% of the gross selling price or gross value in money of the shares of 
stock sold or otherwise disposed. This tax is required to be collected by and paid to the Government by the selling 
stockbroker on behalf of his client. The stock transaction tax is classified as a percentage tax in lieu of a capital gains tax. 
Under certain tax treaties, the exemptions from capital gains tax discussed herein may not be applicable to stock 
transaction tax. 
 
In addition, Value Added Tax (VAT) of 12% is imposed on the commission earned by the PSE-registered broker, and is 
generally passed on to the client. 
 
Documentary Stamp Tax 
 
Under the TRAIN Act, the original issue of shares of stock is subject to documentary stamp tax of ₱2.00 for each ₱200 par 
value, or fraction thereof, of the shares of stock issued. The DST on the issuance of the Firm Offer shall be paid by our 
Company.  
 
The transfer of shares of stock is subject to a documentary stamp tax of ₱1.50 for each ₱200 par value or a fractional part 
thereof of the share of stock transferred. The DST is imposed on the person making, signing, issuing, accepting or 
transferring the document and is thus payable by the vendor or the purchaser of the shares. However, the sale, barter or 
exchange of shares of stock listed and traded at the PSE is exempt from documentary stamp tax. 
 
Estate and Gift Taxes 
 
Under the TRAIN Act, the transfer of the Common Shares upon the death of a registered holder to his heirs by way of 
succession, whether such an individual was a citizen of the Philippines or an alien, regardless of residence, will be subject 
to Philippine estate tax at a rate of 6.0% based on the value of the net estate. 
 
Under the TRAIN Act, the transfer of the Common Shares by gift or donation would be subject to a uniform rate of 6% 
for both individuals and corporate holders. 
 
Estate and gift taxes will not be collected in respect of intangible personal property, such as shares, (1) if the deceased at 
the time of death, or the donor at the time of donation, was a citizen and resident of a foreign country which at the time 
of his death or donation did not impose a transfer tax of any character in respect of intangible personal property of 
citizens of the Philippines not residing in that foreign country, or (2) if the laws of the foreign country of which the 
deceased or the donor was a citizen and resident at the time of his death or donation allow a similar exemption from 
transfer or death taxes of every character or description in respect of intangible personal property owned by citizens of 
the Philippines not residing in that foreign country. 
 
Revenue Regulation No. 006-08 prescribes that in case the fair market value of the shares of stock sold, bartered or 
exchanged is greater than the amount of money and/or fair market value of the property received, the excess of the fair 
market value of the shares of stock sold, bartered or exchanged over the amount of money and the fair market value of 
the property, if any, received as consideration shall be deemed a gift subject to the donor’s tax under the Tax Code. 
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Taxation outside the Philippines 
 
Shares of stock in a domestic corporation are considered under Philippine law as situated in the Philippines and the gain 
derived from their sale is entirely from Philippine sources; hence, such gain is subject to Philippine income tax and the 
transfer of such shares by gift (donation) or succession is subject to the donors’ or estate taxes stated above. 
 
The tax treatment of a non-resident shareholder in jurisdictions outside the Philippines may vary depending on the tax 
laws applicable to such holder by reason of domicile or business activities and such holder’s particular situation. This 
Prospectus does not discuss the tax considerations of non-resident holders of shares of stock under laws other than those 
of the Philippines. 
 
EACH PROSPECTIVE HOLDER SHOULD CONSULT WITH HIS OWN TAX ADVISER AS TO THE PARTICULAR TAX 
CONSEQUENCES TO SUCH HOLDER OF PURCHASING, OWNING AND DISPOSING OF THE OFFER SHARES, INCLUDING THE 
APPLICABILITY AND EFFECT OF ANY STATE, LOCAL AND NATIONAL TAX LAWS. 
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PHILIPPINE FOREIGN EXCHANGE CONTROLS 
 
 
Under current BSP regulations, an investment in listed Philippine securities (such as the Shares) must be registered with 
the BSP if the foreign exchange needed to service the repatriation of capital and the remittance of dividends, profits and 
earnings derived from such Shares is to be sourced from the Philippine banking system. If the foreign exchange required 
to service capital repatriation or dividend remittance is sourced outside the Philippine banking system, registration is not 
required. BSP Circular No. 471 (Series of 2005), as amended, however, subjects foreign exchange dealers and money 
changers to Republic Act No. 9160, or the Anti-Money Laundering Act of 2001, as amended, and requires these nonbank 
sources of foreign exchange to require foreign exchange buyers to submit supporting documents in connection with their 
application to purchase foreign exchange for purposes of capital repatriation and remittance of dividends. 
 
Registration of Philippine securities listed in the PSE may be done directly with the BSP or through an investor’s 
designated custodian bank on behalf of the BSP. A custodian bank may be any authorized agent bank (as defined below) 
of the BSP or an offshore banking unit registered with the BSP to act as such and appointed by the investor to register 
the investment, hold shares for the investor, and represent the investor in all necessary actions in connection with his 
investments in the Philippines. The term “authorized agent bank” refers to all categories of banks, except offshore 
banking units, duly licensed by the BSP. Applications for registration must be accompanied by: (i) a purchase invoice, 
subscription agreement and proof of listing on the PSE (either or both) and (ii) the original Certificate of Inward 
Remittance of foreign exchange and its conversion to Pesos through an authorized agent bank of the BSP in the format 
prescribed by the BSP. 
 
Upon registration of the investment, proceeds of divestments, or dividends of registered investments are repatriable or 
remittable immediately and in full through the Philippine banking system, net of applicable tax, without need of BSP 
approval. Capital repatriation of investments in listed securities is permitted upon presentation of the BSP registration 
document from the registering custodian bank and the broker’s sales invoice, at the exchange rate prevailing at the time 
of purchase of the foreign exchange from the banking system. Remittance of dividends is permitted upon presentation 
of: (i) the BSP registration document from the registering custodian bank; (ii) the cash dividends notice from the PSE and 
the PCD printout of cash dividend payment or computation of interest earned; (iii) copy of the secretary’s sworn 
statement on the Board Resolution covering the dividend declaration and (iv) detailed computation of the amount 
applied for in the format prescribed by the BSP. Pending reinvestment or repatriation, divestment proceeds, as well as 
dividends of registered investments, may be lodged temporarily in interest-bearing deposit accounts. Interest earned 
thereon, net of taxes, may also be remitted in full. Remittance of divestment proceeds or dividends of registered 
investments may be reinvested in the Philippines if the investments are registered with the BSP or the investor’s 
custodian bank. 
 
The foregoing is subject to the power of BSP, with the approval of the President of the Philippines, to restrict the 
availability of foreign exchange during an exchange crisis, when an exchange crisis is imminent, or in times of national 
emergency. 
 
The registration with the BSP of all foreign investments in the Offer Shares shall be the responsibility of the foreign 
investor. 
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 
 
 
The [375,000,000] Firm Shares shall be offered by the Company to investors, through the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, 
and Underwriter. At least [262,500,000] Firm Shares (or 70% of the Firm Shares) are being offered by the Issue Manager, 
Bookrunner, and Underwriter to the QIBs and to the general public. Up to [112,500,000] Firm Shares (or 30% of the Firm 
Shares) are being offered at the Offer Price to all of the PSE Trading Participants and local small investors (“LSIs”) in the 
Philippines. Prior to the closing of the Offer, any Offer Shares not taken up by the QIBs, PSE Trading Participants, and LSIs 
shall be distributed by the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter to their clients or to the general public. In the 
event that there are Offer Shares that remain unsubscribed at the end of the Offer, the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and 
Underwriter shall subscribe to the balance on a firm commitment basis pursuant to the terms and conditions of the 
Underwriting Agreement between the Company and the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter. 
 
Underwriting Commitment 
 
To facilitate the Offer, the Company has appointed First Metro as the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter. First 
Metro is duly licensed by the SEC to engage in underwriting or distribution of the Offer Shares. The Company may, from 
time to time, engage in transactions with and perform services in the ordinary course of the business for the Company 
or other members of the Company of which the Company forms a part of. The Company and the Issue Manager, 
Bookrunner, and Underwriter shall enter into an Underwriting Agreement to be dated on or about [March 7, 2022] (the 
“Underwriting Agreement”), whereby the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter agree to underwrite all of the 
Offer Shares at the Offer Price on a firm commitment basis.  
 
In accordance with the Underwriting Agreement, the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter has agreed to 
underwrite the Firm Shares on a firm basis, and to distribute and sell the Offer Shares. The Underwriting Agreement will 
be subject to certain conditions and is subject to termination by the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter if 
certain circumstances, including force majeure, occur on or before the time at which the Shares, including the Firm 
Shares, are listed on the PSE. In addition, this agreement is conditional, inter alia, on the Firm Shares being listed on the 
PSE on the Listing Date or such date as the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter may determine. 
 
The Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter, will underwrite, on a firm commitment basis, the Firm Shares 

  Number of Shares 
First Metro Investment Corporation   375,000,000 

 
There is no arrangement for the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter to return to the Company any unsold Offer 
Shares. The Underwriting Agreement may be terminated in certain circumstances prior to payment of the net proceeds 
of the Offer Shares being made to the Company. The Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter do not have any other 
business relationships with Company. First Metro are not represented in the Company’s Board of Directors. Neither is 
there a provision in the Underwriting Agreement, which would entitle the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter 
to representation in the Company’s Board of Directors as part of the compensation for underwriting services. The Issue 
Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter shall receive from the Company a transaction fee equivalent to [3.0%] of the 
gross proceeds of the Offer, inclusive of the amounts to be paid to Selling Agents such as the PSE Trading Participants. 
The transaction fee is based on the final nominal amount of the Offer Shares to be issued and shall be withheld by PNB 
Trust Banking Group, the Receiving and Paying Agent, from the proceeds of the Offer. All reasonable out-of-pocket 
expenses to be incurred by the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter in connection with the Offer shall be for the 
account of Company. 
 
The Trading Participants of the PSE  
 
Pursuant to the rules of the PSE, the Company will make available [75,000,000] Offer Shares comprising 20% of the Firm 
Offer for distribution to PSE Trading Participants. The total number of Offer Shares allocated to the [125] PSE Trading 
Participants will be distributed following the procedures indicated in the implementing guidelines for the Offer Shares to 
be distributed by the PSE. Each PSE Trading Participant will be allocated a total of [600,000] Offer Shares.  
 
PSE Trading Participants who take up the Offer Shares shall be entitled to a selling fee of 1%, VAT-inclusive of the Offer 
Shares taken up and purchased by the relevant trading participant. The selling fee, less a withholding tax of 10%, will be 
paid to the PSE Trading Participants within ten (10) banking days after the Listing Date.  



  

122 
 
 

 
The PSE Trading Participants may be allowed to subscribe for their dealer accounts provided that, if they opt to sell the 
Offer Shares to the clients during the Offer period, it must be at a price not higher than the Offer Price per share. Likewise, 
the trading participants are prohibited from selling the Offer Shares during the period after the Offer period and prior to 
the Listing Date.  
 
The balance of the Offer Shares allocated but not taken up by the PSE Trading Participants will be distributed by the Issue 
Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter to their clients or to the general public.  
 
LSI Subscription through PSE EASy 
 
A total of [37,500,000] Offer Shares, or 10% of the Firm Offer, shall be made available to Local Small Investors through 
the PSE Electronic Allocation System or “PSE EASy”. An LSI is defined as a subscriber to the Offer who is willing to subscribe 
to a minimum board lot or whose subscription does not exceed ₱100,000.00. In the case of this Offer, the minimum 
subscription of LSIs shall be 10,000 Offer Shares or ₱[7,500.00], while the maximum subscription shall be [133,000] Offer 
Shares or up to ₱[99,750.00] There will be no discount on the Offer Price. The procedure in subscribing the Offer Shares 
via PSE EASy is indicated in the Company’s Implementing Guidelines for Local Small Investors to be announced through 
the PSE EDGE website. Should the total demand for the Offer Shares in the LSI program exceed the maximum allocation, 
the Issue Manager, Bookrunner and Underwriter shall prioritize subscriptions of LSIs with amounts lower than the 
maximum subscription. 
 
All Firm Shares not taken up by the QIBs, the PSE Trading Participants, the LSIs, the general public and the Issue Manager, 
Bookrunner, and Underwriter’ clients shall be purchased by the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter on a firm 
commitment basis pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Underwriting Agreement. Nothing herein or in the 
Underwriting Agreement shall limit the rights of the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter from purchasing the 
Offer Shares for its own account. 
 
First Metro Investment Corporation 
 
First Metro is a leading investment bank in the Philippines with over fifty years of service in the development of the 
country’s capital markets. It is the investment banking arm of the Metrobank Group, one of the largest financial 
conglomerates in the country, and is duly licensed by the Philippine SEC to engage in the underwriting and distribution 
of securities. First Metro and its subsidiaries offer a wide range of services, from debt and equity underwriting to loan 
syndication, project finance, financial advisory, investment advisory, government securities and corporate debt trading, 
equity brokering, online trading, asset management, and research. First Metro has earned a solid reputation for its 
creativity, innovation, and timely execution. It has proven its ability to create value and opportunities as well as provide 
solutions that are pioneering, game changing, and responsive to the needs of both issuers and investors. 
 
The Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter have no other direct or indirect interest in the Company or in any 
securities thereof, including options, warrants, or rights thereto. Furthermore, they do not have any relationship with the 
Company other than as the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter for the Offer.  
 
The Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter also have no direct relations with the Company in terms of ownership 
by their respective major stockholders, and have no rights to designate or nominate any member of the Board of the 
Company. 
 
There is no contract or arrangement existing between or among the Company, Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and 
Underwriter, or any other third party whereby the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and Underwriter may return any unsold 
securities from the Offer. 
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The Over-Allotment Option and Stabilization Activities 
 
The Selling Shareholders have granted First Metro Securities Brokerage Corporation (“FirstMetroSec”), in its role as 
Stabilizing Agent, on behalf of the Underwriter, an option exercisable in whole or in part from and including the Listing 
Date and when trading of the Shares commences on the PSE and ending on the date 30 calendar days from the Listing 
Date to purchase the Option Shares on the same terms and conditions as the Firm Shares as provided in this Prospectus. 
In connection therewith and the stabilization activities set out below, the Company and the Selling Shareholders have 
entered into a Greenshoe Agreement dated [y] with FirstMetroSec as the Stabilizing Agent. In a letter dated [y], the SEC 
allowed FirstMetroSec to act as Stabilizing Agent in relation to the Offer and set out the guidelines for the stabilization 
activities.  
 
Pursuant to the Greenshoe Agreement, the Stabilizing Agent may effect prize stabilization activities with a view to 
supporting the market price of the Common Shares at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail for a period 
of 30 days after the Listing Date; provided, however, that there is no obligation on the part of the Stabilizing Agent to do 
so and such stabilizing activities, if commenced, may be discontinued by the Stabilizing Agent prior to the end of the 30-
day period, upon mutual agreement with the Company, on behalf of and after consulting the Selling Shareholders. 
 
Initial stabilizing action shall be below the initial Offer Price. The price for the subsequent stabilization activities shall be 
as follows:  

i. after the initial stabilization action, and if there has not been an independent trade in the market at a higher 
price than the initial stabilization trade, the subsequent trade shall be below the initial stabilizing price; and  

ii. after the initial stabilizing action, and if there has been an independent trade in the market at a higher price than 
the initial stabilization trade, the subsequent trade shall be at the lower of the stabilizing action price or the 
independent trade price.  
 

For this purpose, independent trade shall mean any trade made by any person other than the Stabilizing Agent.  
 
Such activities may stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the market price of the Common Shares, which may have the 
effect of preventing a decline in the market price of the Common Shares and may also cause the price of the Common 
Shares to be higher than the price that otherwise would exist in the open market in the absence of these transactions.  
 
Once the Over-Allotment Option has been exercised and payment has been made to the Selling Shareholders for the 
shares sold by the Stabilizing Agent, it will no longer be allowed to purchase Common Shares in the open market for the 
conduct of stabilization activities. Any decision to terminate the stabilization activities (and accordingly return shares 
and/or cash to the Selling Shareholders) before the end of the 30-day stabilization period shall be subject to the mutual 
agreement among the Stabilizing Agent, the Underwriter, and the Company on behalf of the Selling Shareholders. 
 
Any gain that may be realized by the Stabilizing Agent from its conduct of the stabilization activities, net of all transaction 
costs incurred, shall be shared by the Underwriter pursuant to their agreement. The Over-allotment Option, to the extent 
not fully exercised by the Stabilizing Agent, shall be deemed cancelled and the relevant Option Shares shall be re-
delivered to the Selling Shareholders. 
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LOCK-UP 
 
The PSE rules require that the Company shall cause its existing non-public stockholders and their related parties to refrain 
from selling, assigning, encumbering or in any manner disposing of their shares for a period of one (1) year after the 
listing of the subject shares. All other stockholders shall not be subject to mandatory lock-up under this provision. 

 
For this purpose, the term “non-public stockholders” shall mean the corporation’s:  

(i) principal stockholders (i.e., the owner of ten percent (10%) or more of the issued and outstanding shares);  
(ii) subsidiaries or affiliates;  
(iii) directors;  
(iv) principal officers; and  
(v) any other person who has substantial influence on how the corporation is being managed.  

 
The term “related parties” shall mean the non-public stockholder’s:  

(i) principal stockholders (i.e., the owner of ten percent (10%) or more of the issued and outstanding shares);  
(ii) subsidiaries or affiliates;  
(iii) directors;  
(iv) principal officers; and  
(v) members of the immediate families sharing the same household of any of its principal stockholders, directors, 
or principal officers.  

 
In addition, if there is any issuance or transfer of shares (i.e., private placement, asset for shares swap or a similar 
transaction) or of instruments which leads to an issuance of shares (i.e., convertible bonds, warrants or a similar 
instrument) done and fully paid for within six (6) months prior to the start of offer period for the Subject Shares, and the 
transaction price is lower than that of the offer price in the initial public offering, all shares subscribed or acquired shall 
be subject to a lock-up period of at least one (1) year from listing of the Subject Shares. 
 
In accordance with the foregoing, the Common Shares held by the following shareholders will be subject a lock-up period 
of one (1) year after the listing of the subject shares.  
 

Shareholder 

Before the Offer 

No. of Shares 
Held after the 

Firm Offer 

% of 
Total 

Outstan-
ding 

Shares 
after the 

Firm 
Offer  

No. of Shares 
Assuming 

Full Exercise 
of the Over-
Allotment 

Option 

% of Total 
Outstandin

g Shares 
after the 

Firm Offer 
and 

Assuming 
Full 

Exercise of 
the Over-
Allotment 

Option 

No. of Shares 
Held 

% of Total 
Outstan-

ding 
Shares 

Fruitas Holdings, Inc. 1,169,988,000 100.00% 1,119,988,000 74.92% 1,082,488,000 72.41% 
Lester C. Yu 4,000 0.00% 4,000 0.00% 4,000 0.00% 
Roselyn A. Legaspi 2,000 0.00% 2,000 0.00% 2,000 0.00% 
Marvin C. Yu 2,000 0.00% 2,000 0.00% 2,000 0.00% 
Madelene T. Sayson 2,000 0.00% 2,000 0.00% 2,000 0.00% 
Calvin F. Chua 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 
Rogelio M. 
Guadalquiver 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 

Lee Ceasar S. Junia  1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 
David Jonathan Y. 
Bayot   1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 

Bernardino M. Ramos  1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 1,000 0.00% 
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To implement this lock-up requirement, the PSE requires, among others, to lodge the shares with the PDTC through a 
participant of the PDTC system for the electronic lock-up of the shares or to enter into an escrow agreement with the 
trust department or custodian unit of an independent and reputable financial institution. 
 
The Company, the Selling Shareholders and the shareholders listed above, being subject to the lock-up requirement, will 
enter into an escrow agreement with PNB Trust Banking Group as the escrow agent thereunder.  
 
  



  

126 
 
 

LEGAL MATTERS 
 

Certain legal matters as to Philippine law relating to the Offer will be passed upon by Picazo Buyco Tan Fider & Santos, 
our legal counsel, and, Martinez Vergara Gonzalez & Serrano, legal counsel to the Issue Manager, Bookrunner, and 
Underwriter.  
 
Each of the foregoing legal counsel has neither our shareholdings nor any right, whether legally enforceable or not, to 
nominate persons or to subscribe for our securities. None of the legal counsel will receive any direct or our indirect 
interest in any securities thereof (including options, warrants or rights thereto) pursuant to or in connection with the 
Offer. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 

 
The Company’s fiscal year begins on January 1 and ends on December 31. Reyes Tacandong & Co. (“RT&Co.”) has audited 
the Company’s financial statements at for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 in accordance with the 
Philippine Standards on Auditing. 
 
Wilson P. Teo is the current audit partner and has served the Company from 2015 to 2020. The Company has not had any 
material disagreements on accounting and financial disclosures with its current external auditor for the same periods or 
any subsequent interim period. RT&Co. has neither shareholdings in the Company nor any right, whether legally 
enforceable or not, to nominate persons or to subscribe for the securities of the Company. RT&Co. will not receive any 
direct or indirect interest in the Company or the Company’s securities (including options, warrants or rights thereto) 
pursuant to or in connection with the Offer. The foregoing is in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants in the Philippines set by the Board of Accountancy and approved by the Professional Regulation Commission. 
 
The following table sets out the aggregate fees billed for the current year and each of the last three years for professional 
services rendered by RT&Co. to the Company, excluding fees directly related to the Offer. 
 

In ₱ Millions 2020 2019 2018 
Audit and Audit-Related Feesa ₱0.4  ₱0.6 ₱0.3  
All Other Feesb N/A N/A N/A 
Total ₱0.4  ₱0.6  ₱0.3  

 
a. Audit and Audit-Related Fees. This category includes the audit of annual financial statements and interim 

financial statements and services that are normally provided by the independent auditor in connection with 
statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for those calendar years. This is exclusive of out-of-pocket 
expenses incidental to the independent auditors’ work, the amounts of which do not exceed 10% of the agreed-
upon engagement fees. 

b. All Other Fees. This category includes other services rendered by RT&Co. such as internal audit, or special audit 
if any. 

 
In relation to the audit of the annual financial statements, the Corporate Governance Manual, which was approved by 
the Board of Directors on [•], provides that the audit committee shall, among other activities, (i) evaluate significant 
issues reported by the external auditors in relation to the adequacy, efficiency and effectiveness of policies, controls, 
processes and activities of the Company, (ii) ensure that other non-audit work provided by the external auditors are not 
in conflict with their functions as external auditors, and (iii) ensure the compliance of the Company with acceptable 
auditing and accounting standards and regulations. 
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Annex A 
List of Material Permits and Licenses  

 

Issuing Agency Permits/Clearances Date of 
Issuance Status/Remarks 

City Government of 
Quezon City 

Buko Ni Fruitas Inc. 
Business Permit No. 05-007023 16-Sep-21 Valid until Sept 16, 2022 

Office of the Barangay Buko Ni Fruitas Inc. 
Barangay Clearance No. 05-007023 12-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Bureau of Internal 
Revenue (“BIR”) 

Buko ni Fruitas, Inc. Quezon City Office 
Certificate of Registration No. 
OCN3RC0000939217 

30-May-05 Valid 

Local Government BNF - AYALA MALLS CLOVERLEAF 
Business Permit No. 17-011465 09-Mar-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF- AYALA MALLS FELIZ 
Business Permit No. 019751 20-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - CASH & CARRY MALL (Foodcourt) 
Business Permit No. 26127 30-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - LANDMARK TRINOMA (FOODCENTER) 
Business Permit No. 18-006001 19-Feb-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - PUREGOLD MAKATI 
Business Permit No. 26126 30-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - PUREGOLD TAYUMAN 
Business Permit No. 2021022516 02-Feb-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - PUREGOLD VALENZUELA 
Business Permit No. 18-134325 19-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - ROBINSONS GALLERIA 
Business Permit No. 17-003751 26-Apr-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - ROBINSONS PLACE MANILA 
Business Permit No. 2021022524 02-Feb-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM VALENZUELA (FC) 
Business Permit No. 06-102170 19-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM BACOLOD (FC) 
Business Permit No. 202182987 16-Mar-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM CABANATUAN 
Business Permit No. 21-01241 05-Feb-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM DASMARINAS (FC) 
Business Permit No. 2021-04130 14-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM FAIRVIEW (FC) 
Business Permit No. 06-010881 19-Feb-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM FAIRVIEW (FC) 
Business Permit No. 19-002083 10-Feb-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM CITY ILOILO 
Business Permit No. A-2021-0334 09-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM LEGASPI 
Business Permit No. BP-2021-05077-0 30-Mar-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 



 
 

 
 
 

Local Government BNF - SM MANILA 
Business Permit No. 2021022519 02-Feb-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM MARIKINA 
Business Permit No. 2021-01636 05-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM MASINAG 
Business Permit No. 2021-004135 22-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM NAGA 
Business Permit No. BP-2021-04114-0 20-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM NORTH EDSA (FC) 
Business Permit No. 18-004776 19-Feb-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM PAMPANGA (FC) 
Business Permit No. 3696 19-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM ROSALES  
Business Permit No. 1574 19-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM STA MESA 
Business Permit No. 07-004087 19-Feb-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM STA ROSA 
Business Permit No. 3088-21 08-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM TARLAC 
Business Permit No. 1093 18-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM TAYTAY 
Business Permit No. 2021-0003016 21-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM TELABASTAGAN  
Business Permit No. 14150 19-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM MEGAMALL (A) 
Business Permit No. 21-07254 12-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM MOA BY THE BAY 
Business Permit No. 05502 27-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - TRINOMA (FOODCHOICES) 
Business Permit No. 12-013348 19-Feb-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - VICTORY CENTRAL MALL  
Business Permit No. 18-M0515-01427 26-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government 
BNF - K-3RD COR. L. SHANGIO ST. KAMUNING 
QUEZON CITY 
Business Permit No. 21-906239 

28-Sep-21 Valid until Sept 30, 2022 

Local Government BNF - FRUITAS BUILDING 
Business Permit No. 2021-049475 08-Sep-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - 8137 PLAZA 4 JM ESCRIVA DRIVE, PASIG 
Business Permit No. RET-21-033181 24-Sep-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government 
BNF - 742 BANAWE ST. COR. SCT. ALCARAZ ST. 
QUEZON CITY 
Business Permit No. 21-905356 

03-Sep-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - 147 N. DOMINGO ST. QUEZON CITY 
Business Permit No. 21-905627 09-Sep-21 Valid until Sept 9, 2022 

Local Government 
BNF -2439 F BURKE HOUSE NO. 5 BLDG 
PEDRO GIL ST. STA. ANA MANILA CITY 
Business Permit No. 2021-049414 

06-Sep-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 



 
 

 
 
 

Local Government 
BNF - 858-882 REINA REGENTE ST. BINONDO 
MANILA CITY  
Business Permit No. 2021049393 

06-Sep-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government 
BNF - 27 HOLY SPIRIT DRIVE COR. DON 
GUILLERMO ST. QUEZON CITY 
Business Permit No. 21-905861 

15-Sep-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - 353 G. ARANETA AVENUE, QUEZON CITY 
Business Permit No. 21-905978 28-Sep-21 Valid until Sept 28, 2022 

Local Government 
BNF - 61 ANONAS QUIRINOA 2A PROJECT 2, 
QUEZON CITY 
Business Permit No. 21-905502 

03-Sep-21 Valid until Sept 3, 2022 

Local Government 
BNF - 22 TANDANG SORA AVENUE, QUEZON 
CITY 
Business Permit No. 21-904018 

26-Jul-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - 1407 QUEZON AVENUE, QUEZON CITY 
Business Permit No. 21-905501 03-Sep-21 Valid until Sept 3, 2022 

Local Government BNF - SM SUPERMARKET PODIUM 
Business Permit No. 21-07337 09-Mar-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM SUPERMARKET NOVALICHES 
Business Permit No. 19-004250 28-Mar-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM SUPERMARKET MEGAMALL B 
Business Permit No. 21-07239 09-Mar-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM SUPERMARKET CUBAO 
Business Permit No. 06-007767 09-Mar-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM OLONGAPO CENTRAL 
Business Permit No. 2019-0001186 28-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM SUPERMARKET CALAMBA 
Business Permit No. 2021-02470 23-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - SM CITY CALAMBA 
Business Permit No. 2021-02471 23-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - PUREGOLD SAN MATEO 
Business Permit No. 2021-02550 20-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - PUREGOLD KALENTONG 
Business Permit No. 2021022518 02-Feb-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - MARKET! MARKET! 
Business Permit No. 20-030826 21-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government 
BNF - GREENHILLS LIFESTYLE SHOPPING 
CENTER 
Business Permit No. FMZ-2021-6787 

30-Jun-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - GLORIETTA 3 
Business Permit No. 26125 30-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Local Government BNF - FESTIVALL SUPERMALL ALABANG 
Business Permit No. 2021-0003299 19-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Bureau of Internal 
Revenue (“BIR”) 

BNF - Ayala Cloverleaf Caloocan (FOOD 
CHOICES) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000820380 

05-Oct-17 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - AYALA MALL FELIZ (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration 
No.3RC0000826796 

01-Dec-17 Valid 



 
 

 
 
 

BIR 
BNF - CASH & CARRY 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
9RC0000227627 

26-Mar-08 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - LANDMARK TRINOMA 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000866952 

17-May-18 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - PUREGOLD MAKATI 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
9RC0000471695 

25-Oct-17 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - PUREGOLD TAYUMAN 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
1RC0001019540 

22-Dec-17 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - PUREGOLD VALENZUELA 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
4RC0001170915 

02-May-18 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - ROBINSONS GALLERIA 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000787257 

22-Mar-17 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - ROBINSONS PLACE MANILA 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
1RC0000213193 

30-Sep-05 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM VALENZUELA (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
4RC001071136 

11-May-06 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM BACOLOD (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
2RC0001104569 

29-Nov-16 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM CABANATUAN 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
4RC0000900384 

28-Sep-15 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM DASMARINAS 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
1RC0001227340 

18-Apr-19 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM FAIRVIEW (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000346912 

26-Oct-06 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM CITY FAIRVIEW 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000916070 

14-Feb-19 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM ILOILO (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
2RC0000590692 

29-Feb-08 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM CITY LEGAZPI 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. BP-
1RC0001160890 

25-Sep-18 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM MANILA (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
1RC0000613812 

18-Jun-12 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM MARIKINA (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000547395 

19-Mar-12 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM MASINAG 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000561772 

03-Apr-08 Valid 



 
 

 
 
 

BIR 
BNF - SM NAGA (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
1RC0000637563 

13-Jun-13 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM NORTH (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000868240 

31-Aug-06 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM PAMPANGA (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
4RC0000290629 

16-Jun-06 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM ROSALES 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
4RC0000753157 

05-Jun-12 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM STA MESA (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000512375 

25-Apr-07 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM STA ROSA (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
1RC0000896992 

05-Feb-06 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM TARLAC (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
04RC0000738828 

15-Aug-13 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM TAYTAY (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000382845 

25-Oct-07 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM TELABASTAGAN (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
4RC0001172334 

08-May-18 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM MEGAMALL (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000346034 

12-Oct-06 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM MOA (BTB) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
9RC0000360331 

19-Mar-13 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - TRINOMA (FC) 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000575497 

03-Dec-12 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - VICTORY CENTRAL MALL 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
4RC0001181277 

18-May-18 Valid 

BIR 

BNF - K-3RD COR. L. SHANGIO ST. KAMUNING 
QUEZON CITY 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
039RC20210000001064 

23-Sep-21 Valid 

BIR 

BNF - GF 177 SUMULONG HI-WAY, COR. B. 
SOLIVEN AVE. ANTIPOLO CITY 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
045RC20210000001881 

21-Sep-21 Valid 

BIR 

BNF - UNIT K, GF 8155 DR. A. SANTOS AVE. 
SAN DOINISIO PARANAQUE CITY 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
052RC20210000003515 

27-Jul-21 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - FRUITAS BUILDING 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
032RC20210000000561 

14-Sep-21 Valid 



 
 

 
 
 

BIR 
BNF - 8137 PLAZA 4 JM ESCRIVA DRIVE, PASIG 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0001045734 

21-Jul-21 Valid 

BIR 

BNF - 742 BANAWE ST. COR. SCT. ALCARAZ ST. 
QUEZON CITY 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
038RC20210000000252 

30-Jul-21 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - 147 N. DOMINGO ST. QUEZON CITY 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
040RC20210000000409 

01-Sep-21 Valid 

BIR 

BNF -2439 F BURKE HOUSE NO. 5 BLDG 
PEDRO GIL ST. STA. ANA MANILA CITY 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
1RC0001431942 

19-Jul-21 Valid 

BIR 

BNF - 858-882 REINA REGENTE ST. BINONDO 
MANILA CITY  
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
030RC20210000000235 

08-Sep-21 Valid 

BIR 

BNF - FELIX REYES ST. BRGY. BALIBAGO STA. 
ROSA LAGUNA  
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
057RC20210000001070 

14-Sep-21 Valid 

BIR 

BNF - HOWARD TOWER N. CARPIO ST. RIZAL 
AVE., CALOOCAN CITY 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
027RC20210000000221 

04-Aug-21 Valid 

BIR 

BNF - 27 HOLY SPIRIT DRIVE COR. DON 
GUILLERMO ST. QUEZON CITY 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
028RC0000001430 

15-Sep-21 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - 353 G. ARANETA AVENUE, QUEZON CITY 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
039rc0000000908 

15-Sep-21 Valid 

BIR 

BNF - 61 ANONAS QUIRINOA 2A PROJECT 2, 
QUEZON CITY 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
'040rc20210000000351 

24-Aug-21 Valid 

BIR 

BNF - 22 TANDANG SORA AVENUE, QUEZON 
CITY 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0001045049 

15-Jul-21 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - 1407 QUEZON AVENUE, QUEZON CITY 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
038RC20210000000826 

01-Sep-21 Valid 

BIR 

BNF - 34-A BAYANBAYANAN AVE., 
CONCEPCION UNO, MARIKINA CITY 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
045RC20210000002200 

29-Sep-21 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM SUPERMARKET PODIUM 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000966056 

18-Nov-19 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM SUPERMARKET NOVALICHES 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000924383 

25-Mar-19 Valid 



 
 

 
 
 

BIR 
BNF - SM SUPERMARKET MEGAMALL B 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC000029809 

24-Aug-05 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM SUPERMARKET CUBAO 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000420288 

12-Jul-06 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM OLONGAPO CENTRAL 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
4RC0001364325 

10-Sep-19 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM SUPERMARKET CALAMBA 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
LRC0000542247 

24-Feb-12 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - SM CITY CALAMBA 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
1RC0000447820 

16-Dec-10 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - PUREGOLD SAN MATEO 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000432794 

04-Mar-09 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - PUREGOLD KALENTONG 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
1RC0000718336 

30-May-14 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - MARKET! MARKET! 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
9RC0000551133 

30-Oct-19 Valid 

BIR 

BNF - GREENHILLS LIFESTYLE SHOPPING 
CENTER 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
3RC0000511521 

22-Aug-07 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - GLORIETTA 3 
BIR Certificate of Registration No.  
9RC0000526413 

02-Apr-19 Valid 

BIR 
BNF - FESTIVALL SUPERMALL ALABANG 
BIR Certificate of Registration No. 
9RC0000464854 

19-Jan-06 Valid 

Office of the Barangay BNF - AYALA MALLS CLOVERLEAF 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 0335 11-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - CASH & CARRY MALL (Foodcourt) 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 4306790 (OR No.) 19-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - LANDMARK TRINOMA (FOODCENTER) 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 0768337 (OR No.) 28-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - PUREGOLD MAKATI 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 2021-137 17-Mar-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - PUREGOLD VALENZUELA 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 2021-00440 04-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - ROBINSONS PLACE MANILA 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 2883 07-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay Buko Ni Fruitas Inc. 
Barangay Clearance No. 05-007023 12-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM BACOLOD (FC) 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 8429869 (OR No.) 20-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM CABANATUAN 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 0121-21611 18-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 



 
 

 
 
 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM FAIRVIEW (FC) 
Brgy. Clearance No.: BGL-416 29-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM FAIRVIEW (FC) 
Brgy. Clearance No.: BGL-7877 29-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM CITY ILOILO 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 7315119 (OR No.) 06-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM LEGASPI 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 4334157 (OR No.) 30-Mar-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM MARIKINA 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 8681684 (OR No.) 11-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM MASINAG 
Brgy. Clearance No.: MYM-210559 22-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM NORTH EDSA (FC) 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 0768334 (OR No.) 28-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM VALENZUELA (FC) 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 2021-01051 19-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM ROSALES  
Brgy. Clearance No.: 0342 19-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM STA MESA 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 14-01830 21-Jun-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM STA ROSA 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 2021-0685 08-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM TAYTAY 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 2021-00000003-000476 21-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM TELABASTAGAN  
Brgy. Clearance No.: 5001-2018-0212 19-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM MEGAMALL (A) 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 27-2021-4027 09-Mar-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM MOA BY THE BAY 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 2021-076-10279 27-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - TRINOMA (FOODCHOICES) 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 0768338 28-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - VICTORY CENTRAL MALL  
Brgy. Clearance No.: 11105059 (OR No.) 04-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay 
BNF - K-3RD COR. L. SHANGIO ST. KAMUNING 
QUEZON CITY 
Brgy. Clearance No.: BPT-2021-02003499 

23-Sep-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - FRUITAS BUILDING 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 586-BP2021-092 10-Mar-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - 8137 PLAZA 4 JM ESCRIVA DRIVE, PASIG 
Brgy. Clearance No.: BSA-060307 06-Sep-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay 
BNF - 742 BANAWE ST. COR. SCT. ALCARAZ ST. 
QUEZON CITY 
Brgy. Clearance No.: NSA073021-NEW 

30-Jul-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay 
BNF -2439 F BURKE HOUSE NO. 5 BLDG 
PEDRO GIL ST. STA. ANA MANILA CITY 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 2021-0001513-B 

02-Sep-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 



 
 

 
 
 

Office of the Barangay 
BNF - 858-882 REINA REGENTE ST. BINONDO 
MANILA CITY  
Brgy. Clearance No.: U998003473B 

02-Sep-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay 
BNF - FELIX REYES ST. BRGY. BALIBAGO STA. 
ROSA LAGUNA  
Brgy. Clearance No.: 2021-6317 

04-Nov-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay 
BNF - 27 HOLY SPIRIT DRIVE COR. DON 
GUILLERMO ST. QUEZON CITY 
Business Permit No. 18-006 

10-Sep-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - 353 G. ARANETA AVENUE, QUEZON CITY 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 2177 07-Oct-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay 
BNF - 61 ANONAS QUIRINOA 2A PROJECT 2, 
QUEZON CITY 
Business Permit No. 21-09-1420 

02-Sep-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay 
BNF - 22 TANDANG SORA AVENUE, QUEZON 
CITY 
Brgy. Clearance No.: BC-21-1766 

06-Jul-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay 
BNF - 22 TANDANG SORA AVENUE, QUEZON 
CITY 
Brgy. Clearance No.: BC-21-1766 

06-Jul-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay 
BNF - GF 1407 QUEZON AVE.  WEST AVE. 
QUEZON CITY 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 2683 

03-Sep-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM SUPERMARKET PODIUM 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 27-2021-4054 25-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM SUPERMARKET NOVALICHES 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 0933745 29-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM PAMPANGA (FC) 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 0181-2007-0205 19-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM SUPERMARKET CUBAO 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 011509 22-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM SUPERMARKET CALAMBA 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 00044-2021-00188 23-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM CITY CALAMBA 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 00044-2021-00187 23-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - PUREGOLD SAN MATEO 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 0582669 (OR No.) 20-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - MARKET! MARKET! 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 015917 06-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay 
BNF - GREENHILLS LIFESTYLE SHOPPING 
CENTER 
Brgy. Clearance No.: SIG-2157 

04-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - GLORIETTA 3 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 10272104395 02-Mar-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

Office of the Barangay BNF - SM SUPERMARKET MEGAMALL B 
Brgy. Clearance No.: 27-2021-4025 25-Jan-21 Valid until Dec 31, 2021 

HDMF  Buko Ni Fruitas Inc. Employer Registration No. 
204472760000 30-Oct-19 Valid  

PHIC Buko Ni Fruitas Inc. Employer Registration No. 
003000008850 03-Sep-19 Valid  



 
 

 
 
 

SSS Buko Ni Fruitas Inc. Employer Registration No. 
03-9054062-3-000 20-May-19 Valid  

Securities and Exchange 
Commission ("SEC") 

Balai Ni Fruitas Inc. Certificate of Registration 
No. CS200508386 24-Nov-21 Valid  

IP Office Buko Ni Fruitas Fresh From Babot’s Farm 
Trademark Registration No. 4201000489 31-Dec-21 Valid  

IP Office Fruitas House of Desserts Trademark 
Registration No. 42013006808 22-Oct-25 Valid  

IP Office Balai Pandesal Trademark Registration No. 
4201000489 29-Oct-31 Valid  

IP Office Balai Pandesal Home of Hot Pandesalitas 
Trademark Registration No. 4201000489 17-Sep-31 Valid  

Note: The Company is currently processing the necessary permits and licenses for a certain number of stores.  
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